
 

Dinas a Sir Abertawe 
 
Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod 
 
Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod 

 

Y Cabinet 
 

Lleoliad: 
 

Cyfarfod Aml-Leoliad  - Ystafell Gloucester, Neuadd y Ddinas / MS 
Teams 
 

Dyddiad: 
 

Dydd Iau, 21 Rhagfyr 2023 

Amser: 
 

10.00 am 

Cadeirydd: Cynghorydd Rob Stewart 
 

Aelodaeth: 
Cynghorwyr: C Anderson, A Anthony, R Francis-Davies, L S Gibbard, H J Gwilliam, 
D H Hopkins, E J King, A S Lewis, R V Smith a/ac A H Stevens 
 
Gwylio ar-lein: http://tiny.cc/C21dec 
 
Gweddarlledu: Gellir ffilmio’r cyfarfod hwn i’w ddarlledu’n fyw neu’n ddiweddarach 
drwy wefan y cyngor. Drwy gymryd rhan, rydych yn cytuno i gael eich ffilmio ac i’r 
delweddau a’r recordiadau sain hynny gael eu defnyddio at ddibenion gweddarlledu 
a/neu hyfforddiant o bosib. 
 
Mae croeso i chi siarad Cymraeg yn y cyfarfod. 
Dywedwch wrthym erbyn canol dydd, ddeuddydd cyn y cyfarfod. 
 

Agenda 
Rhif y Dudalen. 

1.   Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb.  
 
2.   Datgeliadau o fuddiannau personol a rhagfarnol.  

 www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau  
 
3.   Cofnodion. 1 - 3 

 Cymeradwyo a llofnodi, fel cofnod cywir, gofnodion y cyfarfod 
blaenorol. 

 

 
4.   Cyhoeddiadau Arweinydd y Cyngor.  
 
5.   Cwestiynau gan y cyhoedd.  

 Gellir cyflwyno cwestiynau’n ysgrifenedig i’r Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd Democratiaeth@abertawe.gov.uk hyd at ganol dydd y 
diwrnod cyn y cyfarfod. Bydd cwestiynau ysgrifenedig yn cael eu 
blaenoriaethu.Gall y cyhoedd ddod a gofyn cwestiynau’n uniongyrchol 
os bydd amser. Rhaid i gwestiynau fod yn berthnasol i’r eitemau ar ran 
agored yr agenda ac ymdrinnir â nhw o fewn cyfnod o 10 munud. 

 

http://tiny.cc/C21dec
http://www.abertawe.gov.uk/DatgeluCysylltiadau


 

 

 
6.   Hawl i holi cynghorwyr.  
 
7.   Ymchwiliad Craffu Ymddygiad Gwrthgymdeithasol. 4 - 48 
 
8.   Monitro Refeniw a'r Gyllideb Gyfalaf - Chwarter 2il 2023/24. 49 - 66 
 
9.   Adroddiad Monitro Perfformiad ar gyfer Chwarter 2 2023/24. 67 - 120 
 
10.   Penodiadau Llywodraethwyr yr Awdurdod  Lleol. 121 - 126 
 
11.   Diwygiad y Consortiwm Addysg Rhanbarthol i'r Cytundeb 

Cyfreithiol ar bleidleisio o fewn y Cyd-bwyllgor. 
127 - 139 

 
12.   Rheol 7 y Weithdrefn Ariannol - y Gronfa Trafnidiaeth Leol BAGC 

a Dyraniad Craidd Bysus Rhanbarthol 2023/24 a 2024/25. 
140 - 148 

 
 
 

 
Cyfarfod Nesaf: Dydd Gwener, 12 Ionawr 2024 ar 10.00 am 

 

 
 
Huw Evans 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   
Dydd Mawrth, 12 Rhagfyr 2023 

Cyswllt: Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Ffon: (01792) 636923 
 



 
 

 

City and County of Swansea 
 
Minutes of the Cabinet 

 
Multi-Location Meeting - Gloucester Room, Guildhall / MS 

Teams  

Thursday, 16 November 2023 at 10.00 am  

 
Present: Councillor R C Stewart (Chair) Presided 

 
Councillor(s) Councillor(s) Councillor(s) 
C Anderson A Anthony R Francis-Davies 
L S Gibbard H J Gwilliam D H Hopkins 
E J King A S Lewis R V Smith 
A H Stevens   

 
Officer(s)  
Huw Evans Head of Democratic Services 
Martin Nicholls Chief Executive 
Ben Smith Director of Finance / Section 151 Officer 
Debbie Smith Deputy Chief Legal Officer 
Lee Wenham Head of Communications & Customer Engagement 

 
Apologies for Absence 
Councillor(s): - 

 

 
65. Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 

 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of 
Swansea, the following interests were declared: 
 
1) Councillor R V Smith declared a Personal & Prejudicial Interest in Minute 70 

“Local Authority Governor Appointments” and stated that he had dispensation 
from the Standards Committee to stay, speak but not vote on matters relating 
to the Appointment of Local Authority Governors. 

 
66. Minutes. 

 
Resolved that the Minutes of the meeting(s) listed below be approved and signed as 
a correct record: 
 
1) Cabinet held on 19 October 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3.



Minutes of the Cabinet (16.11.2023) 
Cont’d 

 

67. Announcements of the Leader of the Council. 
 
a) Condolences - Huw Mowbray - Development and Physical Regeneration 

Strategic Manager 
The Leader of the Council referred with sadness to the recent death of Huw 
Mowbray. Huw was the Council’s Development & Physical Regeneration 
Strategic Manager. Huw was a great friend and colleague to many and was 
widely respected by Councillors & Officers for his professionalism and 
dedication. 

 
For many years, Huw helped shape the regeneration of the City Centre and 
had been held in the highest esteem by our Partners and Developers. Huw’s 
impact on the City can be seen today in the many developments that have 
helped transform the City Centre. 

 
Our thoughts and condolences are with Huw’s family, friends, and colleagues. 

 
68. Public Question Time. 

 
No questions were asked. 
 

69. Councillors' Question Time. 
 
No questions were asked. 
 

70. Local Authority Governor Appointments. 
 
The Local Authority Governors Appointment Group submitted a report, which sought 
approval of the nominations submitted to fill Local Authority (LA) Governor vacancies 
on School Governing Bodies. 
 
Resolved that: 
 
1) The following nominations recommended by the Director of Education in 

conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Education & Learning be approved: 
 

Birchgrove Primary School Jade Evans 

Clydach Primary School Rachel Brimble 

Craigfelen Primary School Andrew Penalula 

Gorseinon Primary School Cllr Adam Davies 

Hendrefoilan Primary School Cllr Mary H Jones 

Newton Primary School Dr Julia Platts 

YGG Login Fach Dr Robert Hobbs 

Bishopston Comprehensive 

School 

Emily Davies 

John Olukoya Babalola 

 
 
 

Page 2



Minutes of the Cabinet (16.11.2023) 
Cont’d 

 

71. Capital Programme Authorisation for the Commitment of Capital Grant 
Funding Awarded to Support Learners with Additional Learning Needs. 
 
The Cabinet Members for Education & Learning submitted a report that sought to 
comply with Financial Procedure Rule 7 “Capital Programming and Appraisals” to 
commit and authorise schemes in the Capital programme. 
 
Resolved that: 
1) The capital scheme in the sum of £1,458,714 to support learners with 

additional learning needs be approved and included in the capital programme 
for 2023/2024. 

 
72. Exclusion of the Public. 

 
Cabinet were requested to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration 
of the item(s) of business identified in the recommendations to the report(s) on the 
grounds that it / they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as set out in 
the exclusion paragraph of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) 
Order 2007 relevant to the items of business set out in the report(s). 
Cabinet considered the Public Interest Test in deciding whether to exclude the public 
from the meeting for the item of business where the Public Interest Test was relevant 
as set out in the report. 
 
Resolved that the public be excluded for the following item(s) of business. 
 

(Closed Session) 
 

73. Councillors' Question Time. 
 
No questions were asked. 
 

74. Increasing Supported Accommodation to Help Tackle Homelessness. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Service Transformation submitted a report that sought to 
increase Supported Accommodation to Help Tackle Homelessness. 
 
Resolved that the recommendations outlined in the report be amended and 
approved. 
 
The meeting ended at 10.20 am 
 

Chair 
 

Call In Procedure – Relevant Dates 

Minutes Published: 16 November 2023 

Call In Period Expires (3 Clear Working 
Days after Publication): 

23.59 on 21 November 2023 

Decision Comes into force: 22 November 2023 

 

Page 3



 

 
 

Report of the Anti-Social Behaviour Scrutiny Inquiry Panel  
 

Cabinet – 21 December 2023 
 

Scrutiny Inquiry into Anti-Social Behaviour 
 

Purpose: This report presents the findings, conclusions and 
recommendations resulting from the Scrutiny Panel’s 
Inquiry into Anti-Social Behaviour. Cabinet must consider 
the recommendations made by the Anti-Social Behaviour 
Scrutiny Inquiry Panel and agree action. 
 

Policy Framework: Council Constitution. 
 

Consultation: Legal, Finance, Access to Services 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that: 

1) Cabinet receives the report and tasks the relevant Cabinet Member to report back 
to a Cabinet meeting with a written response to the scrutiny recommendations 
and proposed action(s) for Cabinet decision.   
 

Report Authors: Cllr Terry Hennegan, Convener Anti-Social Behaviour 
Scrutiny Inquiry Panel 
Michelle Roberts 
 

Finance Officer: Amanda Thomas 

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 

Access to Services 
Officer: 

Catherine Window 

 
1.0  Introduction 
 
1.1 This report presents the findings, conclusions and recommendations resulting 

from the Scrutiny Inquiry into Anti-Social Behaviour.  The Scrutiny Panel’s 
final report, appended, requires a Cabinet decision. 

 
1.2 In accordance with the Council Constitution reports from Scrutiny to the 

Executive are presented to a Cabinet meeting. The convener of the Panel Cllr 
Terry Hennegan will attend to present the report and accompanying 
recommendations.  

  
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 7.



 
 
2.0 Scrutiny Programme Committee 
 
2.1 Within the Scrutiny Work Programme, the Scrutiny Programme Committee 

established an Inquiry Panel to look into Anti-Social Behaviour, and appointed 
Councillors to the Panel to plan and carry out this work, gather evidence, 
consider findings, and prepare a report for Cabinet. On 14 November 2023 
the Scrutiny Programme Committee discussed and agreed the report for 
submission to Cabinet.  

 
3.0 Cabinet Decision 
 
3.1 At this meeting the role of the Cabinet is to receive the report and task the 

relevant Cabinet Member to prepare a written response on behalf of Cabinet. 
The Cabinet Member’s response report should ordinarily be scheduled for a 
future Cabinet meeting no later than two months following formal receipt of 
the scrutiny report.  

 
3.2 In their response report the Cabinet Member should recommend approval or 

rejection of each of the scrutiny recommendations together with an 
explanation. Within their report the Cabinet Member should also provide a 
proposed action plan to show what steps are being or will be taken to 
implement recommendations. Cabinet will then make a decision on the 
Cabinet Member’s response report.  

 
4.0 Follow Up 
 
4.1 The Inquiry Panel will schedule a follow up on progress with the 

implementation of the action plan agreed by Cabinet and impact of the 
scrutiny inquiry and report their views to the Scrutiny Programme Committee.  
The Panel convener and the Scrutiny Officer will ensure that a review of 
progress against accepted recommendations is scheduled into future work 
programmes. Usually, a progress report will be requested by the Panel within 
9-12 months after the action plan has been agreed by Cabinet.  

 
5.0 Integrated Assessment Implications  
 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the 

socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their 
functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage. 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

Page 5



 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
5.1.1  The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public 

bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable 
development means the process of improving the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at achieving 
the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
5.1.2  Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due 

regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, 
such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United 
Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
5.2  There are no impact assessment implications associated with this report. 

Equality and engagement issues were formally considered at the scoping 
stage of this inquiry and borne in mind by the Panel throughout evidence 
gathering. The Cabinet Member will need to ensure that implications are 
considered via application of the corporate Integrated Impact Assessment 
process when considering the response to the recommendations.   

 
6.0 Legal Implications 
 
6.1 There are no specific legal implications at this stage.  
 
7.0 Financial Implications 
 
7.1 There are no financial implications to this report.  Any potential implications 

will be outlined in the Cabinet response. 
 
 
 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  Appendix A – Anti-Social Behaviour Final Inquiry Report. 
 

Page 6



Anti -Social  Behaviour  Scrutiny Inquiry

How can the Council ensure that it is working with its 
partners to appropriately and effectively tackle Anti-Social 
Behaviour in Swansea? 

The Anti-Social Behaviour Scrutiny Inquiry Panel  

City and County of Swansea - Dinas a Sir Abertawe 

October 2023 

Appendix A

Page 7



Why This Matters by Councillor Terry Hennegan (Convener) 

Foreword 

We would like to thank all those people that took time to attend our Inquiry Panel 
meetings and give evidence and hope that this report reflects some of the key views 
raised.   

We were impressed with the commitment of all the organisations and individuals that 
took part in the inquiry.  We were particularly pleased to meet with a group of young 
people who told us what it was like from their perspective and how it affected them. 

We heard about the many challenges that face the Council and its partners in 
tackling Anti-Social Behaviour, how the issue is multi layered and required input and 
commitment across a wide selection of organisations not just our statutory partners.  

One of the key recommendations from our inquiry was to conduct a mapping 
exercise of Council Services but also of all those organisations that have a stake in 
improving ASB.  We felt that this would help the Council, its partners and wider 
stakeholders including the public to see the bigger picture, therefore helping to 
address any cross departmental or organisation challenges. 

We hope that this inquiry has helped to highlight the complexity and importance of 
the issues associated with Anti-Social Behaviour to a wider audience. 

Our report contains a number of recommendations for Cabinet and the wider Safer 
Swansea Partnership that we believe will help tackle and prevent Anti-Social 
Behaviour in Swansea. 

Page 8



 
 

 
 

Summary of Conclusions and Recommendations  

Anti-Social Behaviour Scrutiny Inquiry 

Inquiry Key Question: How can the Council ensure that it is working with its partners 
to appropriately and effectively tackle Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) in Swansea?   
 
Conclusions 
 
1. Effective strategies, policies and procedures in tackling anti-social behaviour 

(ASB) are in place and the Council is meeting its regulatory obligations in the 
area. 

2. The support for tackling and preventing ASB must be adequately resourced 
in the Council, as well as more widely across the Safer Swansea 
Partnership. 

3. The Council and its partners are working together effectively to tackle and 
reduce anti-social behaviour in Swansea but the overall picture of services 
and support is confusing. 

4. Better information about ASB needs to be easily available and accessible. The 
Council and its partners must communicate with and feedback to the public 
and/or victims. 

5. The Council along with its partner organisations are working hard to address 
the underlying causes of anti-social behaviour. 

6. The Council, its partners, communities and other stakeholders will need to 
work together to overcome wider challenges and barriers to improvement. 

 
Recommendations 

Cabinet is asked to consider those recommendations that they are directly 
responsible for, but also make representation on behalf of the Council, where 
agreeable, in support of any recommendation that would require action from others, 
such as the Safer Swansea Partnership. 

The Panel recommends that Cabinet: 

R1. Investigates options for appointing an independent chair for ASB Case 
Reviews and then put the most appropriate option put in place. This should be 
done as a matter of urgency. 

R2. Continues to build upon and embed the five key ASB Home Office principles 
into the work of the Council. 

R3. Looks at devolving the Community Protection Warning / Community 
Protection Notice powers to Housing Associations, with consideration being 
given to their use by other partners. 

Page 9



 
 

 
 

R4. Carries out a Council wide mapping exercise to establish and provide clarity in 
relation to ASB.  It should include, but not be restricted to the governance, 
roles, resources, regulatory powers and other tools used (or available), use of 
the referral process and equity of services provided to the public. 

R5. Looks into providing resources to do more targeted work with primary school 
aged children that includes ASB preventative matters. 

R6. Widens the current membership of the Public Services Board and Safer 
Swansea Partnership to include local Housing Associations. 

R7. Investigates the potential of developing a partnership hub/office where 
services to ASB across organisations can be co-located. 

R8. Works with key partner organisations to improve the understanding of each 
other’s roles in order to help provide clarity and consistency of approach to 
ASB for the service user and the public.  This should include a map of the 
services and powers available across the partnership.  

R9. Develops a Multi-Agency Strategic Forum where solutions to cross cutting 
themes and ways or working can be discussed. 

R10. Ensures that good feedback mechanisms for the public are in place across 
the Council and that we use that feedback to improve the services we provide. 

R11. Considers and reviews accessibility to information about ASB in order to 
ensure ease of access.  

• Ensure key information is available in different languages, formats and in 
physical form.   

• That we look to have information available in different locations in the 
Council across the partner public locations. 

• Build on how we target information to suit those we are looking to reach 
i.e., young people. 

• Review the Councils website content in relation to ASB with a view to 
expanding what is available. 

 
R12. Maximises the opportunities to raise awareness of ASB, in particular: 

• Publicise good news stories about work that is done by the Council.  

• Communicate and raise awareness of young people’s positive activities in 
the community. 

• Look to influence and change the negative narrative and language used 
about young people in the media. 

• Provide information and raise awareness of the ASB Case Review. 

• Link up with the new Council’s Community engagement office located at 
waterfront Museum. 

 
R13. Looks to further build upon the intergenerational work with young people and 

the older generation, do this in conjunction with the voluntary sector where 
appropriate. 

 

Page 10



 
 

 
 

R14. Asks the Safer Swansea Partnership to investigate how to improve levels of 
reporting of incidents of ASB including asking South Wales Police to consider 
its response times in relation to the 101 non-emergency telephone line and to 
simplify the online reporting form. 

 
R15. Investigates the possibility of developing a multi-agency mediation resource. 
 
R16. Looks to counteract negative ‘online world’ impacts on children and young 

people by  
a) continuing to build on and share the expertise and information available. 
b) resource the Contextual Missing Exploited Trafficked Team training that 

will support schools with understanding and preventing extra familial harm.  
c) consider extending this training to Gower College and to others who 

regularly work with young people.  
 

R17. Looks to increase the number of Youth Workers in Swansea with the aim of 
every community across the City and County of Swansea having dedicated 
Youth Worker Support. 

 
R18. Work with Community Centres to encourage more use of facilities for/by 

young people and vulnerable groups. 
 
R19. Looks into the potential of Housing Associations contributing to some of our 

environmental services like noise abatement and fly tipping in order to 
increase their levels of service provision. 

R20. Cabinet ensures more regular deep cleans of the City Centre particularly in 
and around the Quadrant Bus Station. 

R21. Cabinet work with local businesses and the Business Improvement District 
(BID) with the aim of tidying up shop fronts and rubbish storage across the 
City Centre. 

R22. Cabinet carryout regular ‘walk throughs’ of the city centre and communities 
across Swansea to see the locations through the ‘eyes of the public’ and to 
identify issues of concern.  This should be done in conjunction with 
appropriate officers and local ward members. 

R23. Develops and builds upon appropriate data collection processes in order to 
help plan future service provision and monitor effectiveness of strategies 
used. This monitoring process should be closely linked to the ASB Home 
Office 5 key principles (once they are formalised). 

 
R24. Make representations to Police and Crime Commissioner’s Officer asking 

them to consider grant funding on a medium-term basis (i.e., 3 yearly). 
 

Page 11



 
 

1 
 

WHY WE PRODUCED THIS REPORT 

Overview 

1.1.1 In selecting this topic and producing this report we wanted to see how the 
Council is meeting its duties under legal frameworks and to ensure it is 
collaborating with its partners to appropriately and effectively tackle Anti-
Social Behaviour in Swansea. 

Selecting the topic 

1.1.2 The Inquiry into Anti-Social Behaviour was proposed by the Annual 
Scrutiny Work Planning Conference in 2022.  Following agreement of a 
Scrutiny Work Programme, the Council’s Scrutiny Programme Committee 
established the Inquiry Panel, and appointed Councillors to the Panel to 
plan and conduct this work, gather evidence, consider findings, and 
prepare a report for Cabinet. A strategic overview of the matter was 
discussed in October 2022 and the Inquiry commenced on the 17 January 
2023. 

1.1.3 This topic was chosen because Scrutiny Councillors felt this was a wide-
reaching subject that would benefit from Councillor’s review and input. 

Intended contribution 

1.1.4 As a Panel, we believe that we can make a valuable contribution to the 
Council’s role in appropriately and effectively tackling Anti-Social 
Behaviour.  We recognise that the challenges in this area can often be 
complex.  We also believe that, whilst no one has all of the answers, 
success will only come from a conversation that everyone is able to 
contribute to.  It is in this spirit that our conclusions and recommendations 
are offered. 

1.1.5 Specifically, this report aims to contribute to this vital debate by: 

a. Providing a Councillor perspective on the issue 
b. Providing evidenced proposals that will lead to more effective services 
c. Gaining the views of the public and stakeholders 
d. Considering and concluding on recommendations from national 

reports, legislation /directives, and their implications for Swansea  
e. Identification of good practice/research elsewhere and whether there is 

any learning for Swansea's approach 
f. Increased Councillor understanding about Anti-Social Behaviour 
g. Greater public awareness of work in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour. 
 

1.1.6 We are also happy to recognise the limitations of the inquiry.  Given the 
complexity of the topic and the time that we had this report provides a 
broad view of issues and is not exhaustive.   

1.1.7 Finally, many of our conclusions are in line with the Council’s current 
direction of travel and these are offered to provide reassurance.  Others 
may be either additional or contrary to what has already been agreed.  
These are intended to offer challenge and to stimulate debate.  Where we 

Page 12



 
 

2 
 

have made recommendations, these are intended to help improve the 
performance of the Council in this area.    

Equalities 

1.1.8 When planning this inquiry, we considered the public and stakeholders, 
how they might be affected and how we might engage them.  We 
completed the Council’s Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) Screening 
form which formed part of the evidence pack for the inquiry. 

Glossary of Terms  

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour 

CMET Contextual Missing Exploited Trafficked 

CPN Community Protection Notice 

CPW Community Protection Warning 

CYP Children and Young People 

HA Housing Association 

LA  Local Authority 

LAC Local Area Co-ordinator 

PCCO South Wales Police and Crime Commissioners Office 

PCSO South Wales Police Community Support Officer 

WG Welsh Government 

YJS Youth Justice Team 

PSPO Public Space Protection Orders  

 

EVIDENCE  

Evidence Collected 

1.1.9 Evidence was collected between 17 January 2023 and 23 May 2023. The 
following evidence gathering activities were undertaken by the Panel: 

a. Strategic Overview by Cabinet Member and Lead Council Officer/s 
b. Community Inclusion, Community Safety information and role of the 

Anti-Social Behaviour Officer 
c. South Wales Police and Community Policing  
d. Cabinet Member/s and Director of Education 
e. Cabinet Member/s and Lead Officers Youth Offending, CMET and 

EVOLVE 
f. Cabinet Member and Lead Officer in Council Housing and 

Neighbourhood Support Unit 
g. Lead Officers for Public Protection/fly tipping 
h. Roundtable meeting with Registered Social Landlords/Housing 

Associations 
i. Roundtable meeting with representatives for Equality Groups and 

Forums 
j. Roundtable meeting with representatives from the Business 

Community and Swansea Council for Voluntary Service 

Page 13



 
 

3 
 

k. Session with Young People at Brynhyfryd Early Help Hub 
l. Public questions, Blog and Call for Evidence 
m. Performance and comparison data, customer satisfaction survey 

results 
n. Relevant legislation, policy, practice and other useful relevant 

information 
 

1.1.10 For full details of how the evidence was gathered including details of all of 
the findings please see the findings report for this inquiry.  This report can 
be downloaded here (pdf). 

CONCLUSIONS 

2.1 Effective strategies, policies and procedures in tackling anti-social 
behaviour (ASB) are in place and the Council is meeting its regulatory 
obligations in the area. 

 
2.1.1 There are many influences on how we deal with ASB as a Council and in 

partnership with others and this includes legislation and guidance. The Panel 
heard that the Home Office is responsible for making and implementing 
policies to tackle ASB across England and Wales. It convenes the ‘National 
Anti-social Behaviour Strategic Board’ which “keeps under review” the 
legislative framework for tackling ASB. It is also responsible for issuing 
statutory guidance on powers available to public bodies to tackle ASB. 

2.1.2 With regard to devolution in Wales, ASB powers are a reserved issue for the 
UK Government. This means the UK Government, not the Welsh 
Government, is responsible for legislating for powers to tackle ASB. However, 
since the causes of ASB relate to many aspects of public policy which are 
devolved in Wales, in practice the Welsh Government has developed its own 
policies to prevent and reduce ASB. 

2.1.3 The Panel understood tackling and preventing ASB is something that cannot 
be done by the Council alone and that we rely heavily on other organisations 
in order to play our part in this regulatory landscape. It heard that Swansea 
Council has the legislative powers to deal with ASB as outlined in the Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. The Panel were pleased that 
this includes a broad partnership approach to tackling ASB.  They heard that 
in Swansea this is done in a co-ordinated way through the Safer Swansea 
Partnership, its partnership sub groups, structures and/or problem-solving 
task and finish groups. The Safer Swansea Partnership reports and is 
accountable to the local Swansea Public Service Board.  

 
2.1.4 The Panel were informed that the Public Service Boards (PSBs) in Wales 

(and the Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015) requires local authorities, 
local health boards, fire and rescue authorities and Natural Resources Wales 
to work together on local PSBs. The Boards are required to invite the local 
Chief Constable, South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner, probation 
service and voluntary organisations to participate in their activities. They 
must also seek advice from “other partners” such as Higher Education 

Page 14

https://democracy.swansea.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=731&MId=11235&Ver=4&LLL=0


 
 

4 
 

providers and cultural institutions where appropriate. Under the 2015 Act 
PSBs are required to assess the state of economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of its area; set local objectives to improve local well-
being and maximise their contribution to the Welsh national ‘Well-being 
Goals’. PSBs do this by publishing ‘Well-being Plans’ for their area. 

 
2.1.5 Swansea’s Well-being Plan for 2023-2028 is called ‘working together to 

improve wellbeing in Swansea’. This plan has four vision areas. The one 
most appropriate to this inquiry is Strong communities - To build cohesive 
and resilient communities with a sense of pride and belonging. 

 
2.1.6 ASB is also Priority 1 Reducing Neighbourhood Crime and the Panel were 

told that progress with this is reported quarterly to the Safer Swansea 
Partnership and annually to the Public Service Board. 

 
2.1.7 The Panel heard that Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

defines ASB as:  
a) conduct that has caused, or is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or 

distress to any person,  
b) conduct capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to a person in relation 

to that person’s occupation of residential premises, or  
c) conduct capable of causing housing-related nuisance or annoyance to any 

person.   
 
2.1.8 The Panel were told ASB is reported via 101, through online South Wales 

Police portal or through a referral from Housing Offices or other Council 
service area. 

   
2.1.9 The Panel were interested to explore the four-stage approach to ASB 

referrals, which includes 

• Stage 1: Initial warning highlighting what would happen should behaviour 
continue.  

• Stage 2 visit: This is done by a South Wales Police officer and YJS officer 
when dealing with young persons. With adults it is a South Wales Police 
Officer and ASB Officer. Individual will sign personal warning letter and 
interventions will be discussed and agreed upon.  

• Stage 3: Acceptable Behaviour Contract. This is a Voluntary written 
agreement which includes both prohibitions and positive requirements. 
Potential further action is made clear so the person is aware of the 
consequences. Reviewed every 3 months.  

• Stage 4: Formal Sanction - Civil Injunction for anyone over ten. Includes 
prohibitions or requirements and power of arrest. 

The Panel agreed, from evidence they looked at, this process is suitable and 
fit for its purpose.  

 
2.1.10 It was explained that Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) were also 

introduced in 2014 as part of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014. The Panel agreed that they are a useful tool to use in the right 
situation.  They heard that they provide wide-ranging and flexible powers for 
local authorities to address anti-social behaviours in response to particular 

Page 15



 
 

5 
 

issues affecting communities. The Panel heard that PSPOs are a Council-led 
tool to address certain issues in a specific location and are just one approach 
that can be targeted in the right way to achieve a reduction in ASB. 

 
2.1.11 The Panel saw clear evidence of addressing and preventing ASB reflected in 

the different strategies, policies and practices used by Council services.  They 
also recognise that ASB forms part of the Safer Swansea Partnership 
Strategy.  Although this is the case the Panel did feel the overall plan in 
relation to ASB within the Council was unclear.  With many aspects, rightly, in 
different plans and procedures.  They did however feel this made it difficult for 
them and the public to understand how the overall picture in relation to ASB 
comes together.  This, they felt, could result in duplication of effort, some 
inequity in service provision and make the response to the public and partners 
at time confused.  We will outline this further in the report. 

2.1.12 From the evidence gathered the Panel were satisfied that the Council does 
meet it statutory obligations in relation to ASB and that it does this as a 
Council and through a multi-agency approach.  It was recognised that ASB is 
an issue that impacts on many of the Council’s services to different degrees 
and this in turn means there are resources and different practices used across 
a range of our services.  The Panel felt that this was good because it shows 
we tailor our activities to the needs of the situation, but in itself does not 
provide one coherent picture in terms of governance within the Council and 
how this links to our partners and other stakeholders.    

2.1.13 One area the Panel agreed needs further consideration is local practice 
relating to the ASB Case Review (formally known as the Community Trigger). 
The Panel heard that this is an independent case review process that allows 
victims of ASB, who feel their case has not been dealt with appropriately, to 
ask for it to be reviewed. The Panel were told the process itself is robust and 
has been structured in partnership with other local authorities and South 
Wales Police. The structure of the actual Panel that conducts the review 
requires representation from statutory partners, however, how it is chaired is a 
local decision.  

Community trigger and its use is very underused across Wales, but in my 
experience, it is actually a really powerful tool in terms of managing impact 
and the repeat reporting of something that cannot be dealt with. It could be 
used more often as an effective way of looking at difficult cases, where the 
threshold community trigger is actually quite low. The Community Trigger 
review is quite a valuable tool, a good mechanism for giving people 
assurance and to know the processes are working, are we following through 
on what our policies and procedures are etc. Raising of awareness is also 
needed for community trigger/review. Coastal Housing 
 
The Panel found that currently the ASB Case Review applications are 
received and processed by the ASB Coordinator, who also chairs the Case 
Review Panel. Concern was shared by both the Panel and Officers about the 
ASB Coordinator being in the Chair of such reviews.  The Panel agreed that it 
is a conflict of interest as he is often already involved in that specific ASB 
case and this in itself could be seen as them not being independent. The 

Page 16



 
 

6 
 

Panel agreed that the current means of chairing the reviews needs to be 
looked at and an independent person appointed to that role.  This would then 
provide a clear and transparent process which the Panel felt is essential in 
providing trust in process.  The Panel understand that there are examples in 
other areas where this responsibility is led at a much higher level for example 
by lead Councillors, an independent officer from the Safer Swansea 
Partnership or Public Services Board or a lay person, rather than the officers 
who are involved in the ASB.  The ASB Co-ordinator would then provide a 
more appropriate role of supporting this person with the legislative advice and 
ASB processes. 

 
South Wales Police said that the management of the ASB Case Review is 
one area that may need some more focus particularly in how it is managed 
and the profile of its concept within communities.  

2.1.14 The South Wales Police have a number of powers in legislation to tackle ASB 
including Civil Injunction, Community Protection Notice (CPN) and Criminal 
Behaviour Orders (CBO).  The South Wales Police suggested that further 
consideration could be given to CPN/ CBO and injunctions being applied for 
by the Local Authority. It was also suggested that Housing Associations would 
also benefit from the use of these powers and the Panel felt that this needs to 
be investigated further.  
 

In terms of enforcement, we only have actions to injunct or to commence 
proceedings to end tenancies (rare, high evidence threshold). We cannot 
issue community protection warnings or orders or closure orders (South 
Wales Police and LA only) and we have yet to see a Community Trigger/ASB 
case review meet a threshold for action. Coastal Housing 

 
The Panel also heard that there is also scope for wider involvement in ASB 
referrals direct from places like Environmental Health Departments or in 
relation Council Tenancy issues. The South Wales Police said they are more 
often best situated to progress these matters but the expansion elsewhere 
needs to be explored.   

 
2.1.15 The Panel were pleased to find that the Council is consistently ‘keeping an 

eye’ on changing legislation, guidance and good practice in relation to ASB.  
They were particularly interested to hear about the introduction of the draft 
Home Office Guidance, Anti-Social Behaviour Principles.  This is a set of five 
principles which seek to describe and assist in ensuring a consistent 
approach to understanding and addressing ASB in local communities. 
Councillors heard that the principles are not intended to fetter local decision 
making but rather to act as a guide in seeking to deliver the best possible 
outcomes for victims of ASB.  The Panel were pleased to see that all the 
Council Departments and partners where aware of these draft principles and 
had started to consider them in terms of their service delivery. 

 
2.1.16 It became clear to the Panel just how important it is for the Council and the 

Safer Swansea Partnership, as a whole, to understand the current ASB 
landscape in Swansea, in order to address it effectively.  The Panel felt that 

Page 17



 
 

7 
 

this must include the collection and analysis of relevant data, which we will 
touch upon later in the report. We heard that since lockdown there has been 
an increase in ASB, specifically youth related. In addition to this the 
implementation of a PSPO in the city centre has also seen a rise in reported 
ASB. We did hear that this trend is not isolated to Swansea and is in line with 
what is happening nationally but this still puts pressure on already limited 
resources locally. 

2.1.17 The Panel recommends to Cabinet that it: 

• Investigates options for appointing an independent chair for ASB Case 
Reviews and then put the most appropriate option put in place. This 
should be done as a matter of urgency. (R1) 

• Continues to build upon and embed the five key ASB Home Office 
principles into the work of the Council. (R2) 

• Looks at devolving the CPW/CPN powers to Housing Associations, with 
consideration being given to their use by other partners. (R3) 

 
2.2 The support for tackling and preventing ASB must be adequately 

resourced in the Council, as well as more widely across the Safer 
Swansea Partnership. 

 
2.2.1 The Panel considered whether the resources were adequate to support the 

Council to play its part in tackling and preventing ASB. 
 
2.2.2 The Panel heard that the Council does not have a specific ASB team or 

service area. There is a wider ASB Coordinator, who sits within the 
Community Safety Team, which is under the Community Integration 
Partnership. His role is to respond to all referrals that come through, primarily 
to ensure there is a coordinated response and to be a link between all the 
various Departments and partner agencies in relation to ASB. He and other 
partners also conduct public engagement and information events like for 
instance the recent ASB Awareness Week. 

 
The ASB Coordinator, Admin Support Officer and Community Safety 
Coordinator roles are externally funded on an annual contract through South 
Wales Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office (PCCO). The Panel heard 
that this is a challenge in itself, as officers are uncertain on their future 
employment year on year and this has an impact on the ability to plan for the 
medium and longer term, as certain projects and programmes do take a 
number of years to realise positive outcomes. It was felt that if funding were 
awarded on a 3- to-5-year cycle, rather than annually this would be far better 
for long-term strategic planning and would provide better stability.  The Panel 
recognised this is a key role in the Safer Swansea Partnership and asked 
whether a ‘Plan B’ should be considered, should funding by PCCO be 
reduced or cease. 
 

2.2.3 Council Housing have their own staff, who deal with ASB, they are funded via 
the ringfenced Housing Revenue Account, which responds and manages all 
ASB reported in relation to Council tenants. The Panel heard that whilst 
Council tenants can be supported through the Housing Revenue Account 

Page 18



 
 

8 
 

there is no budget elsewhere in the Council for additional support to private 
residents to support legal action for any enforcement such as injunctions. 
Although this type of action is a last resort, the Panel heard that without that in 
place many of the interventions are on an informal basis and are dependent 
on voluntary engagement by perpetrators.  The Panel felt this was one area of 
inequity in the service provided to the public that needs to be considered and 
we will ask Cabinet to consider whether there is a way to resolve this as part 
of a suggested mapping exercise. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
2.2.4 The Panel heard about some of the examples of where the Council works and 

pulls together its resources for the benefit of the community, one of which is 
how the Youth Service and Evolve can act on and respond to support the 
prevention of community unrest. However, the Panel heard that it is important 
to understand that often to achieve this type of response the movement of 
resources from other areas is needed. There have been multiple examples of 
this in the last 12 months. One example was in January 2023 when a balloon 
release was arranged by young people to pay tribute to the sad passing of a 
young friend. There were worries around a potential escalation of anti-social 
behaviour and youth violence due to the considerable number of young 
people intending to attend the event. The youth service worked together with 
the South Wales Police and third sector agencies, listened to the young 
people and were able to ensure young people’s voices were included in the 
planned response. This resulted in the service mobilising resources to open 
the nearby youth club and provide emotional health and wellbeing support as 
well as other issues such as substance use with a view to reduce concerns.  

2.2.5 The Panel heard that younger and younger children are coming to the 
attention of services due to their behaviours in the community. The Panel 
heard that this can be challenging because for example, the Youth Justice 
Service can only work with young people from the age of ten, as do the Youth 
Service. Councillors heard that before the pandemic, these were not worries 
that were being seen.  It was understood that staff who work with younger age 
range in early help areas are learning new skills to be able respond to these 
needs but agreed that consideration should also be given to exploring 
targeted work at a primary school level.  

2.2.6 The majority of the people the Panel spoke to felt that resources are massive 
challenge for the Council and more widely across the partnership.  The Panel 
recognised that targeted work was considered to be one solution to this 
moving forward, given the resources available in some areas.  The Panel also 
recognised the importance of strengthening community work together with our 
partners and local communities which, as the Panel heard, does not 
necessarily mean statutory partners needed to put in a lot of resources. 

2.2.7 The Panel was pleased to hear about South Wales Police’s development of a 
Neighbourhood Policing Team which is a resource made-up of neighbourhood 
beat managers whose job is to look after problem solving within Swansea. 
The Panel heard that by doing this they have put some South Wales Police 
resources into the beginning of the issue rather than the end. The South 
Wales Police told the Panel they have done a force-wide restructure splitting 

Page 19



 
 

9 
 

the Neighbourhood and initial response capabilities and this has enabled 
them to concentrate dedicated resources into the problem-solving aspect. 

South Wales Police said presently the working arrangements they have with 
the Local Authority are excellent and the processes that have been put in 
place have a sound basis in practice but said that further stability in this area 
would be welcome.  South Wales Police said there are no current gaps in 
their provision currently but as a general observation would welcome some 
further elements of co-location of resources. 

2.2.8 The Panel wanted to understand what resources went into areas where there 
may be high student populations in order to help tackle and prevent ASB in 
those localities.  The Panel agreed there was a need for effective 
communication around this issue and were therefore pleased to hear that 
Officers have strong working partnerships with Swansea University, the 
University of Wales Trinity St David (UWTSD) and South Wales South Wales 
Police. This Safer Swansea Partnership funds a Community Liaison Officer 
(CLO) employed by Swansea University whose role includes working with 
students living in residential communities to ensure there is greater 
community cohesion. This can often involve responding to noise and waste 
complaints and invoking the universities’ disciplinary procedures where 
appropriate. 

The Panel heard from the Councils environmental services that the transient 
nature of the population in areas with high student numbers can be 
problematic. They told the Panel that work is done to educate and inform 
students, linking various Council services with the universities and student 
unions and this has to be done on an annual basis due to the regular churn of 
tenants. Public Health provide an on-call service for responding to noise and 
other pollution-related complaints.  The Panel were told that access to this 
service has to be filtered due to staffing resources and noise that is of limited 
or sporadic duration cannot always be witnessed. 

2.2.9 Evidence indicated that there has been an increase in ASB in Swansea City 
Centre. This and the issue of associated resources was raised by many of 
those people the Panel spoke to.  

I have been doing this job for 13 years, so it has certainly got a lot worse over 
the period of time. Despite best efforts we do definitely need more resources. 
We need more teeth in order to tackle it as well, because with all the fantastic 
stuff we have got going on in the city centre. We have got to make sure that 
the safety of investors, residents and businesses is top of our minds. 
Alongside the large investment projects, we need to get the basics right too, 
like clean and safe communities. Russell Greenslade (Swansea BID)  

 
The City Centre Manager did recognise what the representative from BID had 
said. She said that the increase in ASB has been reflected in some of the 
actions and measures that have been taken to tackle what is a really complex, 
challenging and difficult issue for Swansea.  
 

Page 20



 
 

10 
 

The Panel heard that one of the resources available in the city centre are the 
Rangers.  They were originally employed as ambassadors of the city centre, 
very much in a kind of visitor customer service capacity. Over the years, the 
role has understandably developed as things have changed over the last 
couple of years.  The Panel heard that there is a team of five Rangers at the 
moment. They cover a significant area of the city, seven days a week, every 
day from 9am till 5:30pm. They also cover key evenings in the night time 
economy. So, resources are split and pressurised. The Panel heard that for 
example, typically within the course of half an hour on the radio, they have 
had twelve calls and there were two staff, so they are being pulled in all 
directions.  
 
The City Centre Manager told the Panel that a lot of intelligence is shared 
through the Safer Swansea Partnership with South Wales South Wales 
Police.  She told us that resources are prioritised and targeted in line with 
what is coming out of that intelligence, but resources are definitely an issue, 
but it is not a straightforward issue.  She told us the key thing is that any 
action in relation to anti-social behaviour must to be holistic. It has to be a 
cocktail of different measures that are taken, it is not just about enforcement, 
but resources are a critical part of that. 

2.2.10 The Panel did feel that cleanliness of the City Centre can be an issue at 
times, particularly in and around the Quadrant Bus Station. This was also 
mentioned by the young people, the public and local businesses in the 
evidence gathering exercises.  The Panel recognise by its very nature that 
cleanliness can vary at different times of the day depending on a number of 
factors but did feel that in some areas the dirt seemed ingrained and that 
regular deeps cleans would help to address this.   

2.2.11 The Panel also felt it was essential that the City Centre and local communities 
are looked at from the perspective or from the ‘eyes of the public’ on a regular 
basis, so that issues of concerned can be raised and addressed.  The Panel 
felt that this should be carried out by Cabinet Members but it was important 
that local ward members be involved. 

2.2.12 The Panel recognised that although the Council does not have a specific team 
for ASB that a vast array of activity takes place across the many Council 
services in Swansea.  They felt it is difficult to see the full picture of how it is 
resourced and the linkages between activities.  Value for money and the 
availability of resources is therefore hard to establish and the Panel felt the 
Council picture in relation to ASB needs to more clearly understood.  The 
Panel would like to see a mapping exercise that evidences the Council’s 
commitment to ASB.  This mapping exercise should show resources used (or 
available), powers available, tools used and activities carried out in relation to 
ASB.  They felt this would help to establish and show where and if further 
resources might be required. A mapping exercise may also identify areas 
where resources can be used more flexibly and be responsive to need. This 
should include those where we partially fund posts like for example the 
Student Liaison and City Centre Rangers. 

Page 21



 
 

11 
 

The Panel also felt that this exercise may help identify and evidence areas 
where cost benefit analysis can be investigated.  This being where a small 
investment can bring larger rewards in improved community cohesion and or 
reduction in ASB.  

2.2.13 The Panel were interested to consider whether we are using all the tools ‘in 
the box’ to help to tackle and prevent ASB.  The Panel felt that we do use a 
wide variety of tools across the Council to help to tackle and prevent ASB, 
example the use of legislative powers to the provision of support and 
assistance for perpetrators to modify their behaviour.  We recognise that this 
a is large and complex picture and the mapping exercise would help to 
understand what is being used and whether practice can be shared more 
widely or effectively.   

The Panel also recognised that the ‘ability to resource’ can also prevent the 
authority using some methods or tools, like for example: the Education 
Department told the Panel the greatest challenges in terms of securing impact 
and improvement are around funding and the implications on capacity and 
staffing. This is because many of the approaches focus on prevention and 
building capacity, this is then often about building positive relationships and 
that requires more resource than is currently available. 

 
2.2.14 The Panel recommend to Cabinet that it: 

• Carries out a Council wide mapping exercise to establish and provide 
clarity in relation to the ASB.  It should include, but not be restricted to the 
governance, roles, resources, regulatory powers and other tools used (or 
available), use of the referral process and equity of services provided to 
the public. (R4) 

• Look into providing resources to do more targeted work with primary 
school aged children that include ASB preventative matters. (R5) 

• Completes more regular deep cleans of the City Centre particularly in and 
around the Quadrant Bus Station. (R20).  

• Work with local businesses and the Business Improvement District (BID) 
with the aim of tidying up shop fronts and rubbish storage across the City 
Centre. (R21) 

• Conduct regular ‘walk throughs’ of the city centre and communities across 
Swansea to see the locations through the ‘eyes of the public’ and to 
identify issues of concern.  This should be done in conjunction with local 
ward members. (R22) 

• Make representations to Police and Crime Commissioner’s Officer asking 
them to consider grant funding on a medium-term basis (i.e., 3 yearly). 
(R24) 

 
2.3 The Council and its partners are working together effectively to tackle 

and reduce anti-social behaviour in Swansea but the overall picture of 
services and support is confusing. 

 
2.3.1 The Panel recognised that it is a complex and varied issue which often 

requires involvement of the Council, its partners, voluntary sector and the 
wider community to help address not only the incidents of ASB but in 

Page 22



 
 

12 
 

endeavouring to prevent it from happening.  It was made very clear from 
evidence gathered that success is based upon both the Council and partners 
taking a joined-up approach to tackling, preventing and addressing the causes 
of ASB. 

 
2.3.2 The Panel agreed that not only a partnership approach is required but a much 

wider holistic approach, because, they heard, of the very complex nature of 
peoples situations, which one single organisation cannot deal with alone.   

 
2.3.3 One example the Panel heard was from Social Services, who said without a 

partnership approach, they would not be able to reach the numbers of young 
people in the communities that they work with. The Panel were told about how 
they look to provide a wraparound service for young people and their families 
and partnership working is a priority in doing this. They gave the Panel 
examples of some of this work including, the Youth Service in Swansea which 
works in partnership with the Safer Swansea Partnership, CMET, South 
Wales Police forces, health agencies, and housing associations to identify 
areas of concern in relation to ASB across the local authority. When work is 
required, a targeted response is undertaken between agencies and responses 
have included workshops being delivered in school and youth clubs. The 
Panel were told that the focus of services must be supporting positive 
behaviours by working with the family and the community as well as in 
partnership with other organisations. 

 
2.3.4 South Wales Police told the Panel that they believe the Safer Swansea 

Partnership and the whole approach nationally has matured over the last 20 
years and that it now looks at the issues from a multi-agency problem-solving 
approach. They said some ASB issues are dealt with via Problem-Solving 
Groups (PSG) where partners attend and seek joint solutions to key issues. 
There is also an escalation process in place where matters can be escalated 
through to the Community Safety Board and ultimately to the Public Services 
Board should community problems present certain barriers that need a 
resolution. 
 

Example of Partnership working, South Wales Police 

ASB in Broughton Avenue, Blaenymaes.  To counter an escalation of ASB in 
this area Operation Dunlin was devised which concentrated on diversion and 
enforcement. Part of the project involved diversion attempts run by Army 
recruitment and attempts to engage youths via a local boxing club. An 
extensive working group was set up which included representation from the 
Local Housing Association, Local Authority, ASB outreach workers, Mid and 
West Wales Fire Service (MAWWF) and the local Councillor in order to 
continue diversionary initiatives and interventions. 

 
The Panel were pleased to hear that South Wales Police felt there are solid 
governance arrangements in place to manage partnership activity and the 
relationship with the Basic Command Unit coordinators and local authority 
staff is operationally sound. 

 

Page 23



 
 

13 
 

2.3.5 The Panel was of the view that the commitment to multi-agency partnership 
working is strong across Council Departments and were pleased see it 
considered in the future planning of services.  For example, the Education 
Department said that multi-agency working is a key feature of the work of the 
Directorate.  One area this was evidenced was the newly developed Inclusion 
Strategy which encompasses priorities for supporting vulnerable learners over 
the next three years. Within this they are committed to working in multi-
agency contexts to consider and respond to community issues. They also told 
the Panel that by considering their responses to significant events such as the 
Mayhill riot, they have strengthened their practice accordingly.  

 
2.3.6 Another example the Panel considered was from the Council’s Housing 

Service who said that joint working is absolutely key in the work they do in 
communities.  They work together to try and keep people safe from harm, to 
sustain tenancies and communities. This happens against the backdrop of the 
multiple challenges.  They told the Panel that it is important not to lose sight of 
the proportion of tenants who are the most vulnerable in our society and 
sometimes have significant challenges in respect of their behaviour, this is 
often multi layered. They look to strike a balance in supporting those affected 
by ASB and to help those carrying out ASB to modify their behaviour to 
sustain their tenancy. They achieve this through working together across 
Council teams and by working jointly with others like for example the South 
Wales Police, Community Mental Health Teams, Pollution Control and Social 
Services, and any other organisation that can help. 

 
2.3.7 The Panel was reassured from the evidence it has received that the Council 

does recognise the importance of, and is committed to, working in partnership 
with not only its statutory partners but voluntary groups and the wider 
community.  The examples given were a few of the excellent actions that are 
happening, which the Panel felt should be praised and shared.   

 
2.3.8 The Panel did however feel improvements could be made in some areas.  For 

example, ensuring the consistency of approach to the public no matter what 
the housing tenure of those reporting it is. The Panel heard that there seems 
to be a different service depending on tenure. This has been highlighted 
relating to some services for Housing Association Tenants, Council tenants 
and private tenants/owners.   

 

I did get a sense from listening to your previous evidence sessions that it does 
feel a bit like coastal residents are not benefiting from the same joined up 
approaches that Council tenants are able to benefit from in terms of Council 
services and statutory services.  
 
Why is it not the same if you are housing association tenant with the same 
problem as others when contacting and working with the Council, i.e., for 
noise pollution or access to the out of our service. It feels like there is a triage 
that happens and the first question is, are you a housing association tenant? If 
the answer is yes, everything goes to housing association.  We do not provide 
that service and it does not feel like there would be much point in resourcing 
three or four different help lines.  I would be very interested in talking about 

Page 24



 
 

14 
 

how we might contribute resources into that team in order to be able improve 
that. We do contribute financially to other local authorities, in order to be able 
to be able to manage that partnership better. We in Coastal would be very 
comfortable having a conversation about how we might financially contribute 
towards environmental health in order to be able to support that activity. 
Coastal Housing Association 

 
The Panel would welcome Cabinet discussing with Housing Associations the 
potential of increasing our levels of environmental service provision via 
contributions potentially made by Housing providers. 

 
2.3.9 Housing Associations told the Panel that the perceptions many people have 

is that they have the same powers, resources or access to services as the 
Council, but do not. So, they said they would like to be part of working out, 
along with partners, a more consistent approach to tackling ASB.   

 
The Panel heard from Housing Associations that there is much they do to 
deal with ASB but a lot they cannot address.  They said sometimes residents 
can feel like they are in a ‘tennis match’ between the South Wales Police 
and/or the Council, saying that is a Housing issue and Housing saying it is a 
South Wales Police/Council issue. The representative from Coastal Housing 
said they would like to see a Strategic Forum developed to cut across 
organisational boundaries and help to tackle issues like this and unlock those 
barriers to improvement at a strategic level. 

 

Feedback from service users is that messages are often conflicting between 
partners, i.e., stating that the ASB is a South Wales Police matter/ South 
Wales Police stating it is a local authority matter. This at times becomes 
frustrating for the service users who then stop reporting. Victim support 

 
2.3.10 The Housing Associations did say they felt that at ground level, staff across 

the agencies work well together to tackle ASB.  They also said their 
relationships with the South Wales Police on the ground are very strong and 
they work well but that more work strategically would be of benefit. 
 

2.3.11 The representative from Pobl Housing Association said that the resident 
facing stuff works quite well. It is the supporting elements of holding all of the 
information and making sure it is getting to the right place, escalating what 
the barriers might be are where better solutions are needed. This could be 
for example, more action planning and strategy around cases. 
 
Both Coastal and Pobl also said that the threshold for South Wales Police and 
other agencies to get involved is quite high and they find that most of their 
challenges are in that bit just beneath that threshold.  Coastal said, ‘it is never 
quite there but causes a massive concern to a wider range of people. It is 
clear that perpetrators are often very vulnerable, as are the victims, but it is a 
rare day when any of our safeguarding referrals meets the threshold for 
service or intervention from social services. Some people are living in 
severely distressing situations, and we are finding we are struggling to pull in 
statutory services’. 

Page 25



 
 

15 
 

2.3.12 Coastal Housing told the Panel that wider access to services and support 
often happens at a major crisis points, of which eviction is one of these.  At 
this point a lot will coalesce around preventing a homelessness, as is right, 
but they told the Panel that we all need to get further ‘up stream’ of this 
happening.  We know a tenancy is looking like it is going to end for several 
months, if not years beforehand, so I would be keen to see how we might be 
able to case conference some of those at an earlier stage to prevent them 
getting to that crisis point. 
 

2.3.13 Coastal Housing thought a good way forward in improving collaboration would 
be for them, the Local Authority and other partners to come together in, for 
example, workshops where certain aspects like information sharing, 
consistency and services to residents can be discussed.  She said, ‘we need 
to get in the room and just work through all the different ways in which we are 
operating and let us see where we are working well and where we can 
improve’. 

 
The Panel felt that wider representation on the Public Services Board and 
Safer Swansea Partnership would help address some of the issues raised but 
also the development of a multi-agency forum where solutions to cross cutting 
themes and ways or working can be discussed. This would help find solutions 
to things like the ‘tennis match’ mentioned around responsibilities.  The idea 
of working groups to address some of the ‘sticky issues’ like the small group 
of consistent ASB offenders was also raised.  
 
The Panel were interested to hear about the potential of the co-location of 
ASB services recognising that it is already the case for South Wales Police 
and the ASB Co-ordinator.  The Panel felt a partnership office where ASB 
services can work together across organisational boundaries would be of 
benefit because it can then provide real time problem solving and direct 
access to available resources. It would also encourage and support a wider 
partnership response addressing ASB. 

The Panel thought a wider mapping exercise should be conducted across the 
Safer Swansea Partnership with the purpose of improving the understanding 
of each other’s roles which will help provide clarity and consistency of 
approach to ASB for the service user and the public, this again would help to 
avoid the ‘tennis match’ response to the public, which was mentioned earlier.   
 

2.3.14 The Panel recommend to Cabinet that it: 

• Widen the current membership of PSB and Safer Swansea Partnership to 
include local Housing Associations. (R6) 

• Investigate the potential of developing a partnership hub/office where 
services to ASB across organisations can be co-located. (R7) 

• Work with partner organisations to improve the understanding of each 
other’s roles in order to help provide clarity and consistency of approach to 
ASB for the service user and the public.  This should include a map of the 
services and powers available across the partnership. (R8) 

• Develop a Multi-Agency Strategic Forum where solutions to cross cutting 
themes and ways or working can be discussed. (R9) 

Page 26



 
 

16 
 

• Cabinet look into the potential of Housing Associations contributing to 
some of our environmental services like noise abatement and fly tipping in 
order to increase their levels of service provision. (R19) 

 
2.4 Better information about ASB needs to be easily available and 

accessible. The Council and its partners must communicate with and 
feedback to the public and/or victims. 

 
2.4.1 The Panel considered the relationship with the public, how available and 

accessible information was about ASB, whether the public understand what it 
is, how to report it and whether feedback is made.  The Panel also explored 
whether we use feedback from the public to improve the services provided.  

 
2.4.2 How we as a Council are engaging and supplying information to the public in 

a physical format, as opposed to online, came out strongly from the evidence 
gathered.  The inquiry found that information on ASB could be found online 
but little was available in a physical format. 
 
The Panel felt there was a clear need to have key information available in a 
physical format and accessible in various locations. The ASB Co-ordinator 
said that although we promote events and information well through online 
media there is a large element of reaching people offline that needs to be 
looked at (outside of our normal engagement days).  
 

Finding information on things is difficult. 
 

I do not know what is being done to work on Anti-social behaviour, I am not 
online, so if things are promoted and they are online then there is a number of 
people who do not use these platforms...promotion needs a blended 
approach. 
 

I think a more visible presence in the city centre of services is vital, not just 
South Wales Police patrolling but a combined group of services.... a help bus 
during the day or a visible glass office space.  Also, information more easily 
accessible and promoted. 
Aging Well Participants  

 
The Councils Community Engagement Transformation Lead Officer said there 
was clearly feedback that came in with regards to the need for information to 
be available in physical format, as well as online.  The idea of an information 
zone was raised and he told the Panel that this is something which is being 
worked on currently more widely in the Council and that they are launching a 
new engagement office for the local authority shortly, which will be in the 
National Waterfront Museum. The Panel were supportive of this project and 
would be keen to see what it could do around providing information in relation 
ASB and promoting and linking with the LGBTQ+, disability liaison, ageing 
well and the children and young people's work.  
 
The Local Areas Co-ordinators (LAC) were also mentioned and the role they 
could play, especially with the reach they have into communities across 

Page 27



 
 

17 
 

Swansea.  The Panel asked whether they could be used more in 
disseminating information relating to ASB in to communities. The LAC 
Manager said that they are definitely a team that are able to, not only help it 
get information out in to the community, but also, they have significant 
relationships with people in the community and are able to take some of those 
views and bring them back into meetings and appropriate forums. 
 
The Panel also heard about areas of good practice taking place in relation to 
communicating and feeding back to our customers in relation to ASB.  For 
example, the Council’s Housing Service provides information regarding ASB 
in relation to social housing which is made available at the Area Housing 
Offices (AHO) and on the Council’s social housing webpages.  ASB can also 
be reported through both of these routes. Information on ASB is routinely 
shared on social media too. They told the Panel that most ASB is reported 
directly to the AHOs during office hours and to the NSU out of hours. New 
tenants are provided with a handbook containing information on how to report 
ASB. 
 

2.4.3 The issue of wider accessibility was raised and, in particular, the availability of 
key information in different formats including languages and easy to read 
versions.  The Panel felt that key information giving contact details, how to 
report ASB and the ASB Case Review process should be available in more 
languages and accessible formats moving forward.   

 

What was mentioned as one of the barriers to reporting was language, so 
perhaps if there are new arrivals within the Community, we can maybe work 
with partners in sharing things like starter packs, introduction packs and how 
to report issues in your own language. If these packs are given to new arrivals 
when they newly arrive, issues can be reported straight away rather than, 
rather than, the next day. Also, when you use terminology like ASB, not 
everyone is going to know what that is. 
Fun Wong (Swan Gardens 50+ Project) 

 
2.4.4 We found that it would also be beneficial to have a more targeted approach to 

engaging with some of our community members. We were told about and 
recognised the importance of ensuring we are considering our audience in 
order to engage effectively.  As an example, when we spoke to young people, 
they told us they tend to use different ways to access information nowadays. 
They do not tend to look at say the Swansea Councils website but they 
commonly use Tik Tok or Instagram and other social media platforms. And as 
we have heard earlier that some older people prefer information in physical 
format. So, we need to ensure we are tailoring our messaging in order to 
reach a wider audience. 

 
2.4.5 We recognised and welcomed the vast amount of excellent work that is 

happening every day in relation to ASB within the Council and by our 
partners, but we did find little evidence of this good work being widely known 
or shared.  We found there to be little communication and awareness raising 
being done by the Council or its partners.  The Panel would like to see more 
activity in communicating that work, not only around how we are tackling ASB 

Page 28



 
 

18 
 

but the work that is going on by the South Wales Police, in schools, the youth 
service and others to prevent it happening in the first place and to support the 
most vulnerable in our society when faced with ASB. 

 
2.4.6 The Panel were also of the view that it is essential as a Council that we help 

to change the narrative in, and people’s perceptions of, young people by 
communicating positive stories and language.  The Panel would like to see 
more good news stories published about young people and their activities in 
our communities.  

 
The Panel considers the language that is sometimes used for young people 
like for example ‘undesirable’ or ‘problem’ unhelpful.  They heard that it looks 
to victimise them, and we heard using these blanket terms can result in 
missing some of those who need help.  It can also become a self-fulfilling 
prophecy for young people who are labelled. We felt it is vital that young 
people feel a part of the community, and when they are they are more likely to 
have positive behaviours within it.  We were pleased to hear that a language 
guide is being developed through the contextual missing exploited and 
trafficked (CMET) Team’s Youth Council in Swansea. The Panel agreed with 
officers who are working with children and young people when they said 
language as a powerful tool, and when it is not used appropriately it can be 
dehumanising. 
 

2.4.7 The Panel felt that the Councils website and contents around ASB could be 
improved.  It could potentially provide more information for the public, partners 
and other stakeholders in relation to ASB, the partnerships and the role the 
Council plays.  We also felt it could also be used to help address the issues 
raised around perception of ASB and also be a tool for promoting positive 
stories and things that are taking place in communities.  It could hold 
frequently asked questions section, how to report ASB, links to relevant help, 
the wider partnership, other appropriate Council webpages and other useful 
websites etc.  It could also detail the Council/partnerships aims and objectives 
in relation to ASB, outline the five key principles and eventually how the 
Council is progressing against those (when that is available).  We heard from 
the ASB Co-ordinator that there is lots of information on there on how to 
report anti-social behaviour but there could be more on how we are dealing 
with it. 
 

2.4.8 The findings of the inquiry indicate the need to improve how we raise 
awareness of the ASB Case Review (previously known as Community 
Trigger).  It was suggested that we might use that name change as a vehicle 
by which to progress this as a partnership.  We heard from the ASB Co-
ordinator that work has begun on this with a community engagement week 
event held in July 2023. 
 
We agreed the Council’s website should importantly detail what ASB Case 
Review is, how to apply this process, links and contacts for the public and 
also for stakeholders who need to understand what it is and how to advise 
their service user about it. Evidence from the inquiry shows awareness of the 
ASB Case Review is low, so promoting it via the website and other media 

Page 29



 
 

19 
 

sources, also through offline formats and events will be important to improving 
this understanding.   

We need to improve on, as a service and from a partnership perspective, the 
community trigger. About 8 years ago nationally the community trigger was 
launched, it is now called the anti-social behaviour case review. It was a way 
that members of public could put up get a review if they believe ASB has not 
been dealt with correctly. There is more work to do to put that out to the 
general public, to actually hold elements of us to account on certain areas 
where we have not done what we should have done at a certain time. So, 
there is a bit more work there for us all to do. South Wales Police 

 
2.4.9 Feedback and hearing the voices of victims and reporters (and potentially 

perpetrators) of ASB and how we collect and use wider feedback was 
explored by the Panel.  We did find that there are a number of mechanisms in 
place to feedback in many of our Council Services but this is not across the 
board.  The Panel felt that feedback to those reporting ASB needed to be 
more consistent across all services dealing with ASB and ideally across all 
partners. We heard from South Wales Police that they have identified one of 
their key challenges as improving the ’feedback loop’ and they are working to 
develop this. 

 The Panel were pleased to hear that in many of our Council services we do 
have well embedded mechanisms to ensure we are feeding back and using 
information gathered to improve future services.  As an example, the Panel 
heard that in Council’s Housing Services ASB cases are recorded on a case 
management data case, a primary case officer is allocated and that officer is 
the first point of contact and whilst a case is live will provide an ongoing 
dialogue in respect of case progression. Following closure of the case a 
telephone interview is conducted to explore the individual’s experience, this 
information feeds also into service improvement, including direct feedback to 
individual officers and for shared learning and informing best practice. 

 
2.4.10 The Panel recommend to Cabinet that it: 

• Ensure that good feedback mechanisms for the public are in place across 
the Council and that we use that feedback to improve the services we 
provide. (R10) 

• Consider and review accessibility to information about ASB in order to 
ensure ease of access. (R11)  
 Ensure key information is available in different languages, formats and 

in physical form.   
 That we look to have information available in various locations in the 

Council across the partner public locations. 
 Build on how we target information to suit those we are looking to 

reach i.e., young people. 
 Review the Councils website content in relation to ASB with a view to 

expanding what is available. 

• Maximises the opportunities to raise awareness of ASB, in particular: 
(R12) 
 Publicise good news stories about work that is done by the Council.  

Page 30



 
 

20 
 

 Communicate and raise awareness of young people’s positive activities 
in the community. 

 Look to influence and change the negative narrative and language used 
about young people in the media. 

 Provide information and raise awareness of the ASB Case Review. 
 Link up with the new Council’s Community engagement office located 

at waterfront Museum. 
 

2.5 The Council along with its partner organisations are working hard to 
address the underlying causes of anti-social behaviour.  

 
2.5.1 The Panel recognise the importance of prevention and early intervention work 

and were pleased to see the amount of activity that is happening across the 
Council.  We were encouraged by how the Council and its partners work 
across organisational boundaries to address the underlying causes of ASB.  

 
The Panel agreed that prevention and early intervention was a key aspect for 
both the Council and its partners to focus upon moving forward.  Recognising 
it is better for ASB to dealt with at its early stages or for it not to take place in 
the first place.  The Panel were keen that this inquiry shows its supports for 
improving social cohesion and the actions being taken to build upon early 
intervention and prevention services.   
 

The South Wales Police Foundation - The Strategic Review of Policing in 
England and Wales - Taking Prevention Seriously: The case for a crime and 
harm prevention system 
“The case for prevention makes intuitive sense. It is better to stop a bad thing 
from happening in the first place than to deal with the deleterious effects 
afterwards. Not only does this make intuitive sense, but there is also a strong 
evidence base showing that preventative measures can reduce harm at the 
individual and population levels in a way that is superior to later interventions 
and achieves wider economic and social benefits.” 

 
Whilst we recognise that dealing with the underlying courses of ASB is 
complex and requires a holistic and varied person-centred approach, it is 
vital that we work across organisational boundaries to use all the skills, tools 
and experience that affords.   We were pleased to see this reflected in the 
Home Office ASB five key principles, where it says agencies and 
practitioners will work across boundaries to identify, assess and tackle ASB 
and its underlying causes and we were keen to see this continuing to be built 
into the long-term strategy for future development of all services dealing with 
ASB. 
 

2.5.2 We heard as the nature of ASB is varied, so too are the causes and that one 
of the aims of the Safer Swansea Partnership is to improve the collective 
understanding of ASB in order to deliver a more informed approach to 
tackling the underlying drivers of demand. 

2.5.3 We recognise and strongly support the wide-ranging work that is taking place 
within the Council services that are helping to address the underlying causes 
of ASB. Some examples were evidenced, including 

Page 31



 
 

21 
 

• Evolve youth service take a targeted, voluntary approach, in creating 
early intervention opportunities that aims to deter anti-social behaviour. 
Evolve youth workers also deliver group work sessions with young people 
on becoming active members of their communities. 

• Key objectives for education in relation to ASB as outlined in the draft 
Inclusion Strategy. It will have a strong focus on prevention by supporting 
school communities to build safe and healthy relationships. The three 
priorities that specifically focus on ASB are increasing attendance, 
promoting inclusion and supporting emotional health and wellbeing. 

• In relation to preventing fly tipping, prevention is regarded as better than 
cure. It offers information and advice to those it regulates and seeks to 
secure cooperation avoiding bureaucracy and excessive cost using the 
three E’s, Education, Engagement and Enforcement.  

• This element of work for youth justice is preventative and across the 
board they work to address ASB at the earliest possible opportunity.  

 
2.5.4 We also wished to highlight some of the good work of our partners in looking 

to address the underlying causes of ASB. A couple of the examples the 
Panel heard about include 

• South Wales Police told the Panel that their role is to engage the 
community and to prevent and intervene in all forms of Anti-Social 
Behaviour. Their approach is intervention at the earliest opportunity and 
only moving to enforcement or other forms of ASB intervention when 
necessary. They stated that the causes of ASB with young people are 
complex and varied and offering only solutions that are based on 
enforcement will not necessarily address some of the causation factors. 

• The Panel heard that the Coastal Housing Association aims for Coastal 
residents to live a life free from ASB and nuisance. They told the Panel 
are committed to a restorative approach to building and maintaining 
relationships between neighbours and communities, and in repairing 
relationships where necessary and work across with others to do this. 

 
2.5.5 The use of Community Centres for all sections of the community was raised.  

We recognise that for whatever reason young people and some vulnerable 
adults under use these venues.  The Panel felt that Community Centres 
should be just that, and more use could be encouraged for the benefit of all 
sections of the community.  

 

I was involved with the drop-in centre, the Brunswick Church and that worked 
very well, on a Wednesday, Friday and the Saturday night, we would have at 
least 40 and up to 70 people in attendance. They were mainly homeless in 
one form or another and many had drug and alcohol dependencies. It was a 
place for them to go and something for them to do. I mean, we played drafts, 
cards, we sit down and talked.  There does not seem to be anything like that 
within the city anymore. I am wondering whether that could be a means of 
prevention and tackling anti-social behaviour. Councillor Alan Jeffrey 

 
The Panel heard from the YMCA representative that there is an issue of 
funding of community groups, but also how people can be supported in the 
Community to set up new initiatives providing a consistent service. She also 

Page 32



 
 

22 
 

said what is also really challenging is finding a venue that will be willing to 
have youth clubs/activities.  This may be down to negative perceptions around 
behaviour particularly in relation to young people.   
 

2.5.6 Attitudes in communities to young people was raised consistency throughout 
the Panels evidence gathering. Particularly in relation to where young people 
gather and it is assumed that they are up to no good. 
 

Young people are not wanting to cause fear or anti-social behaviour. They are 
hanging around in large groups because that is often how they feel safe. We 
need to breakdown these perceptions between older people and younger 
people. I think older people need to be understood by younger people, and 
also young people need to be understood by older people. And I think once 
that comes together it will break down a lot of the barriers.  Could look at 
some intergenerational projects and forums that are combined with older 
people and younger people. Both need to understand the fears, the risks, and 
the barriers that each of those communities are facing this is something I 
believe the YMCA would be glad to help with. YMCA 

 
The Panel thought more intergenerational work would be a good way to break 
down such barriers and helping older and younger people to develop an 
understand of each other’s lives.  We would be keen to see more of this type 
of work taking place and the council linking in more widely with organisations 
like the YMCA.  We heard that some intergenerational work has been started 
to be planned and will include Evolve workers and part of the CMET team, it 
will also involve the communities and local Councillors.  
 
The Panel felt that more access by young people to centres like Brynhyfryd 
Early Help Hub and Youth Club would be of huge benefit, but what was 
essential was the access to trained Youth Work support.  The Panel agreed 
that more resources may be required to ensure that all young people across 
the City and County of Swansea can, if they choose, have access to such 
support.  The Panel recognised the limitation on council resources but felt that 
this is key.  The Panel were happy to see many activities made available by 
voluntary organisation and volunteers but felt the availability of trained youth 
workers was essential. 
 

2.5.7 The Panel recommend to Cabinet that they: 

• Work with partner organisations to improve the understanding of each 
other’s roles in order to help provide clarity and consistency of approach to 
ASB for the service user and the public.  This should include a map of the 
services and powers available across the partnership. (R8) 

• Look at providing resources to do more work with primary school aged 
children that includes ASB matters. (R5) 

• Develop a Multi-Agency Strategic Forum where solutions to cross cutting 
themes and ways or working can be discussed. (R9) 

• Looks to increase the number of Youth Workers in Swansea with the aim 
of every community across the City and County of Swansea having 
dedicated Youth Worker Support (R17). 

Page 33



 
 

23 
 

• Look to further build upon the intergeneration work with young people and 
the older generation, both within the Council and with our voluntary sector. 
(R13) 

 
2.6 The Council, its partners, communities and other stakeholders will need 

to work together to overcome wider challenges and barriers to 
improvement. 

 
2.6.1 The Panel recognise the complexity of ASB and how there are many 

influences on how we progress and ultimately improve the services we 
provide.  The Panel have therefore detailed, from the evidence gathered, 
some of the challenges faced by the Council and its partners in relation to 
ASB that have not been mentioned elsewhere in this report, including any 
suggested ways forward.  

 
2.6.2 Low levels of reporting of ASB incidents was raised as an issue 

throughout the inquiry.  The Panel wished to explore why this was the case 
and the potential consequences of it. Councillors were pleased to see it 
recognised and represented in 5 Anti-Social Behaviour Principles in the Home 
Office Guidance, where it says, ‘encouraging the reporting of ASB, taking it 
seriously and adopting a restorative approach when dealing with it’. It is 
hoped that this will help to consistently assist and drive organisations to 
encourage victims to report ASB. 

 

The feedback from our service users is that messages are often conflicting 
between partners, i.e., stating that the ASB is a South Wales Police matter/ 
South Wales Police stating it is a local authority matter. This at times 
becomes frustrating for the service users who then stops reporting it.  
Victim Support 

 
We were interested to explore why people do not report. One of the main 
reasons we heard was a feeling that nothing happens when it is reported.  We 
found that this may be down to the lack of feedback to the victim rather, than 
no action actually taking place.  We would like to see all Council services and 
partner organisation have processes in place that enable feedback to 
reporters of ASB.  
 

If reporting is not taken seriously or acted upon the trust may be lost, you go 
down this spiral of underreporting, not trusting the agencies involved and this 
can make the whole thing more difficult to deal with. Pobl Housing Association 

 
Another reason that was mentioned was the time it can take and the 
frustration caused in trying to report it, as the Panel heard that getting through 
to South Wales Police 101 telephone line can be at times lengthy and that 
there is complicated form if you wish to report online.  We would encourage 
South Wales Police to look at the resourcing of the South Wales Police 101 
telephone line and to consider simplifying the online form, where possible.   
 

Page 34



 
 

24 
 

While these reasons have been highlighted, we do also realise that there may 
be a whole array of reasons people do not report including their own 
vulnerabilities or situation and the fear of retribution.  
 

I think what we get reported is just scratching the surface of what people are 
experiencing and that is something I think we can do more about certainly in 
terms of identifying where those issues are occurring across the different 
agencies.  This would be particularly useful for targeting things locally, not just 
identifying where there are issues in terms of what is reported by the under 
reporting.  Pobl Housing Association 

 
2.6.3 Increase in ASB since the Pandemic. The Panel heard that there had been 

an increase in low level crime and/or nuisance since the pandemic.  We heard 
that it tends to be the sort that does not meet South Wales Police or agencies 
thresholds for action but is still distressing for victims and communities.  

 
We heard from Coastal Housing that one of their biggest issues is neighbour 
complaints into each other's conduct, noise, drug use, visitors, parking, pets. 
We were told that these are the persistent issues, they are often quite low 
level so the threshold is not met for action, but we recognise that they are not 
low level for the people experiencing them, for the people experiencing them it 
is still incredibly stressful. The Panel heard from Coastal Housing that it does 
feel like agencies might sometimes not treat the information from housing 
association staff as evidence or consider it as criteria for action or 
intervention, which can be frustrating. 
 

The representative from Pobl Housing shared a report by about the impact of 
ASB on victims (Author Baroness Newlove) called ASB: Living a Nightmare - 
ASB Help Nottingham Trent University April 2019. It says:  
It is disrespectful to hear ASB being referred to as ‘low level crime’, and that 
this description illustrates how ASB is often treated as a series of isolated 
incidents, rather than taking into account the cumulative effect that it has on 
its victims. Police and Council staff are failing to appreciate the cumulative 
impact of persistent ASB on its victims – with each incident being treated in 
isolation and the underlying causes being ignored. 
Police, local authorities and social housing landlords all have responsibility to 
tackle anti-social behaviour by working together to help victims. Too often, 
victims are being passed from one to the other and feeling as if no one is 
listening. The failure of Police, Councils and housing associations to advertise 
the Community Trigger and provide a cohesive response is a dereliction of 
duty to residents. 

 
The Panel recognised the cumulative effect of what is considered as low-level 
crime can be extremely difficult for victims to live with.  For example, Pobl told 
us that ‘drug and substance misuse is a problem, not necessarily the high-
level kind of serious cases you would imagine to be, i.e., cannabis use but we 
do often have quite a ‘back and forth’ with the South Wales Police where it is 
not a landlord issue but South Wales Police won’t investigate as it does not 
meet their threshold’.   
 

Page 35



 
 

25 
 

 We do also understand that it can sometimes be difficult or undesirable to 
address some low level anti-social behaviour through the courts. This is either 
because the burden of proof cannot be reached, or because it will not be in 
the public interest to do so. We therefore heard that civil or informal remedies 
are often favoured above criminal sanctions. 
 

2.6.4 Mediation was mentioned as one such possible remedy.  We heard from 
Coastal Housing this is a useful tool to assist those residents involved to listen 
to each other in a neutral space, so they are able to understand the impacts 
on each other, cooperate, compromise and hopefully reach agreement.  It 
was mentioned that it can complex and difficult to access some 
services/support and that this can be a contributing factor, particularly in terms 
of mental health, substance misuse, social care.  Housing Associations told 
us that this feels like it is getting harder, particularly terms of eligibility 
thresholds.    

 

I would love to see a time in Swansea where we are able to have highly 
trained restorative mediators to work working alongside all the partner 
agencies to be able to tackle those very difficult disputes.  It can be an 
incredibly powerful tool that gets sustained outcomes. Coastal Housing 

 
The Panel agreed with Coastal Housing when they said that it would be good 
if organisations could come together with a shared agenda looking at how we 
can get a trained group of restorative practice facilitators in order to get to that 
sticky group of challenges that is not meeting a threshold for any kind of help. 
So as Coastal Housing representative said, ‘instead of us all doing our own 
thing we could we look at how we might do that together’. 
 

2.6.5 School Attendance. One of the key challenges identified by the Education 
Department was around low attendance, persistent non-attendance and a rise 
in behaviours leading to school exclusions. It is not just Swansea but a 
national issue, although Swansea is performing better than some currently 
local authorities in Wales. The Panel heard that attendance is still a high 
priority for improvement locally. An action plan to address this and 
engagement was in the latter stages of development at the time the Panel 
spoke to them.  Although the Panel were told this is set against challenging 
budgetary constraints for both schools and the local authority.  The Panel 
were also pleased to hear about the Inclusion Strategy that was being 
finalised which encompasses the priorities for supporting vulnerable learners 
over the next three years.  

  
2.6.6 Perception and expectations in relation to ASB. The Panel found the issue 

of perception and the expectations around ASB mentioned frequently 
throughout the inquiry.  Hearing the public perception of what ASB is, can 
vary.  The Panel heard that public perception of ASB and the fear of crime is, 
and has always been, a challenge and does not always match with reality. 

 
We heard that the South Wales Police historically have not published data 
that highlights successful intervention and support, which would inevitably 
provide the community with reassurance and confidence in how ASB is dealt 

Page 36



 
 

26 
 

with.  The Panel agreed with Wales Police when they said that this would be 
beneficial to improving that issue of perception vs reality.  We did hear that 
South Wales Police alongside the ASB Co-ordinator conduct public 
engagement and information events like White Ribbon Day, this helps them 
get an idea of what the perception in relation to crime at that time. 
 

I would just like to say that to be perfectly honest, a lot of older people feel 
very, very vulnerable, especially in the evenings, walking around in Swansea 
and in the local areas, because we just feel that there is no one around and 
we do not know where to go to if we need help. For older people, I do think 
that this issue really needs to be looked at. Aging Well Member 

 
The clash between perception and reality came out most strongly in relation 
gatherings of young people. The perception that if there is a gathering of 
young people for whatever reason that they are always up to no good.  We 
heard that young people found this most upsetting and those services and 
organisation working with young people raised it as a problem. Councillors 
agreed that there needs to be more understanding across communities about 
young people and how communities engage with each other. We heard from 
social services that the next steps are to develop an understanding of what 
they do that causes most upset in communities. Also, awareness raising was 
needed and the encouragement of a positive narrative on the issue, it is 
important young people are seen as part of the community.  
 
The Panel heard that the Council’s Children’s Rights and Participation Officer 
is undertaking preparation work with the young people with a view to setting 
up a Youth Forum to consider the perception of the young people in the 
community to address and negatives. 
 
The Panel heard that all young people want is somewhere safe, light, ideally 
with Wi-Fi, where they can sit down and be with their friends. The Panel 
agreed with the Head of Care Services when she said there are opportunities 
for us to strengthen our community work together and this does necessarily 
mean we need statutory partners putting in substantial amounts of resources. 
 

2.6.7 Young People Views. After speaking to young people at an inquiry specific 
engagement event the Panel wanted to include a section of the report 
dedicated to what they thought was an extremely useful and beneficial 
session.  They were impressed with knowledge and commitment of the young 
people who attended.  Some of issues raised by Young People include: 
 

• Need more places to go for young people that are safe.  Youth clubs open 

more, leisure centres etc. 

• Need to educate PCSOs to understand what it is like to be a young 

person. 

• More help for mental health. 

• All young people labelled the same, as problem, it is only a small number 

that cause the problems. 

Page 37



 
 

27 
 

• Need to better educate adults in community, PCSO and others so the deal 

with young people fairly, so they can feel safe and respected. 

• Tell young people more about what they can as well as cannot do i.e., 

educate us on things that affect us like scooters. 

 
One of the Flip Charts completed by Young People at ASB engagement event on 9 May 2023 

• To reach young people put things out on the right social media like 

snapchat, Instagram and Tik Toc.   

• More could go out on the youth clubs media accounts. 

• People always look at the bad stuff about young people but what about all 

the good stuff. 

• ASB often adults do it with young people experiencing it. 

• No enforcement at the Quadrant Bus Station so YP feel intimidated, can 

the city centre rangers, PCSO’s do more there. 

• Feel safer in their communities, do not feel safe in city centre or on buses. 

• Littering a real problem in Swansea. 
 

2.6.8 Designing out ASB. This was only raised briefly within the evidence 
gathering, but the Panel felt it should be mentioned as it was a useful tool that 
is and can be used.  The Panel heard that modern building practices on large 
projects can help ‘design out’ ASB.  The careful attention to the planning of 
towns, buildings and housing estates can help reduce crime.  It is well 
documented that good planning and design have a key role to play in 
reducing crime and then also people’s fear it.  The Panel recognised that 

Page 38



 
 

28 
 

‘Designing out Crime’ is considered to be an important part of the planning 
function.   

 
2.6.9 Monitoring and measuring ASB. The Panel agreed that there is a need to 

ensure that the right data is collected that can measure and monitor ASB 
fully and correctly to form a base for future financial and service decision 
making, not only for the Council but also its partners.  

There needs to be data that can be interrogated so that underlying trends 
can be fully recognised and resources targeted. Pobl Housing 

It was recognised that ASB data was predominantly based on South Wales 
Police information. ASB data is monitored and collated via the South Wales 
Police NICHE system.  Niche allows for data to be collated and analysed for 
any developing trends.  The ASB Coordinator has direct access to this 
system in order to update, endorse, process referrals and run reports to 
analyse specific trends, hotspots and perpetrators.  It was felt that although 
this data is useful it does not always provide a wider picture of ASB.  The low 
reporting rate and involvement of other agencies who may deal with issues 
without raising a referral can make the data unrepresentative of the true 
picture of ASB in Swansea.  For example, we heard from social services the 
challenge was that the concept is large, and behaviours considered anti-
social can be broad and wide ranging and of different levels and severity. 
Capturing data can therefore be difficult to collect and pinpoint. 

 

I think if I were to propose one thing that would be particularly useful is some 
kind of wider partnership analyst type role or resource or things that we can 
all contribute to understand better what that data is in Swansea and how we 
can react to it locally.  Pobl Housing Association 

 
The Panel were told that, for example, the quantitative data received by 
CMET provides little context to the type of worries in areas or communities; 
and anti-social behaviour reports are often different depending on the 
communities the teams are working within. To be able to target early 
prevention, it is important to understand what the anti-social behaviour looks 
like. Similarly, in YJS the qualitative information is not received until the 
young person is on a stage 2. This could mean there is the potential to be 
missing opportunities to deliver sessions in schools and in groups at much 
earlier stages.  The Panel were told that ASB is a broad term that 
incorporates a vast range of behaviours, by categorising in this way it can be 
difficult to respond to specific worries and often the opportunity to tackle 
specific concerns is missed. 
 
The Panel felt that good comprehensive data collection would help us all 
target resources and plan future services far better, both as individual 
organisations and as a partnership.  
 
We heard from the Housing Associations that there has also been some 
complexity around data sharing agreements within the world of ASB and 
safeguarding. They said that this is incredibly sensitive data that really needs 

Page 39



 
 

29 
 

to be held with the highest level of confidentiality and they explained how 
they have struggled in the past in terms of some getting to a place where 
they just see the data they need to and not the data that is related to 
residents of other housing associations or elsewhere.  
 
The Panel found that some partners were experiencing difficulty regarding 
data sharing protocols and confidentiality.  Effective data controls for data 
sharing should form part of the wider mapping exercise that the Panel 
recommends takes place in relation to ASB governance.  The Panel 
recognised data must be processed and shared within the confines of the 
law and would encourage all partners to ensure they have agreements in 
place and are they are up to date. 

 
2.6.10 Online world impacts on young people.  The Panel shared the collective 

concerns of CMET, YJS, Evolve and early help teams who are worried about 
how the online world impacts on young people including the online influences 
of social media and the response to ASB. For example, Facebook 
community groups can escalate issues significantly. They heard, for 
example: Under section 49 of the Children and Young Person Act 1933 there 
is an automatic restriction on reporting information that identifies or is likely to 
identify any person under 18 who is involved in youth court proceedings. 
Despite this children are often identified online; this is difficult to monitor 
however it has a significant impact on restorative work and also has a 
detrimental effect on a child’s wellbeing. 

 
We asked whether all those involved with children and young people 
including families understand all the online influences experienced and how 
to keep them safe online.  The Panel heard inappropriate online content can 
be difficult to monitor. Internet challenges are different and they change very 
quickly.  
 
The evidence suggests the need to develop ‘digital resilience’ among young 
people.  If young people know what to look out for, they can avoid things that 
do not seem right. Teaching the difference between healthy and unhealthy 
relationships and give young people the tools to spot warning signs and get out 
of potentially harmful situations is vital.  The Panel heard that services must 
keep a focus on the young person and supporting positive behaviours by 
working with families and the community.  
 
We were pleased to hear about the project to support schools with 
understanding and preventing extra familial harm.  The Panel heard that the 
feedback from the initial school work (as part of contextual safeguarding 
approach and work that the youth service has co-ordinated) has been 
successful and schools have been asking for this to be rolled out further 
using this multi-agency approach, utilising the skills and commitment of our 
partner agencies.  The intention has been to roll this out across Swansea; 
however, all agencies are experiencing resource issues that could impact on 
this being delivered across all areas.  We would like to see this developed 
and continued to be rolled-out across all schools in Swansea. 

 

Page 40



 
 

30 
 

We also recognise the wider work being done by Contextual Missing 
Exploited and Trafficked and Evolve will help in building children and young 
people’s resilience to the online threat. 

 
2.6.11 Complexity of people’s lives. We recognise that it is important to 

understand the often-complex situations of both victims and perpetrators of 
ASBs and how important it is to deal with people in a holistic manner using 
all the skills agencies have that can help. 

 
South Wales Police told the Panel that, for example, the vast majority of 
cases ASB where it involves young people are committed by a nucleus of 
individuals who are well known to services. Their lives are complex, and the 
interventions put in place also span a number of partnership services and 
their peer influence can be significant.  
 
We heard from Housing that as a social landlord the objective to support 
people to sustain their tenancies and to help create communities which are 
safe and secure. They said some tenants have complex needs and present 
challenging behaviour.  They work closely with those tenants and with other 
services as appropriate, in an effort to modify that behaviour.  Engagement is 
often challenging and it is complex and influenced by many different factors. 
The Panel were pleased to hear that Housing will engage with people in 
whatever way works for them and by accessing services of partners to 
support that. 
 

What we see and what can be difficult, is the small cohort of people who are 
transitioning in and out of supported housing, in and out of general needs, in 
and out of prison, in and out of mental health institutions or detox or rehab.  It 
does not feel like the right thing has been designed for and/or works for this 
group of people across the services. It is quite a small group in the number, 
but they are costly to services and costly to their lives. They are not getting 
what they need in terms of a therapeutic intervention. And I think the model 
for them has yet to be designed. Coastal Housing Association 

 
The Panel heard that some individuals may have experienced adverse 
childhood experiences which can lead to substance dependency, mental 
health issues, chaotic lifestyles etc. Individuals with complex needs can be 
victims themselves and vulnerable to coercion, cuckooing and exploitation. 
We heard that the Council works both locally and at a strategic level to 
ensure the right support and advice is available to such individuals whilst 
also trying to minimise the impact of their behaviour on the wider community. 
 
We heard from Coastal Housing that many of the causes of ASB are much 
bigger than they or any social landlord can solve. Indeed, they felt that the 
Council is more able to exert influence over some of the wider issues like 
poverty, social inequality, childhood trauma, institutionalisation, trauma within 
systems, you know, prisons, criminal justice, mental health and looked after 
children.  
 
 

Page 41



 
 

31 
 

Coastal Housing Association told us they use an ASB risk matrix which helps 
determine vulnerability and risk. This is key to determining what is the most 
proportionate response in this situation and to understand the real impact. 
They said it would be interesting to see if there was if there was a way using 
this so there is more consistency across services. 
 

2.6.12 Engaging with support.  Panel members heard that as much as individuals 
are encouraged to engage in support and prevention work, this is all 
voluntary. The anti-social behaviour process is not able to enforce statutory 
involvement with services. 

 
2.6.13 The Panel recommend to Cabinet that it: 
 

• Ask the Safer Swansea Partnership to investigate how to improve levels of 
reporting of incidents of ASB including asking South Wales South Wales 
Police to consider its response times in relation to the 101 non-emergency 
line and to simplifying the online reporting form. (R14) 

• Investigate the possibility of developing a multi-agency mediation 
resource. (R15) 

• Look to counteract the negative ‘online world’ impacts on children and 
young people by (R16) 
 continuing to build on and share the expertise and information 

available. 
 Resource the CMET training that will support schools with 

understanding and preventing extra familial harm.  
 Consider extending this training to Gower College and to others who 

work with young people.  

• Work with Community Centres to encourage more use of facilities for/by 
young people and vulnerable groups. (R18) 

• Develop and build upon appropriate data collection process in order to 
help plan future service provision and monitor effectiveness of strategies 
used. This monitoring process should be linked to the ASB Home Office 5 
key principles (once they are formalised). (R23) 

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Panel commends Cabinet to consider all issues and ideas raised by this inquiry 
and, in particular, the recommendations set out below. 

The Panel recognises that the Authority  
 
(a) will need to ensure that any subsequent actions are legal and meet the 

requirements of any relevant legislation.   
(b) has a responsibility to make the best use of limited resources and that any 

additional costs will need to be considered carefully as part of the annual budget 
setting process.   

 
The Panel has kept these principles in mind in the course of its investigations.  
 
 

Page 42



 
 

32 
 

Recommendations 

Cabinet is asked to consider those recommendations that they are directly 
responsible for, but also make representation on behalf of the Council, where 
agreeable, in support of any recommendation that would require action from others, 
such as the Safer Swansea Partnership. 

The Panel recommends that Cabinet: 

R1. Investigates options for appointing an independent chair for ASB Case 
Reviews and then put most appropriate option put in place. This should be 
done as a matter of urgency. 

R2. Continues to build upon and embed the five key ASB Home Office principles 
into the work of the Council. 

R3. Looks at devolving the Community Protection Warning / Community 
Protection Notice powers to Housing Associations, with consideration being 
given to their use by other partners. 

R4. Carries out a Council wide mapping exercise to establish and provide clarity in 
relation to ASB.  It should include, but not be restricted to the governance, 
roles, resources, regulatory powers and other tools used (or available), use of 
the referral process and equity of services provided to the public. 

R5. Looks into providing resources to do more targeted work with primary school 
aged children that includes ASB preventative matters. 

R6. Widens the current membership of the Public Services Board and Safer 
Swansea Partnership to include local Housing Associations. 

R7. Investigates the potential of developing a partnership hub/office where 
services to ASB across organisations can be co-located. 

R8. Works with key partner organisations to improve the understanding of each 
other’s roles in order to help provide clarity and consistency of approach to 
ASB for the service user and the public.  This should include a map of the 
services and powers available across the partnership.  

R9. Develops a Multi-Agency Strategic Forum where solutions to cross cutting 
themes and ways or working can be discussed. 

R10. Ensures that good feedback mechanisms for the public are in place across 
the Council and that we use that feedback to improve the services we provide. 

R11. Considers and reviews accessibility to information about ASB in order to 
ensure ease of access.  

• Ensure key information is available in different languages, formats and in 
physical form.   

• That we look to have information available in different locations in the 
Council across the partner public locations. 

Page 43



 
 

33 
 

• Build on how we target information to suit those we are looking to reach 
i.e., young people. 

• Review the Councils website content in relation to ASB with a view to 
expanding what is available. 

 
R12. Maximises the opportunities to raise awareness of ASB, in particular: 

• Publicise good news stories about work that is done by the Council.  

• Communicate and raise awareness of young people’s positive activities in 
the community. 

• Look to influence and change the negative narrative and language used 
about young people in the media. 

• Provide information and raise awareness of the ASB Case Review. 

• Link up with the new Council’s Community engagement office located at 
waterfront Museum. 

 
R13. Looks to further build upon the intergenerational work with young people and 

the older generation, do this in conjunction with the voluntary sector where 
appropriate. 

 
R14. Asks the Safer Swansea Partnership to investigate how to improve levels of 

reporting of incidents of ASB including asking South Wales Police to consider 
its response times in relation to the 101 non-emergency telephone line and to 
simplify the online reporting form. 

 
R15. Investigates the possibility of developing a multi-agency mediation resource. 
 
R16. Looks to counteract negative ‘online world’ impacts on children and young 

people by  
d) continuing to build on and share the expertise and information available. 
e) resource the Contextual Missing Exploited Trafficked Team training that 

will support schools with understanding and preventing extra familial harm.  
f) consider extending this training to Gower College and to others who 

regularly work with young people.  
 

R17. Looks to increase the number of Youth Workers in Swansea with the aim of 
every community across the City and County of Swansea having dedicated 
Youth Worker Support. 

 
R18. Work with Community Centres to encourage more use of facilities for/by 

young people and vulnerable groups. 
 
R19. Looks into the potential of Housing Associations contributing to some of our 

environmental services like noise abatement and fly tipping in order to 
increase their levels of service provision. 

R20. Cabinet ensures more regular deep cleans of the City Centre particularly in 
and around the Quadrant Bus Station. 

Page 44



 
 

34 
 

R21. Cabinet work with local businesses and the Business Improvement District 
(BID) with the aim of tidying up shop fronts and rubbish storage across the 
City Centre. 

R22. Cabinet carryout regular ‘walk throughs’ of the city centre and communities 
across Swansea to see the locations through the ‘eyes of the public’ and to 
identify issues of concern.  This should be done in conjunction with 
appropriate officers and local ward members. 

R23. Develops and builds upon appropriate data collection processes in order to 
help plan future service provision and monitor effectiveness of strategies 
used. This monitoring process should be closely linked to the ASB Home 
Office 5 key principles (once they are formalised). 

 
R24. Make representations to Police and Crime Commissioner’s Officer asking 

them to consider grant funding on a medium-term basis (i.e., 3 yearly). 
  

Page 45



 
 

35 
 

FURTHER SCRUTINY NEEDED  
 
As well as our recommendations for Cabinet we have also come across an issue that 
we feel requires further scrutiny. We propose to the Scrutiny Programme Committee, 
therefore, that it considers adding examination of the following topic to the Scrutiny 
Work Programme: 

• Youth provision in Swansea including the provision and current issues like 
preventative work, funding and the difficulty in recruiting qualified youth workers. 

  

Page 46



 
 

36 
 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

The Panel is very grateful to everyone who contributed to the inquiry. 

The Panel would, in particular, like to thank the following people for all of their help 
and for the information provided. 
 
South Wales South Wales Police 
Coastal Housing Association 
Pobl Housing Association 
Young People and Youth Workers at Brynhyfryd Early Help Hub Event 
Cabinet Members: Alyson Pugh, Hayley Gwilliam, Louise Gibbard and Andrea Lewis 
Council Department’s including Education, Social Services (including CMET, YJS 
and Evolve) and Place 
Anti-Social Behaviour Co-ordinator 
Local Area Co-ordination 
Community Engagement Transformation Lead Officer 
Aging Well representatives 
LGBTQ+ Forum representatives 
Disability Forum representatives 
Black Minority Ethnic Communities Forum representatives 
Swansea Against Business Crime representative 
Business Improvement District (BID) representative 
City Centre Manager 
Swansea Council for Voluntary Service (SCVS)  
Urban Foundry Ltd representative 
Mumbles Traders representative 
Victim Support written submission 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 
 

37 
 

ABOUT THE INQUIRY PANEL  

The Anti-Social Behaviour Scrutiny Inquiry Panel is a team of Councillors who 
are not members of the Cabinet, appointed by the Council’s Scrutiny Programme 
Committee.  Inquiry Panels will examine a strategic issue of concern and make 
recommendations about how policies and services can be improved. 

Members of the Panel 

Terry Hennegan (Convener) 

Sam Bennett 

Adam Davis 

Mike Day 

Victoria Holland 

Yvonne Jardine 

Alan Jeffrey 

Matthew Jones 

Mary Jones 

Cheryl Philpott 

Brigitte Rowlands 

Mark Tribe 

 

The inquiry was supported by Michelle Roberts from the Council’s Scrutiny Team. 

For further information contact: 

Michelle Roberts 
Scrutiny Officer 
City and County of Swansea 
michelle.roberts@swansea.gov.uk  

 

Page 48

mailto:michelle.roberts@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Economy, Finance & Strategy  
 

Cabinet – 21 December 2023 
 

 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring 2nd Quarter 2023/24 
 

Purpose: To report on financial monitoring of the 2023/24 
revenue and capital budgets, including the 
delivery of budget savings. 
 

Policy Framework: Budget 2023/24. 
Transformation and Future Council  
 

Consultation: Cabinet Members, Corporate Management 
Team, Legal and Access to Services. 
 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

1) Notes the comments and variations, including the heightened 
material uncertainties around equal pay provisions, set out in the 
report and the actions in hand to seek to address these. 
 

2) Approves the virements and the use of the Contingency fund as set 
out in 3.2 and the Inflation provision as set out in 4.3 subject to any 
further advice from the S.151 officer during the year. 
 

3) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reinforces the need for all Directors to continue to minimise service 
spending in year, providing clear recovery plans where they are 
overspending, recognising that the budget overall is currently 
balanced only by relying on future (but far from wholly assured) 
reimbursement from Welsh Government, centrally held contingency 
budgets and increasingly reserves. 

4) Recognises that directorate cost overspends must be absolutely 
minimised, through recovery plans, given the proposed material pay 
provision, in current year by targeted recovery action with a clear 
expectation of ‘tough’ rebasing choices to achieve a balanced 
budget for the 2024/25 budget round.   
 

5) Note the indicative overspend in 6.1 with further actions to be 
confirmed in subsequent quarters once it is clearer as to the likely final 
cost of the equal pay award provision. 
 

Report Author: 
 

Ben Smith 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8.



Finance Officer: 
 

Ben Smith 

Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
 

Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 
 

 
1. Background and Introduction 

 
1.1 This report details forecast variations from the agreed budget for 2023/24.  

 
1.2 In respect of Revenue Budgets, this report provides a consolidated forecast, which 

 combines: 

 projected variations in relation to budget savings agreed by Council in March 
2023 

 Variations arising from other service pressures not directly linked to specific 
savings plans (e.g. increased service demand, price and pay inflation, 
increased, but most often unfunded, regulatory obligations and burdens from 
both UK and Welsh governments) 

 
1.3 The report includes comments from Directors in relation to the variations 

 highlighted and the action that is in hand or proposed as appropriate. 
 

1.4 The implementation of Oracle Fusion delayed Quarter 1 reporting by one monthly 
cycle but the system is now working sufficiently well enough to give assurance to 
the S.151 Officer that the finance and performance reporting process is working in 
line with previous expectations and timescales.  The remaining issues are 
considered not fundamental to the core budget monitoring and reporting on the 
financial position.  
 

1.5 There is also, as members will be aware widescale reporting of financial pressures 
especially in England. Risks are growing for the whole of local government and 
whilst the Council has high earmarked reserves, with an equally ambitious set of 
spending plans to match, it has especially low General Reserves already at the 
absolute minimum of acceptability to the S.151 Officer. In line with all other 
councils, it is now rapidly reviewing once again equal pay claims and potential 
liabilities. At this stage, prudently, a new pay liability, tentatively priced at £15m is 
included in the projections.  Even if it were proven fully needed (and it is indeed 
contingent on other events first before being wholly assured), it can be afforded, 
albeit with consequences (by reducing options for other spending elsewhere) and is 
proposed to be fully covered by an equal pay provision created and charged in the 
current year on the recommendation of the S.151 Officer.  
 

2. Revenue Outturn Forecast Based on 2nd Quarter Position 
 

2.1 Appendix ‘A’ to this report details the approved Revenue Budget for 2023/24 and 
 the forecast variation at this time. 
 

2.2 Other than projected variations on Directorate expenditure, it is still too soon to 
 confidently forecast final variations that may arise on some significant Corporate 
 items,  including the level of Council Tax collection (which posted a small surplus in 
2022/23 of £32k). At present, break-even is assumed, but there may be some 

Page 50



scope for a repeated surplus given a very prudent (lower) level of collection rate 
was set for 2023/24.   

 
2.3 The overall Directorate position is summarised below:- 

 
2.4 Directors’ comments on the above variations are shown at Appendix B. 

 
2.5 Within the Successful and Sustainable Swansea Corporate Transformation Plan, 

work continues to develop service delivery plans linked to savings targets and 
prioritisation of services. This includes the cross-cutting nature of new reviews as 
well as the completion of current in-flight reviews.  
 

2.6 The table above shows an estimated service overspend for the year of £5.742 
million but this will ultimately be influenced by the final pay award once 
implemented.  

 
2.7 Services are now operating business as usual but there will be an ongoing impact 

from Covid for example where income levels have not recovered fully. 
 
2.8 Service variations currently assumed the existing local government pay offer will be 

implemented as is at some point (an average 7% pay award but with wide 
variations between grades). The pay offer from the Employers remained a flat rate 
£1,925, which was fully budgeted for, but some Trade Unions were in dispute with 
national employers. The pay deal has now been accepted by a majority of unions 
and has been implemented and paid after the cut off point for this second quarter 
forecast but before the time this report is being considered at Cabinet. Vehicle fuel 
costs are already feeding into reported forecast overspends in some areas (home 
to school transport and bus services support) and these are reflected where known 
but remain volatile. Whilst in year energy costs are being closely monitored and 
assessed to remain afforded within reasonable tolerance of the overall budgets set 
for the current year, because of material and one-off earmarked use of reserves to 
provide for one-off enhanced central inflation budgets, the position remains 
extremely volatile and challenging for new energy forward purchases and will 
undoubtedly be a very significant burden on future year base budgets (£millions).  
 

2.9 Corporate Management Team has re-enforced the current arrangements for budget 
monitoring in particular: 

 focus on a range of corrective actions, 

DIRECTORATE      

 FORECAST     

 VARIATION     

 2023/24     

 £000     

CORPORATE SERVICES -35     

FINANCE -656     

SOCIAL SERVICES 2,312     

EDUCATION 465     

PLACE 3,656     
      

NET SERVICE EXPENDITURE 5,742      

Page 51



 targeted immediate spend minimisation and deferral action, 

 strict spending control on all vacancies and contracts, 

 a continued reminder that no Responsible Officer is authorised to 
overspend their budget in line with Financial Procedure Rules, 

 consequently, that Directors must work closely with Cabinet Members and the 
Corporate Management Team to contain, reduce, defer, and delay spending as 
far as possible, having due regard, to existing agreed budget and political 
priorities to nonetheless seek to limit service spending, 

 to agree credible recovery plans where there is current overspending and for 
these to be shared and agreed with the Chief Executive and S.151 Officer for 
assurance purposes, 

 whilst recognising that the overall spend pressures are near wholly post-Covid, 
inflation or pay award and now pay risk related and that reserves were 
bolstered to temporarily assist with some such pressures. 
 

2.10 Offsetting opportunities do exist to temporarily ameliorate some of the currently 
identified service demand and price pressures as follows:    

 £20.330m was set aside mostly one-off to meet any significant inflationary 
increases arising in year, specifically for the increased energy costs.   Given the 
overall financial projection at this stage, it is proposed by the S.151 Officer that 
any residual sum be earmarked as a compensating funding mechanism for part 
of the new equal pay provision. 

 Use of the Contingency Fund as detailed below. 
 

3. Contingency Fund Provision for 2023/24 
 

3.1 The Contingency Fund budgeted contribution was set at £6.118m contribution for 
2023/24 as set out in the budget report approved by Council in March 2023. There 
was no balance brought forward from 2022/23 as the Contingency Fund was fully 
utilised, so the total available for use in 2023/24 remains at £6.118m.  

 
3.2 The current potential calls on the Contingency Fund for 2023/24 are: 

Contingency Fund 2023/24 
 

2023/24 
(£m) 

Budgeted contribution for year. 6.118 

Funding Agreed deferred specific savings as per 
Council decision 2nd March 2023 

-0.901 

Corporate Services Items - various one-off items 
reflecting known cost pressures (inc. coroners 
costs, card processing fees) – to be addressed 
in base in future years  -0.330 

Corporate Services – Auditel costs to improve 
hybrid meeting functionality/stability -0.027 

Corporate Services make good slight shortfall 
on already agreed Recovery Fund Scheme to 
support occupational health expansion 

-0.018 

Potential legal costs – litigations and mitigations -0.500 

Place Services additional costs as per Exempt 
Cabinet Decisions in year – Regeneration -0.825 

Defibrillators – additional roll out  -0.075 

Page 52



 
 
 
 

 
 
The above table lists current potential calls on the budgeted Contingency Fund. All 
are anticipated to be one off costs.  The final amounts will be dependent on a 
number of factors during the year including speed of implementation, actual 
costs/commitments incurred and final Directorate outturn position. Spend approvals 
will be deliberately limited to seek to maximise underspend here as part of 
mitigating budget savings action, including equal pay risks.  
 
As at 1st April 2023 the balance of the Restructure Reserve was £2.8m, however on 
20th April 2023 Cabinet agreed the use of £2.433m of this for the Workforce and 
Digital Transformation programmes, leaving a balance of £0.367m to contribute 
toward ER/VR or other cost risks that may arise in 2023/24. The S.151 Officer 
remains satisfied that this is sufficient for 2023/24 taken in conjunction with the 
balance on contingency this year to fund such costs.  The final costs of ER/VR will 
only be known towards the end of the year once all management actions re savings 
proposals etc are implemented. At this stage it is assumed that all ER/VR costs will 
be able to be contained either within Services or from existing earmarked reserves.  
 
Based on current forecast the S.151 Officer proposes to utilise the current year 
forecast underspend on the Contingency Fund of up to £2.587m to provide 
additional mitigation, together with the forecast unused element of the inflation 
provision of £3.649m (some £6.236m in total) toward the potential equal pay risk 
provision.   
 
The one-off nature of the funding sources cannot be understated, the excess 
unbudgeted base costs will impact directly and significantly on the base 
budget pressures for 2024/25 and do not solve the inflationary pressures, 
merely defer most of the problem a year. 

  
However, the S.151 Officer proposes to reserve his final position on the 
recommended levels of use of the Restructure Reserve and Contingency Fund until 
the absolute success or otherwise of reducing the forecast overspend is known at 
year-end. 
 

3.3 The current indication is that, for 2023/24, there needs to be continued targeted 
 mitigating action and delivery of savings proposals to help reduce the overall 
 overspend. It looks inevitable as this early stage that some draws from contingency 
and earmarked reserves will be needed to achieve a fully balanced budget for the 
year, but this was somewhat anticipated and led to the material bolstering of 
earmarked reserves at outturn and the enhanced one-off central inflation provision. 
Any inroads to net spending will reduce the necessary draw from reserves and 
increase the amount of reserves available to carry into 2024/25.    
 

3.4 The action being taken includes working through existing plans on an accelerated 
 delivery basis: 

 Management and Business Support Review: ongoing review of the 
management structure across the Council and future requirements given the 

EMS vehicle costs -0.005 

Car Parks extended offer on pricing tariffs  -0.850 

Part contribution for new Equal Pay Provision -2.587 

Balance 31st March 2024  0.0 

Page 53



Council’s priorities, future challenges and the changing nature of the role of 
managers. 

 Managing the Pay Bill: review of options to contain or reduce employee costs 
across the Council as part of our overall future workforce strategy (subject to 
trade union consultation at the appropriate time). 

 Commercialism through third party Procurement Savings and Income 
Generation: review of further options to increase income from fees and 
charges, trading etc, in addition to the targets already set. 

 Progressing implementation of residual phases Commissioning Reviews and 
Cross Cutting Themes. 

 Further implementation of the Social Services Saving Plan through which we 
have identified mechanisms for bringing down overall costs. 

 On the basis that these are existing agreed actions fully set out in the agreed 
budget set by Council in March.  

 Continuing the extant spending restrictions which have been agreed as 
necessary by Corporate Management Team. 

 Directors detailed action plans as summarised in their Appendix B commentary.  

 The Director of Corporate Services leading the Recovery Plan implementation 
as agreed by Cabinet to agree alternative mitigating actions and future steps, 
taking into account post Covid 19 and Brexit.  

 
3.5 It should be noted that at this time, although the Council continues to pursue VAT 

related claims when applicable, there is NO certainty of windfalls from VAT refunds, 
or any other external source being received in the current year. 
 

4. Inflation Provision 2023/24 
 

4.1 The 2023/24 budget includes a provision of £20.330m for both inflation (£19.330m) 
and the Apprenticeship Levy (£1m).  This was increased specifically because of the 
levels of general inflation forecast for 2023/24 and because of the unprecedented 
energy price rises. 
 

4.2 The Apprenticeship Levy funding will be wholly needed for the Levy this year, with 
no underspend available to fund service overspending. 
 

4.3 The current potential calls on the Inflation Provision are as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Inflation Provision 2023/24 
 

2023/24 
(£m) 

Budgeted contribution for year. 19.330 

Social Care Energy Costs -1.000 

Education Home to School Transport Costs -1.000 

Schools Energy Costs -6.000 

Council as Corporate Landlord Energy Costs 
(Including Street Lighting) 

-6.000 

Community Groups Energy Costs support -0.250 

Freedom Leisure Energy Costs support -1.021 

Wales National Pool Energy costs support -0.200 

Arena Energy Costs support -0.210 

Balance 31st March 2024  3.649 

Page 54



 
5. Savings Tracker 2023/24 

 
5.1 Since the onset of the COVID pandemic, the service savings built into the annual 

budget have not been specifically and separately monitored.  As the budget has 
been underspent in each year then the savings have been assumed to be met. 

 
5.2 As the operation of the Council is now back to “business as usual” the monitoring of 

specific savings has resumed.  In line with the monitoring process pre-pandemic, 
each Director monitors and reports on progress of individual savings.  A summary 
of this progress is attached at Appendix C. 
 

5.3 The summary shows that against a savings target of £21.9m, £16.6m or some 76% 
is forecast to be achieved by the end of the year. 
 

5.4 In addition to the list of savings deferred one year at Council in March 2023, any 
minor previous savings proposed funded temporarily in year from contingency as 
part of Cabinet budget monitoring reports will be treated as equivalently deferred 
and removed from the target. 

 
6. Revenue Budget Summary 

 
6.1 The position reported above reflects the best-known current position and shows a 

 net £5.742m shortfall in service revenue budgets. This is as a result of pressures 
mainly in the care sector and home to school transport. 
 
Summary 

  

 £'m 

Service Forecast overspend     5.742 

Estimated equal pay provision 
 

15.000 

Less Mitigating   

Inflation provision earmarked for estimated 
equal pay provision 

-3.649 

Contingency Fund earmarked for estimated 
equal pay provision 

-2.587 

Capital financing underspend exceptionally 
not added to Capital Equalisation Reserve 

-7.000 

  

Net overspend forecast, currently met by 
additional draws from reserves               

7.506 

 
a. Corporate Management Team have reinforced the expectation that both 

service and overall net expenditure must be, contained within the relevant 
limits of the current year budget as set by Council, and certainly within any 
agreed level of tolerance set by Cabinet on the advice of the S.151 Officer.  

b. Included in the projected budget for 2023/24 for other corporate items are 
capital finance charges. At this stage there is a likely £7m minimum 
underspend on capital finance charges and any underspending here will now 
be required to help fund the equal pay provision and thus will exceptionally 

Page 55



not be available to add to the Capital equalisation Reserve this year. This will 
be reviewed and updated during the year as emerging capital demands and 
equally slippage arise. The implemented capital financing strategy was 
formulated to smooth the impact of the implementation of the revised MRP 
policy whilst also taking advantage of drawing down long-term borrowing at 
historically low interest.   

c. There continue to be risks around general inflationary pay and price pressures 
this year and for future years, including increases to the National Living Wage 
which will significantly impact contractors to the Council in some service areas 
next year. It will also put further pressure on the lower end of the current local 
government pay spine in future years. There is finally resolution to the 
2023/24 national local government/teachers’ pay awards, but attention will 
already be turning to next year’s pay negotiations which will continue to be 
dominated by affordability issues on one hand with persisting, albeit likely 
falling, inflation and the impact of the rise in the Real Living Wage.   

d. Detailed monitoring of budgets will continue and will be reported to the 
monthly Departmental Performance and Financial Management meetings.  

e. It remains imperative that sustainable base budget savings are found to 
replace in year one off actions to stabilise the 2023/24 budget ahead of the 
2024/25 budget round. 

 
6.2 Costs in the delivery and implementation of the Oracle Fusion ICT project 

estimated arising directly as a result of delays related mostly to the pandemic are 
needing to be funded during 2023/24.  The S.151 Officer proposed to meet these 
costs from reserves already established and already carried forward. A separate 
project update report was considered at Cabinet in October 2023.  
 

7. Capital Budget 
 

7.1 Expenditure to 30th September 2023 is £41.595 million, summarised as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure on major capital schemes is detailed in Appendix D. 
 
Second quarter expenditure figures remain low, however this is expected to pick for 
the remainder of the financial year. The general impact of inflation remains 
pervasive across the wider economy and continues to have an impact on all capital 
projects where materials and external labour is required.  
 

Directorate Budget 
2023/24 

Actual 
to 

30/09/23 

% 
Spend 

 £'000 £'000  

Corporate Services 3,521 317 9.0% 

Finance 985 0 0.0% 

Education 10,594 1,598 15.1% 

Social Services 2,208 89 4.0% 

Place (General Fund) 143,667 25,746 17.9% 

Place (HRA) 47,728 13,845 29.0% 

       

Total 208,703 41,595 19.9% 

Page 56



However, material increases above 5% of the cost of a programme are required to 
be formally approved.  
There is an expected impact on the revenue Capital Financing Charges in 2023/24 
and future years. 
 

8. Housing Revenue Account  
 

8.1 The HRA has faced significant inflationary pressures over recent years. These 
pressures continue and have led to the need to increase revenue budgets 
significantly for 2023/24. Higher than forecast increases in employee costs, 
increases in utility costs and in particular increases in materials costs for revenue 
and capital repairs has meant that there will be less financial resources available to 
the HRA to fund Capital projects in the medium and longer term. 

 
8.2 The revenue repairs budget for 2023/24 has been increased by £4.4m however 

there are still significant additional demands on this budget. These include, the 
back log of repairs following Covid, additional spend on void repairs to speed up 
relet times because of the Homelessness crisis and the additional repair 
requirements of the Welsh Government’s Renting Homes legislation. This budget 
will be closely monitored over the course of the year to ensure there is sufficient 
funding to meet these needs. 

 
8.3  The current economic climate and cost of living crisis, along with Welfare Reform 

and the continued implementation of Universal Credit are impacting rent collection 
rates, and it is being closely monitored with measures employed to mitigate these 
impacts.  During this quarter, rent arrears and the number of households in rent 
arrears have risen and it is projected they will continue to increase throughout this 
year.  It is too early in the year to forecast the full impact on rent arrears and the 
budgeted Bad Debt Provision. 
 

9. Legal Issues 
 

9.1 There are no legal issues contained within this report. 
 

10. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 

10.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the 
socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and 
the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, 
have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage. 

  Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

Page 57



 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. Ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 

10.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public 
bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development 
means the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle, aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 
 

10.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due regard 
to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, such as 
poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 
 

10.4 The Revenue budget of the Council was approved following the application of the 
corporate Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process throughout the Budget 
setting process.  It is essential where service levels are affected by changes to the 
Revenue Budgets (including savings options) that the IIA process (alongside 
consultation and engagement as appropriate) is applied to ensure due regard is 
paid to the potential equality impacts of any proposals prior to decision making.  

 
 
 
Background papers: - None 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Revenue Budget forecast 2023/24 
Appendix B – Directors comments on variances and action plans 
Appendix C – Savings Tracker 
Appendix D – Expenditure on major Capital Schemes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



REVENUE BUDGET PROJECTION QUARTER 1 2023/24                                          Appendix A 

      

DIRECTORATE BUDGET  PROJECTED  VARIATION 

 2023/24  2023/24  2023/24 

 £000  £000  £000 
CORPORATE SERVICES 21,884  21,849  -35 
FINANCE 33,738  33,082  -656 

SOCIAL SERVICES 158,032  160,344  2,312 

EDUCATION 215,052  215,517  465 

PLACE 76,655   80,311  3,656 
      

NET DIRECTORATE EXPENDITURE 505,361   511,103  5,742 
SPECIFIC PROVISION FOR 
APPRENTICESHIP LEVY/INFLATION  

 
15,330  11,681  -3,649 

CONTINGENCY FUND               4,764   2,177  -2,587 

Estimated Equal Pay Provision 0  15,000  15,000 

      

OTHER ITEMS      

LEVIES      
   SWANSEA BAY PORT HEALTH 
AUTHORITY 89  89  0 

CORPORATE JOINT COMMITTEE 212  212  0 

      

CONTRIBUTIONS      
   MID & WEST WALES COMBINED FIRE     
AUTHORITY 17,122  17,122  0 

CAPITAL FINANCING CHARGES       

  PRINCIPAL REPAYMENTS  15,574  15,574  0 

  NET INTEREST CHARGES 23,360  16,360  -7,000 

NET REVENUE EXPENDITURE 581,812   589,318  7,506 

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES      

 GENERAL RESERVES 0   0   0 

 EARMARKED RESERVES -22,278  -29,784  -7,506 
      

TOTAL BUDGET REQUIREMENT 559,534   559,534   0 

DISCRETIONARY RATE RELIEF 418  418  0 

TOTAL CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 
REQUIREMENT 559,952   559,952   0 

COMMUNITY COUNCIL PRECEPTS 1,829  1,829  0 

TOTAL REQUIREMENT   561,781   561,781   0 

      

FINANCING OF TOTAL REQUIREMENT      

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT 339,280  339,280  0 

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES 79,002  79,002  0 

COUNCIL TAX  - CITY AND COUNTY OF 
SWANSEA 141,670  141,670  0 

COUNCIL TAX  - COMMUNITY COUNCILS 1,829  1,829  0 

TOTAL FINANCING   561,781   561,781   0 

Page 59



 Appendix B 
Director’s comments on budget variances 
    
Director of Corporate Services 
 
The budget position in the second quarter reports that the Corporate Services 
directorate is forecasting an underspend of £35,000 by the year end.   
 

Variance (under -)/over 
spend 

£000 Explanation and Action 

Director of Corporate 
Services 

-136 Underspend as a result of efficiency 
measures within the directorate, which 
will be used to help offset the forecast 
overspend in HR&OD. 

Communications and 
Marketing 

-77 Net employee and Supplies and 
Services underspend across the 
services 

Digital and Customer 
Services 

0 Various compensating under/over 
spends relating to staff costs, contracts 
and licenses, but overall forecasting 
break even by year end. 

Human Resources and 
Organisational 
Development 

178 Overspend forecast due to unfunded 
card transaction fee costs. 

Legal and Democratic 
Services  

0 Various compensating under/over 
spends relating to staff costs and 
external legal fees, but overall 
forecasting break even by year end. 

   

Total Forecast Variation -35  

 
 

Director of Finance 
 
The budget position in the first quarter shows the Finance directorate underspending.   
 

Variance (under -)/over 
spend 

£000 Explanation and Action 

   

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS) 

-347 Demand led spending which continues 
to be carefully managed to contain 
costs. Demand is monitored monthly 
and is rising month on month and 
consequently the current year end 
forecast underspend may yet reduce 
further during the year.   

Other variations -309 
 

Modest underspending across a range 
of employee and supplies and services 
costs.   

   

Total Forecast Variation -656  

Page 60



Director of Social Services 
 

Variance (under -)/ 
overspend 

£000 Explanation and Action 

Adult Services, 
Prevention and Tackling 
Poverty  

1,328 There are £2.2m of pressures in 
respect of support for those with 
Mental Health and Learning 
Disabilities, with £1.25m of this 
attributable to the cost of external 
residential care.  
 
An overspend of £761k is forecast in 
respect of Direct Payment costs.  
 
These pressures are offset by an 
income and vacancy driven 
underspend of £962k within our Direct 
Service Provision. 

Child & Family Services  -489 A forecast staffing underspend of 
£2.45m has been offset by an 
expected overspend within 
Independent Placements.  

Grants, Commissioning & 
Partnerships 

-220 Underspends forecast in this area are 
attributable to staffing and grant 
income.  

Integrated Services for 
Older People 

 1,684 We are forecasting overspends in 
respect of the Domiciliary Care and 
Residential Care that we commission. 
The largest overspend is £1.2m in 
respect of Domiciliary Care, where 
activity levels have increased but 
income levels have not followed.   
 
This is partially offset by forecast 
underspends our own staffing 
establishment.  

Resources Hub  9 A small overspend is currently 
forecast.  

Total Social Services  2,312  

 
Director's Comments 
 
We are currently forecasting an overall overspend of £2.3m for the Directorate. The 
largest area of overspend remains our Externally Commissioned Care and we have 
identified pressures across the Directorate that contribute to this in respect of both 
income and expenditure.  
 
Whilst the current forecast is that the Directorate will overspend, there are several 
significant underspends currently forecast with the majority pertaining to staffing. We 
are conscious of the impact of staffing vacancies and actions to fill vacant posts are 

Page 61



a business priority. Current forecasts presume current vacancies will be filled on a 
timely basis.  
I have shared my recovery plan with the relevant Cabinet Members, the Chief 
Executive and the Director of Finance who are assured the Directorate is taking all 
necessary and reasonable steps to conserve spend and maximise partner 
contributions. Should it be required, we will consider the targeted use of service 
specific earmarked reserves to get the optimal balance of living within our budget 
and ensuring prioritised care needs are met. 

 
Director of Education 

 

Variance (under -)/ 
overspend 

£000 Explanation and Action 

Vulnerable Learner Service 850 £550k of this overspend relates to Maes 
Derw/PRU. This is due to overspends on 
staff, agency and transport along with an 
unachievable saving.   
 
There is also a projected overspend of 
£195k relating to transport costs of 
independent placements and up to £200k 
overspend on Psychology (depending on 
pay award). 
 
These are partially offset by forecast 
underspends due to some in year grants 
offsetting core budget. 

Education Planning and 
Resources 

-2,355 A forecast underspend on primary and 
secondary school maternity and pension 
payments, and also increased income for 
the School Meals Service. 

Achievement and 
Partnership Service 

-315 Underspends forecast in this area are 
largely attributable to staffing and some 
supplies and services. 

School Transport 2,285 We are forecasting overspends in 
respect of School Transport. This is 
Primary and Secondary mainstream, 
Special Schools, and also additional 
learning needs (ALN). £1m has been 
funded from the central inflation provision 
to offset increasing costs. 

Total Education 465  

 
Director’s Comments  

 
We are currently forecasting an overall overspend of £465k for the Directorate but 
with careful planning, one off savings and utilising grants in year, this will be 
mitigated by year end.  

 

Page 62



School Transport is predicted to overspend by £2.3m, due to increases in fuel and 
contract prices, and is subject to change as the indexation for September has to be 
finalised, although this is expected at 2.75%.  There has also been a steady increase 
in demand, particularly for learners with additional needs.  There are also savings 
targets for walking routes which are taking longer to implement and be achieved.  
The overall position has improved since the last quarter due to a £1m budget 
increase from the inflation provision acknowledging the uncontrollable pressure the 
service is facing. 

 
The Vulnerable Learning Service and Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) is also predicting an 
overspend of £850k.  This is largely due to the use of agency staff and transport of 
pupils.  This is being monitored and where appropriate changes made, i.e. taking on 
temporary/fixed term staff to reduce agency costs.  The Psychology Service is 
overspent, however until the Soulbury pay award has been agreed, the full impact on 
this budget and other areas within the service is unknown and estimated at this 
stage. 

 
Whilst the overall forecast is that the Directorate will overspend, there are several 
significant underspends currently forecast which will help offset some of this.  
Currently maternity and pensions paid to primary and secondary school staff is 
volatile and by the final quarter we will hopefully have a better understanding of 
demand and will have reduced expenditure which will be used to offset the predicted 
overspend.  This supports the MTFP where £1.6m of savings have been allocated 
against maternity and pensions at schools.   

 
We continue to focus on controlling our costs and maximising income from grants 
and will continue to use grant funding to offset core costs where this is allowable. 

 
There are other areas of identified demand and cost pressures, in spite of the 
continuing delivery of the Education strategy, but these are anticipated to be largely 
offset by further one-off managed savings in addition to those already reflected in the 
MTFP. 

 
Director of Place 

 

Variance (under -)/over 
spend 

£000 Explanation and Action 

Culture, Tourism, Sport & 
Leisure 

721 Operational and income pressures. 

Housing and Public 
Protection 

285 Due primarily to spend and income 
pressures in Cemeteries & Cremations. 
Mitigating measures elsewhere will 
improve year end position. 

Economic Regeneration 
and Planning 

586 Due primarily to lower Planning fee 
income and Swansea Market 
overspend. Some mitigation before year 
end but not in full. 

Highways and 
Transportation 

-190 Overachieved income and employee 
underspends offset by operational 
pressures. 

Waste Management, 3,479 Historic and predicted pressure - 

Page 63



Parks and 
Neighbourhood Working 

unfunded agency pay award, increased 
plastic collection costs, increased fleet 
maintenance costs, increases in diesel 
costs. Spend mitigation measures in 
place but will not recover year end 
position. 

Corporate Building 
Services   

0 Break even predicted. 

Corporate Property 
Services 

-1,225 NNDR reimbursement (£1,100k) and 
additional rental income (£125k). 

Total Forecast Variation 3,656  

 
Director’s Comments  
 
The Directorate is currently projecting a £3.656m overspend for the year ahead. This 
overspend is after a £5.464m temporary ‘one-off’ virement from the central inflation 
reserve to offset spending pressures arising from increased utility costs. In addition, a 
number of significant budget pressures are noted and there will be use of budgeted 
contingency allocated to the Directorate in response to the ending of Welsh 
Government funding for loss of income and other impacts that continue in the period 
of recovery post Covid. The aim for the next 2 quarters will be to implement a budget 
recovery plan to mitigate any Directorate overspends identified and minimise the call 
on contingency. Whilst income is recovering in some key areas, the rate of recovery 
remains slow and is impacting a range of services, fees and charges. This will 
continue to be monitored closely but, because of the prevailing economic conditions,  
is unlikely to return to pre-pandemic levels in the short to medium term meaning 
further efficiencies will continue to be required. Car park income is a significant 
unknown and remains supported in year by the Economic Recovery Fund. In addition, 
inflationary pressures continue to be experienced across all areas of the Directorate. 
 
As is the case with any large directorate there are some other non-income related 
projected overspends, including costs associated with rising price of utilities, but as 
above and, whilst it can by no means be guaranteed, a net balanced budget remains 
the aim. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



Appendix C 
 

Overall Summary of Savings Achievement

Savings TARGETS 2023/24
 £'000

Directorate Black Red Amber Green Blue Total 

TARGET 

2023/24 

£'000

Corporate Services 228 43 98 70 2,384 2,823

Finance (Including Council Tax Reduction Scheme) 0 185 1,491 104 530 2,310

Social Services (Including Poverty & Prevention) 0 650 100 2,800 2,550 6,100

Education 0 341 0 980 650 1,971

Place 733 142 1,317 2,883 3,630 8,705

Total 961 1,361 3,006 6,837 9,744 21,909

Savings DELIVERY 2023/24 £'000

Black Red Amber Green Blue Total 

DELIVERY 

2023/24 

£'000

Corporate Services 0 0 50 70 2,358 2,478

Finance (Including Council Tax Reduction Scheme) 0 0 1,366 104 530 2,000

Social Services (Including Poverty & Prevention) 0 0 0 2,650 2,550 5,200

Education 0 0 0 980 650 1,630

Place 0 0 324 1,367 3,630 5,321

Total 0 0 1,740 5,171 9,718 16,629

Overall Percentage Achieved 0% 0% 58% 76% 100% 76%

P
age 65



  Appendix D 

 
 

 

Capital expenditure on major schemes to 30 September 2023 
(where spend greater than £250k) 

 

£000’s 

Education    

3G Pitch Olchfa Comprehensive  904 

Free School Meals Scheme - Infrastructure / Equipment  391 

     

Place    

City Deal - 71-72 Kingsway Offices  6,947 

City Deal - Arena  694 

Hafod Copperworks Powerhouse Redevelopment  383 

LUF - Lower Swansea Valley  1,122 

Palace Theatre Redevelopment  2,052 

Acquisition of Black Boy Public House  383 

Cefn Hengoed Community Hub  1,481 

Corporate Building Services (Including Schools)  3,427 

Disability Facility Grants  2,193 

Mini Adaptation Grants  298 

Highways Carriageway Resurfacing  1,912 

Highways Footways  264 

Highways Drainage Works  321 

Highways & Transport Vehicle Replacement  400 

Seawall Repairs Mumbles  3,246 

Landfill Gas Engine Replacement  329 

     

HRA    

HRA Capital Programme (More Homes Schemes)  3,168 

Wind and Weatherproofing  4,246 

External Facilities  2,047 

Adaptations  1,265 

Electric Rewiring  313 

Chimney Repairs  356 

Fire and Other Safety Measures  578 

Boiler and Heating Upgrades  308 

HRA Kitchens & Bathrooms  1,086 

Total scheme value where spend greater than £250k  40,114 
 

Page 66



 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance 
(Deputy Leader) 

 
Cabinet - 21 December 2023 

 

Quarter 2 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report  
 

Purpose: To report corporate performance for Quarter 2 
2023/24. 
 

Policy Framework: Delivering a Successful & Sustainable Swansea 
Corporate Plan 2023/28 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
1) 
 
 

Notes the Council’s performance achieving the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives in Q2 2023/24;  
 

2) Endorses the use of this information to inform executive decisions on 
resource allocation and, where relevant, corrective actions to manage 
and improve performance and efficiency in delivering national and 
local priorities. 

 
Report Author: Richard Rowlands 
Finance Officer: Paul Roach 
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This report presents an update on quarter 2 2023/24 performance in 

respect of delivering the Council’s Well-being Objectives (priorities) set 
out in the Corporate Plan 2023/28 Delivering a Successful & Sustainable 
Swansea: 

 

 Safeguarding people from harm.  

 Improving Education & Skills.  

 Transforming our Economy & Infrastructure.  

 Tackling Poverty & Enabling Communities.  

 Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change.  

 Transformation and financial resilience. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9.



 
2.0 Council Performance: Corporate Plan Delivery Performance Q2 

2023/24 
 
2.1 The Council has been reviewing its performance management reports so 

that it can report on progress meeting the corporate well-being objectives 
in a more holistic way that incorporates both qualitative and quantitative 
data and offers a more rounded view of performance delivering the 
corporate priorities.  

 
2.2 The report at Appendix A seeks to provide an evaluation of performance 

each quarter that integrates progress meeting the steps in the corporate 
plan with related corporate plan success measures, corporate plan 
performance data and the corporate risks. An overall assessment is 
provided by the Chief Executive, which builds on the assessments on 
each objective provided by lead Directors and Heads of Service. 

 
2.3 The charts below provide a summary of performance at Q2. The charts 

show that the vast majority of corporate plan steps, success measures 
and performance indicators are on track and corporate risks remain 
static. 

 
 

 
 

 

Blue (complete)
2.1%

Green (on track)
81.1%

Amber (delayed)
14.7%

Red (limited progress)
2.1%

Corporate Plan Steps

Blue (complete) Green (on track) Amber (delayed) Red (limited progress)

Page 68



 
 

 
 
 

 

Blue (complete)
3.6%

Green (on track)
83.9%

Amber (delayed)
10.7%

Red (limited progress)
1.8%

Corporate Plan Success Measures 23/24

Blue (complete) Green (on track) Amber (delayed) Red (limited progress)

Green (met or exceeded 
target)
75.8%

Amber (missed target by 
<5%)…

Red (missed target by 5%+)
9.1%

No target set 
6.0%

Corporate Plan PI's

Green (met or exceeded target) Amber (missed target by <5%)

Red (missed target by 5%+) No target set

Static score
90%

Increased risk 
score
10%

Corporate Risks

Static score Increased risk score

Page 69



 
2.3.1 The following includes some examples of good performance at Q2: 
 

 In Social Services, a workforce development programme to increase 
capacity through improved recruitment and retention of Social Workers. 

 Improved access to early help and the Councils well-being and prevention 
offer are helping to reduce demand on statutory social services. 

 Improved access to support for carers and parents is in place. This 
includes training for staff and a new Carers Assessment has been co-
produced with carers. 

 The numbers of children needing to become looked after is on a gradual 
downward trend. 

 The Inclusion Strategy 2023-28 for education was approved by Cabinet on 
28 May. Steps are now being taken to deliver on the action plan which 
include, but are not limited to, the school attendance action plan, 
supporting sufficient specialist places, transformational programme, the 
review of EOTAS provision and the strengthening of the educational 
psychology offer to promote emotional health and well-being; although 
budgetary constraints are challenging. 

 Worked in partnership with Penderyn Distillery to open a new whiskey 
distillery attraction at Landore. 

 On-site works underway at the Palace Theatre and Albert Hall. 

 Works commenced and progressing well to deliver new promenade 
improvements and developments, as well as new lightning around 
Swansea Bay.  

 Engagement and co-production of the Tackling Poverty Strategy is 
ongoing. Received and administering Period Dignity in Communities and 
Direct Food Support Grants. A Food Holiday Fund was launched in August 
in response to the withdrawal of FSM Holiday Payments. Welfare Rights 
Advisors are delivering training courses to develop skills in diagnosing and 
solving benefit problems. 

 Approximately 100 ULEV vehicles and supporting chargepoints 
introduced. Alternative fuel trial being scoped and fleet utilisation review 
commencing to understand fleet demand / need for potential efficiencies.  

 The Councils updated Consultation and Engagement Strategy was 
approved by Council in May. The Council commissioned Coproduction 
Wales to work with us to improve our knowledge and capacity for 
undertaking more co-productive activity across the Council. A 
Coproduction champions network has been established and regular 
training opportunities have been provided to council staff. Pilot projects 
have been selected to put co-production into practice and work has begun 
on producing a Coproduction Policy for the Council. 

 
2.3.2 The following includes some examples where continuing improvements 

are needed: 
 

 Workforce sufficiency across all types of essential registrant posts in Social 
Services remains a limiting factor. The lack of registrant social workers and 
therapists is negatively impacting current performance and remains a 

Page 70



significant future risk. Likewise placement sufficiency for children who need 
to become looked after, but officers are responding positively and 
managing the risks appropriately. 

 Swansea primary school attendance in 2022-23 year was 91.1%, up from 
90.1% in 2021-22, but lower than 2018-19, when it was 94.7%. Attendance 
at the Pupil Referral Unit is currently unsatisfactory. Swansea secondary 
school attendance in academic year 2022-23 is 5.2% below that of 2018-
19. This compares to a fall of 6.3% for Wales secondary schools overall. 
Swansea has the 4th smallest gap out of the 22 local authorities in Wales. 

 The construction sector remains a challenging environment and a risk for 
the delivery and cost of major capital projects, with persistently high 
inflation continuing the impact the price of materials, supply chain and 
labour availability. Some major regeneration and housing developments 
are delayed owing to a number of factors and complications, but mitigation 
is underway where possible. 

 We are continuing to provide temporary accommodation to any person that 
requires it under the legislation. Due to the increase in homeless 
presentations and the lack of move-on accommodation, we are seeing a 
high levels of households in temporary accommodation and these 
numbers are continuing to rise. 

 Limited financial and human resources to deliver and push towards the Net 
Zero 2030 ambition. In the main we are relying on external funding and 
without large investment – particularly on our buildings and fleet, the 
emissions figure will no doubt begin to plateau. We will look at 
opportunities to secure funding, but this is challenging given the pressures 
in the Councils Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 During the second quarter, work began on planning for the 2024-25 budget 
and the 2024-28 Medium Term Financial Plan. Financial sustainability over 
the medium term is an ongoing challenge in the face of a poor public 
finance outlook, combined with ongoing pay and inflationary pressures. In 
the meantime, work is ongoing to ensure the Council can present a 
balanced set of budget proposals in the spring of 2024, whatever the 
settlement outcome. 

 
3.0 Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
3.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
and other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

Page 71



 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. 

 
3.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental, and cultural well-being of Wales by acting, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals. 

 
3.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also considers other key issues and priorities, 
such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the 
United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and 
Welsh language. 

 
3.4 This report is on performance during Q2 2023/24 in delivering the 

Council’s key priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan, so there is no 
direct impact on people or communities. 

 
4.0 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 In the current and anticipated financial environment further discussion 

 and consideration will be required around priorities and target setting for 
 performance improvement. 

 
5.0 Legal Implications 
 
5.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A Q2 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report 
Appendix B IIA screening form 
 

Page 72



���������	
�	
��������������� ��!�"#�����%�����
&	
&�'�(��	���	�)&��� � � � ��2344567849@73AB59�C4DCE4�83DF�G73F 23445HFC3DIB59�PA@Q7RBD5�S�6TBEEU 23445V375U8D3FB59�D@3�PQD5DFW�SH5837UR3@QR@34 23445V7QTEB59�XDI43RW�75A�P57YEB59D̀FF@5BRB4U23445a4EBI43B59�D5�b7R@34�c4QDI43W�SÈBF7R4�̀G7594 23445V375U8D3F7RBD5�S�dB575QB7Ec4UBEB45Q4�e&�f�gh�%i�&)��p�q��� �����r(�
�stsu�����r(�
�stsu�ve��wi�
��
�s�
��	
���e	���q�r	���
�(�����q��	�&�&)���
	x
�����%
	�������	f��e���	i�%&�y������(�&�x�	(��%�&)����ve&��&���	���&�e	i��&���%e�����x���&�%�iq&�x���
)&%����q����ff&�x�
���i
�����
�&%i��
�'�&���e����f�xi�
q&�x���	����f
	r�e�
r��
&	
&�'�(i��	ff&%�
���
��
���	�q&�x��ff�%�&)��'���q�r���x&�x��e��
&�������
	�
&����'����	)�
������
r��	f��e�������������&���q�	)�
��t���
��%i

����'�x
����
���q��&�e�����������
��q'�%	r�����q��e&%e�%	�f&
r���e����	�&�&)���
	x
����&��(�&�x�r�q������'����������%
	������	(��%�&)�����q�%i

����'�
�q�����
���q���q��
&	
&�'����q���&���(�������q��&�e����&�x��
	�%�&)���%�&	���	��
'���q�(
&�x��e����(�%��	����
x��������qq&�&	���e&�����	�&�&)���
	x
����&�
�&�f	
%�q�('����ir(�
�	f��e������&�%�iq�q��e�
���
���	r���e�
��fi
�e�
��	
����q�����'�&��&�����q�q��	����i
��	)�
������
f	
r��%����
x�����
��r���('��e����q�	f��e��'��
��������q��	�(�������q��e���r��'�	f��e���������
������'�%
����q��e&��'��
���q�r�'���������&������&r���	�(�q�q	����ve��
&�����x�&������%e�	f��e������(�&�x�	(��%�&)����
��%���
�'������q���qx���
���'��
��(�&�x�r&�&x���q����f�
����&���	��&(���r&�&r&�&�x��e��
��&qi���
&������e	ixe���
&���&���e��
&����%	
��f	
��e��%�&r����%e��x��	(��%�&)���&���
�wi&
��fi
�e�
�����'�&������&��	
�e�����&�x��e����e��%	i�%&���
&���r���x�r����f
�r��	
����q��
	%����&��%i

����'�(�&�x�
�)&���q���q��&���(��&�����%��f	
��e�����
��	f��e������f&���%&���'��
���&����'��e&�����e��
&������'�&��f	
��e���
���f	
r��&	����q�f&���%&���
��&�&��%���e	����	r��r&�&x��&	����
���ff�%�&)��&��
�qi%&�x��e��
��&qi���
��&�x���e�
��&����&�����%	�%�
��	���e��	)�
����
&������
x��'�qi���	�e��%i

����%e�����x����&�e&���&q�
��i(�&%���%�	
�f&���%�����q�i�%�
��&��'��(	i���&���'�(iqx���������r����f	
�fi�i
��'��
���)�
������(��&�)���e����	�&�&)���
	x
����&��(�&�x�r�q����q���(��&�)���e����e���
	x
����	i��&��q��&�e&���e��
��	
���x�&�����e��&�q&)&qi���������%���
�'��e	����e����e��%	i�%&��&��i�&�x�&��
��	i
%����ff�%�&)��'���q��e&��&���)&q��%�q�('��	�&�&)���%�&	����&���q��&�e&���e��(	q'�	f��e��
��	
�� �
P

age 73

Gordon.Wright�
Square


Gordon.Wright�_1
Square


Gordon.Wright�_2
Square


Gordon.Wright�_3
Square


Gordon.Wright�_4
Square


Gordon.Wright�_5
Square


Gordon.Wright�_6
Square


Allison.Lowe
FreeText
Appendix A�



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !"#$%"�'$�"�("')�"#0�%12"3�4'56�'#�!7'47�47'30)%#�4"#�7"8%�57%�9%$5�$5")5�'#�3'(%�5@�9%�57%�9%$5�57%6�4"#�9%A�$"(%�!'57'#�57%')�("B'3'%$C�� !"#$%"�'$�"�7%"3576�4'56�'#�!7'47�"33�D%@D3%�4"#�%ED%45�5@�3'8%�7"DD6A�7%"3576A�(23('33'#F�3'8%$G�5@�"47'%8%�57%')�@!#�!%339%'#F�@254@B%$�"#0�"F%�!%33C�� !"#$%"�'$�"�72B"#�)'F75$�4'56�4@BB'55%0�5@�%#7"#4'#F�57%�7%"357A�!%339%'#FA�$"(%56�"#0�5@�D)@B@5'#F�57%�)'F75$�@(�823#%)"93%�"0235$A�47'30)%#A�"#0�("B'3'%$C��H%�"'B�5@�D)%8%#5�"#0�'#5%)8%#%�%")36A�!7%)%�"�D%)$@#�@)�47'30�'$�"5�)'$I�@(�7")BA�"92$%A�#%F3%45�@)�%ED3@'5"5'@#A�"#0�5@�%#$2)%�57%�)'F75�4")%�"#0�$2DD@)5�"5�57%�)'F75�5'B%C��H%�!'33�4@#5'#2%�5@�D)@B@5%�$"(%F2")0'#F�823#%)"93%�D%@D3%�"$�%8%)6@#%P$�92$'#%$$A�"4)@$$�57%�4@2#4'3A�57)@2F7�"�$I'33%0�"#0�D)@(%$$'@#"3�!@)I(@)4%A�@2)�%3%45%0�B%B9%)$�"#0"#6�@)F"#'$"5'@#�@)�D%)$@#�!7@�2#0%)5"I%$�!@)I�@#�@2)�9%7"3(C Q��

	��	�R%")#'#F�()@B�57%�)%4%#5�D"#0%B'4�"#0�3@@I'#F�(@)!")0�!'57�57%�7%3D�@(�57%�4@2#4'3P$�S%4@8%)6�T3"#�!'33�)%B"'#�"�I%6�(@42$�F@'#F�'#5@�UVUW�"#0�9%6@#0A�"$�!%�4"))6�@#�!'575)"#$(@)B"5'@#�D)@F)"BB%$�5@�B@0%)#'$%�$@4'"3�4")%�$%)8'4%$A�5@�"47'%8%�"�B@)%�D)%8%#5"5'8%A�$2$5"'#"93%�"DD)@"47�"#0�#%5�X%)@�4")9@#�(@@5D)'#5C��H%�")%�!@)I'#F�'#�D")5#%)$7'D$�5@�'BD)@8%�57%�$"(%56A�57%�7%"357A�"#0�57%�!%339%'#F�@254@B%$�@(�@2)�B@$5�823#%)"93%�4'5'X%#$C��Y7)@2F7�P4@D)@0245'@#P�̀�!%�")%�'#8@38'#F�D%@D3%�'#�%8%)657'#F�!%�0@A�(@42$'#F�@#�P!7"5�B"55%)$�B@$5P�5@�57%B�"$�4'5'X%#$A�D3"4'#F�57%B�"5�57%�4%#5)%�@(�57%')�@!#�4")%�"#0$2DD@)5�"#0�96�4@D)@024'#F�$%)8'4%$�5@�"47'%8%�9%55%)�@254@B%$C��a6�%#$2)'#F�57%)%�'$�7'F7�12"3'56�"#0�B@)%�"44%$$'93%A�"#0�'#5%F)"5%0�7%"357�"#0�$@4'"3�4")%�$%)8'4%$�(@)�"0235$A�47'30)%#�"#0�("B'3'%$�!7@�#%%0�@2)�4")%�"#0�$2DD@)5C�� !"#$%"�'$�%#F"F%0�'#�!@)I�@#�"�)%F'@#"3�$5)"5%F'4�"DD)@"47�5@�$2DD@)5�57%�!%339%'#F�#%%0$�@(�4")%)$�"#0�6@2#F�4")%)$A�57'$�#%%0$�5@�5)"#$3"5%�'#5@�"�43%")�"DD)@"47�3@4"336�5@B"I%�"�0'((%)%#4%�'#�57%�3'8%$�@(�'#0'8'02"3$C Yb Yc5�)%B"'#$�"�47"33%#F'#F�D%)'@0�5@�9@57�B"'#5"'#�$"(%�"#0�%((%45'8%�$%)8'4%�0%3'8%)6�!7'3$5�$%%I'#F�5@�D)'@)'5'$%�57%�5)"#$(@)B"5'@#�"#0�'BD)@8%B%#5�"45'8'56�57"5�!'33�%#"93%4@#5'#2%0�0%3'8%)6�"F"'#$5�57%�d@2#4'3e$�$"(%F2")0'#F�!%33�9%'#F�@9f%45'8%C�Y7%�47"33%#F%$�")%�!%33�)%7%")$%0CH@)I(@)4%�$2(('4'%#46�"4)@$$�"33�56D%$�@(�%$$%#5'"3�)%F'$5)"#5�D@$5$�)%B"'#$�"�3'B'5'#F�("45@)C�Y7%�3"4I�@(�)%F'$5)"#5�$@4'"3�!@)I%)$�"#0�57%)"D'$5$�'$�#%F"5'8%36�'BD"45'#F�42))%#5D%)(@)B"#4%�"#0�)%B"'#$�"�$'F#'('4"#5�(252)%�)'$IC�R'I%!'$%�D3"4%B%#5�$2(('4'%#46�(@)�47'30)%#�!7@�#%%0�5@�9%4@B%�3@@I%0�"(5%)Cb#5)%#47%0�7'F7�)"5%$�@(�'#(3"5'@#�7"8%�3%0�5@�'#�6%")�@8%)$D%#0$�"#0�4@BD@2#0�57%�)'$I�@(�"�$'F#'('4"#5�F"D�9%5!%%#�"8"'3"93%�3%8%3$�@(�D293'4�(2#0'#F�"#0�57%�3'I%36�4@$5�@($%)8'4%$�'#�57%�B%0'2B�5%)BC�gF"'#�57'$�D@$%$�"�$'F#'('4"#5�)'$I�5@�57%�d@2#4'3e$�"9'3'56�5@�B"'#5"'#�42))%#5�3%8%3$�@(�D%)(@)B"#4%�"#0�57)%"5%#$�9@57�57%�$2$5"'#"9'3'56�@(�%E'$5'#FB@0%3$�@(�4")%�"#0�!'33�9%�"#�"00'5'@#"3�72)03%�'#�57%�0%8%3@DB%#5�@(�'#5%#0%0�#%!�B@0%3$Ch'8%#�$247�"�47"33%#F'#F�4@#5%E5A�'5�)%B"'#$�"�)%B")I"93%�"47'%8%B%#5�57"5�D%)(@)B"#4%�"F"'#$5�B@$5�@(�@2)�I%6�D%)(@)B"#4%�5")F%5$�'$�$5)@#FCY7%�#2B9%)$�@(�47'30)%#�"44%$$'#F�9@57�%")36�7%3D�"#0�$5"525@)6�47'30)%#�$%)8'4%$�'$�9)@"036�'#�3'#%�!'57�%ED%45"5'@#$C�Y7%�#2B9%)�@(�47'30)%#�#%%0'#F�5@�9%4@B%�3@@I%0�"(5%))%B"'#$�@#�"�F)"02"3�0@!#!")0�5)%#0C�Y7%�#2B9%)$�@(�47'30)%#�$29f%45�5@�"�47'30�D)@5%45'@#�D3"#�'$�!'57'#�"#�%ED%45%0�)"#F%C�Y7%�@#36�")%"�@(�$'F#'('4"#5�4@#4%)#�'$�57%�#2B9%)@(�47'30)%#�)%12')'#F�"�)%$'0%#5'"3�4")%�D3"4%B%#5C�Y7"5�#2B9%)�'$�5@@�7'F7�"#0�'$�"�0')%45�4@#$%12%#4%�@(�"�#"5'@#"3�3"4I�@(�(@$5%)�D3"4%B%#5$CY7%�#2B9%)$�@(�"0235$�"44%$$'#F�4")%�"#0�$2DD@)5�7"$�)%52)#%0�5@�D)%�4@8'0�3%8%3$�925�D)%$%#5'#F�"42'56�@(�#%%0�7"$�'#4)%"$%0�"#0�57'$�'$�$%8%)%36�5%$5'#F�$%)8'4%�)%$'3'%#4%CY7%�%$5"93'$7B%#5�@(�"�5'B%36�"#0�)@92$5�%")36�7%3D�"DD)@"47�5@�"8@'0�"0235e$�#%%0$�%$4"3"5'#F�'$�3%$$�B"52)%�"4)@$$�7%"357�"#0�$@4'"3�4")%C�H7%)%�%3%B%#5$�@(�57"5�"DD)@"47")%�'#�D3"4%A�57%6�")%�D%)(@)B'#F�!%33C�a2'30'#F�@#�57@$%�D@4I%5$�@(�$5)%#F57�)%B"'#�"�I%6�D)'@)'56�9@57�'#�5%)B$�@(�(252)%�('#"#4'"3�$2$5"'#"9'3'56�"#0�0%3'8%)6�"F"'#$5�57%d@2#4'3e$�!%33�9%'#F�D)'@)'56C�������C i
P

age 74

Gordon.Wright
FreeText
Safeguarding People from Harm�

Gordon.Wright�_7
Square


Gordon.Wright_1
FreeText
Director's Update�



���������	
���������������
��
��������	
���
��  !"���	
��������� 
 ���
#$%�����&���
�'
�����  
(��	���� )%01234562789@5
2B
CD47EF@4GB
H6B9@4BB
I
1234562789@5
F67
PFBQ
D6R@472HR4
S4FSR4
9BT4D47EF@4GB
H6B9@4BBG
2U7FBB
QV4
WF6@U9RX
Y9QV9@
BUVFFRBX
Y9QV
S27Q@47BX
2@8
QV7F65V
̀4BQaR2PF752@
1234562789@5
bF278
2@8
S27Q@47BV9SBX
Y4
Y9RR
6@847Q2c4
2
74D94Y
F3
SFBQIS2@84P9U
U274
2@8
B6SSF7Q
S7FD9B9F@ 14S
de
f@
g@Q47@2R
2@8
4hQ47@2R
8FP9U9R927E
U274
U2S2U9QE
74D94YX
9@UR689@5
QV484D4RFSP4@Q
F3
2@
fBB9BQ9D4
i4UV@FRF5E
1Q72Q45E
2@8
9@Q47@2Rp4B984@Q92R
U274
S7FD9B9F@
74D94YX
29PB
QF
9@U742B4
8FP9U9R927E
U274U2S2U9QEq
f
̀F7c3F7U4
84D4RFSP4@Q
S7F572PP4
R9c4Y9B4
29PB
QF9@U742B4
U2S2U9QE
QV7F65V
9PS7FD48
74U769QP4@Q
r
74Q4@Q9F@
F3
BFU92RYF7c47Bq
sFU2R9QE
H2B48
S74D4@Q9F@
2@8
427RE
9@Q47D4@Q9F@
2@8
B6SSF7Q3F7
S274@QB
2@8
U2747B
9B
29P48
2Q
9PS7FD9@5
427RE
V4RS
2@8
7486U4BQ2Q6QF7E
84P2@8q
a744@

t�	�
u�� ��v
��w
���� ����
��������v
��������
!
�v
�������	
����
%w� �
��w
x�� w
��wy�&� v
��������
���
�������
���� �����
��w
�''������
��
	�����	
��	��
����
��w��������
��
���
��	��
�������
��
���
��	��
��&��
��
��&&��
��
��������	
����
&�  ���'��
������
����
��
��������
��
��	��
�������
�������� 
��
��������
������ 
w�����w� ����v
�'
����� ���
#$
%
��w��&
���&
y������� 
( ��
���
����
�������w
��w
� �����	��
��
� ���
'��
��w	��
��u����&����
����
���
����
�
v����� 0�����&������	
�����&��
'��
��� w���
��w
v���	
���� �
�v
���&����	
��	���
�'
��� w����v���	
���� �
��
����v����	
��
w��
�����	�
���
������	v
��
�������
��� w���
��wv���	
���� �
��
 ���
��'� v
��
��&�
����
�����
'�&� v�
�����	�
���
�����������������	
������	v
��
�� �
����
����w
'��
��� w
�������
�
������
 �'��
��
��  
��������
�����w�
���
��� w�����
����
'��� �����
������
��������
�v
���	������	
�
������ w�����
����
'��� ��v
�''����	
��	�
u�� ��v�
���
'��
���'���
 ��� 
� ���&����
����&���
���w�w� ���
#$
����
���
��&&����w
��w
��
����
��������w
�
��&�
'��w��� ��&���
��w
�����'��&������
)������&���
��w
w��� ��&����'
���''
��
��w����v�
����
��
��	���	
��
������
�
�����w�������v
��w
��
������
'������
��	���� 
'��w��	
'��
�����w��� ��&����
��
����
�����
��
���
���������	
��
����
����
�� ��0�����&���
��
 �	�� �����
����	��
��
�������
���
� �&�������
�'���'��
'��&
���
����
������
��w
��w������w
���
w���� 
�'
����
������  
&���
��
���
�������
���������
��w
� ���&����� 0����
�����'��&��	
x���
��w
�������
��
�� ����� �
�w� ��
!
���������	
���
&����� ����� �
�w� ��
��
��&���
��'�
��w
��w����w���
��
��&��
�v
��&�w�  ��	
��������
��
����	����w
��� ��
��w
����� 
����
��������
��
��  
���� ����
���
�������
�''����
�����w�
������
w�v
����
�������������
��w
�������
��������
������
���
x��v�
��'����
��
�����������
���� �&����
��w
�v
��	�	��	
����
t�� ��
��
������
����� ���
� �	�
����
��� ��
�������v
��
�&�����
�����&�� ���
#$
%
������	v
��
������	
��
�����w�
������
w�v
����
���������������w
�������
��������
������
���
x��v
��
��
w��� ��&���
��w
�������
�'
�������	
��������
��w����v�
����
��
 ����w
��
������ ���	��&&�
��w
��
y()�
��
��
� ���
��
 ���
��
��w���	�
�'���������
�������	
�����
��
����	����w
���
��������� 0�����������
��
�����w
�������
������
������
��w
v���	
������
!
����	�����	
���
���� ������������
�'
�����w
�������
������!������
��w
v���	
������
�v
�����w����	
�������������
��
���
��	��
�������
��
�������
�����
���
��  !����	
�����&��� ���
#$
x����w����	
�&�����w
�''���
��w
���	�
�'
�������
���� �� �
��������
������!������
��w
v���	
�������
����
 ���  v
��w��	����  v 0����"�� w��	
�
���  �w�
���'������� 
����'����
��w
���������	
�����
��  ����	
!
�v
��'��������&����
��w
��������	
�
����'����
����
���������
��
w� ����
��	�
u�� ��v
����� ���������
�v
��&&�����	
��
'�����
��v
'��
����
��������
�����	�
���������� ��w�������
�v
'������	
��
����'����
��  ����	�
��������
����w��w�
��w���'������� 
w��� ��&���
��
�������
����
������
��
��
���
����
���v
���
�� ���
#$
%
����'����
w��� ��&���
���	��&&�
 �������
��&�
��
���������������v
�����	�
�&�����w
�������&���
�
���������
�'
����� ��������
���
��	��'�����
��������
��
����
�'
 ����	
���
�&�����w����
)�� 
�����	
��	�
�����
'��
#$�#��
%
'���
�����
������w���w
��
����
�'
��w	��
������	
�
�	���w
'��
#$�#��
����
�����	��
��
��w������w
���
�&����
�'
����
��
#��#�� 0����

�d
P

age 75



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0$���$�����
�������)��$�&����&����������&���&�
���1�&2��&��&�$$�3��4�1�&2���1��
���&���&������	
����������&���5��6���������3���5�7�&������	�&����$�5����%
����
���5���	����	�&�8 ����!"�9&���%�&$�������&��&������
���������������5�1��
�&��������&���%�&$����������5����5@�&��6���&���
�&�5��� �	������1��
��&���&���	&�����
��&�����8����	�%�	��&��&�$$���
��������5�������5�ABC�D�$$6���������5���5�&�'������A!C�D�&�&��A"C����������E�F��&�����G��������4�AHC�I$��������������������5P������Q����
�ARC�D
��5&�����5�S�6���'������ATC�U�6&�5���&��������1��
����6$��&��%��6���&�����AI�������C�'&��&�$$���%�&�V�$����D�$���V�D�&��D�$$���������3���&2%�&	�3�G���������5G���
)&���

WW
P

age 76



�������������	����
����
������������
�������� �����!"#��
��� � ����$%&�����'��
��(�!��	����)	��	��� 0&1��(����	2����	�'�������3��������������	��	�
4���2����	4���5��"�������6 ����$%�7���
�4�����	�2�"4�8�"���
���'"�	���2�9�	��
�	��(���������	�����@�8�������3�2���	����'��
��	�����	�4�
�����	�������'�	���������3�	A��	��	�''�@��'���'��
������4���2�3�����B��B���	4"�24B��"�������B����	�����
��8�	��	�
���(����	2���6�&������	���	
�
��"���	����
�2�
����	�
��4)	��	�''��8�''�

������C���'"�	6 1	���D'�	���2��������
����	�4��������2�
���8������5��3���"�������2��	����
�����((�	��	���������
��	�2����2�'��2�����
�
�
�	4���	�����6 ����$%�D'�	���2��������
����	�4��������2�
���8������5��3���"�������2�	����
�����((�	��	����������
��	�2����2�'��2�����
�
�
�	4��	�����6 1	�����(�
4���2���(���
��2�	2����(�	'���	��	��
���6 ����$%���(����	2����8���A���
@�"���2����C�
����������'�'��
��2�	2�@2�������2�(�	������
�((�E������
��	� 1	���F��������G����
4����
���2�����	4��(��
�
�
�	4����������	�����6 ����$%�8��
����2�(���������'"�22����G����
4�����	�����3�
����&2��
��	��������2�8���2���2�F�'��4���	��������2�
�	��������2�����"���2��	��
����(	�'�3�	A���6�6��������(���(�
4@������"�	�
�����''�����
��� 1	�����	A�	��(���������	
�2����
���	�3�	A���2��	�(���������2������'��
6 ����$%���	A(�	���2������'��
���2�3�	A(�	���3���"������	��	�''����������6 1	���8�	�	���	���2��
�(��2���2������	
�2����
���	��3��3���"����6 ����$%�D'�	�������������
�������	
�(�	���	�	����2���	��
�������������6H���������2���
	�������(�	��
�((���2�����3�8�	�	��&�����'��
����"��������	�2����2�3�
��8�	�	�6 1	����3��������
�I�����P��	�����������'�����#��	��4�
�3�	2��
���	��3������
����23���"�������
��'��6 ����$%�)	��	�����(���
��	�
�2@�	��"��'��
���
�3�4����2������
���
���'�������	
@���2�	���	
�2������������2�	����������	(�	'����	���	
� 1	���
QR

P
age 77



���������	�
����	�����������  !�
#�$%�&'()�
01
$�234�&'3(5
$�(65�7�&'
2'(82
9!�$�
'!�
&��4
10$
2@##0$'
9(2
73'3)('�4
0$
$�4@%�4 A�B�C ADBAC�����1 E�$%�&'()�
01
%077@&3'8
$�(65�7�&'
#(%F()�2
01
%($�
9!�$�
&��4
10$
2@##0$'
9(2
73'3)('�4
0$
$�4@%�4 A�B�C AGBHC����IP E�$%�&'()�
01
Q($�
(&4
R@##0$'
#5(&2
4@�
'0
6�
$�S3�9�4
%07#5�'�4
93'!3&
2'('@'0$8
'37�2%(5�2 A�B�C TIBHC���GHP E�$%�&'()�
01
�&U@3$3�2
%07#5�'�4
93'!3&
I
90$F3&)
4(82
1$07
$�%�3#'
01
'!�
$�#0$'�4
(55�)�4
(6@2�B I�B�C VIB�C�R�W6 E�$%�&'()�
01
34�&'313�4
%($�$2
011�$�4
(&
(22�227�&'
('
'!�
#03&'
01
(22�227�&'
01
'!�
X%($�4
10$X D�B�C D�BACQYR�H( E�$%�&'()�
01
%0&'(%'2
$�%�3S�4
9!�$�
(
4�%3230&
9(2
7(4�
68
'!�
�&4
01
'!�
&�̀'
90$F3&)
4(8 D�B��C DTBAWCQYR�V(  !�
$('�
01
500F�4
(1'�$
%!354$�&
ab�Qc
#�$
��d���
01
'!�
�e�I
R9(&2�(
#0#@5('30& ��TB� ��WBAQYR�D(  !�
#�$%�&'()�
01
S323'2
'0
%!354$�&
0&
'!�
QEf
9!3%!
9�$�
&0'
0S�$4@�B D�B��C IHBHGCQYRGH g@76�$
01
Q!354$�&
h
i0@&)
E�0#5�
R@##0$'�4
68
Q!354
(&4
Y(7358
R�$S3%�2
('
'!�
�&4
01
'!�
#�$304 �d��� �dG�HQYRGT3  !�
&@76�$
01
Q!354$�&
h
i0@&)
E�0#5�
2@##0$'�4
68
'!�
p($58
q�5#
q@62
('
'!�
�&4
01
'!�
#�$304 �d��� �d�GDQq�GA  !�
&@76�$
01
%!354$�&
0&
'!�
b0%(5
�@'!0$3'8X2
Q!354
E$0'�%'30&
f�)32'�$
aQEfc
('
�&4
01
'!�
#�$304 GG� �DV

rstuvws
ys�
� rstuvws �tw�s� ���vt� �sw��w�t��s

��
P

age 78



��
P

age 79

Gordon.Wright�_8
Stamp




���������������	

��	�������	����	� !�#$%&�$''�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�&4�$&&!%1�8()44'�2!65'$2'39�&4�@!�0%('51!19�&4�@!�2!80'0!%&�$%1�)$A!�85((!88B5'�B5&52!8C� !�#$%&�$''�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�&4�)$A!�6441� !'8)�'$%65$6!�8D0''8C� !�#$%&�&4�857742&�$%1�E$0%&$0%�!BB!(&0A!�8()44'�'!$1!28)07C� !�#$%&�&4�857742&�$%1�E$0%&$0%�!F(!''!%&�&!$()0%6C� !�#$%&�$''�'!$2%!28�&4�2!(!0A!�&)!02�!15($&04%�0%�!%A024%E!%&8�&)$&�$2!�8$B!�$%1�858&$0%$@'!�(4EE5%0&0!8�B42�'!$2%0%6CG��

	��	� !�#$%&�$''�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�&4�$&&!%1�8()44'�2!65'$2'39�&4�@!�0%('51!19�&4�@!�2!80'0!%&�$%1�)$A!�85((!88B5'�B5&52!8C� !�#$%&�$''�()0'12!%�$%1�345%6�7!47'!�&4�)$A!�6441� !'8)�'$%65$6!�8D0''8C� !�#$%&�&4�857742&�$%1�E$0%&$0%�!BB!(&0A!�8()44'�'!$1!28)07C� !�#$%&�&4�857742&�$%1�E$0%&$0%�!F(!''!%&�&!$()0%6C� !�#$%&�$''�'!$2%!28�&4�2!(!0A!�&)!02�!15($&04%�0%�!%A024%E!%&8�&)$&�$2!�8$B!�$%1�858&$0%$@'!�(4EE5%0&0!8�B42�'!$2%0%6CHIPHQ!2B42E$%(!�)$8�@!!%�8&!$139�4A!2$''C�R%�720E$23�8()44'89�&)!2!�$2!�%4�2!(!%&�%$&04%$'�8&$&08&0(8�B42�$&&!%1$%(!�S1!'$3!1�B42�TUTTVTUTW�@3�$(&04%�8)42&�4B�8&20D!�$(&04%XCY4#!A!29�P#$%8!$�720E$23�8()44'�$&&!%1$%(!�0%�TUTTVTUTW�3!$2�#$8�̀aCab9�57�B24E�̀UCab�0%�TUTaVTUTT9�@5&�'4#!2�&)$%�TUacVTUà 9�#)!%�0&�#$8�̀dCebC�f&&!%1$%(!�$&�&)!7570'�2!B!22$'�5%0&�08�(522!%&'3�5%8$&08B$(&423C�P#$%8!$�8!(4%1$23�8()44'�$&&!%1$%(!�0%�$($1!E0(�3!$2�TUTTVTUTW�08�gCTb�@!'4#�&)$&�4B�TUacVTUà C�H)08�(4E7$2!8�&4�$�B$''�4BhCWb�B42� $'!8�8!(4%1$23�8()44'8�4A!2$''C�P#$%8!$�)$8�&)!�d&)�8E$''!8&�6$7�45&�4B�&)!�TT� !'8)�if8CH)!�4A!2$''�7!2(!%&$6!�4B�345%6�7!47'!�%4&�0%�!15($&04%9�!E7'43E!%&�42�&2$0%0%6�SpIIHX�$&�aC̀b�08�@!'4#�Tb�$%1�(4E7$2!8�B$A452$@'3�#0&)�%$&04%$'�7!2(!%&$6!�B42�pIIHCp$&04%$'�45&&52%�B42�TUTT�3!$2�aa�'!$A!28�#$8�TCab�#)0'8&�P#$%8!$�#$8�aC̀b�Sq40%&�̀&)�7480&04%�45&�4B�TT�if8XCP!(520%6�2!V1!806%�4B�87!(0$'08&�&!$()0%6�B$(0'0&0!8�)$8�72462!88!1�#!''�#0&)�7'$%8�B42�$�B028&�7)$8!�0E7'!E!%&$&04%9�4%�&2$(DC�Y4#!A!29�!$2'3�3!$28�2!B!22$'�B0652!8�0%10($&!�&)$&7'$%8�$2!�%4�'4%6!2�(48&�%!5&2$'9�$%1�&)$&�B5%10%6�08�2!r502!1�&4�E!!&�&)!�2080%6�%5E@!2�4B�$110&04%$'�'!$2%0%6�%!!18�0%�&)!�UVW�$6!�2$%6!�$%1�@!34%1C�f�(4E72!)!%80A!�$%1(4''$@42$&0A!�72!V(4%85'&$&04%�!%6$6!E!%&�7!2041�#0&)�Q570'�s!B!22$'�t%0&�SQstX�&4�2!VE41!'�8!2A0(!�1!'0A!23�)$8�72462!88!1�#!''�1520%6�&)!�2!742&0%6�7!2041�#0&)�7'$%%0%6�0%7'$(!�&4�E!!&�$�#01!2�2$%6!�4B�72!8!%&0%6�%!!18�B42�'!$2%!28�#)4�E$3�@!%!B0&�B42E�I15($&04%�u&)!2�&)$%�$&�P()44'�SIuHfPXCf(&04%8�&4�0E724A!� !'8)�0%�I15($&04%�$2!�72462!880%6�#!''�#0&)�$�)06)!2�%5E@!2�4B�8()44'8�2!(!0A0%6�$((2!10&$&04%�B42�&)!02�#42D�0%�1!A!'470%6�'� !'8)�8D0''8�0%801!�$%1�45&801!&)!�('$88244EC�f(&04%8�)$A!�2!85'&!1�0%�&)2!!�8()44'8�$()0!A0%6�&)!�v4'1�P0$2&!2�R$0&)�$#$21CP()44'8�$772!(0$&!�&)!�857742&�B42�'!$1!28)07�#)!2!�2!8452(!8�$%1�6501$%(!�08�8)$2!1�!BB0(0!%&'3C�Y4#!A!29�1520%6�&)08�2!742&0%6�7!20419�$�%$&04%$'�10875&!�4%�720E$23�8()44''!$1!28w�#42D'4$1�0885!8�)$8�0E7$(&!1�%!6$&0A!'3�4%�&)!�%42E$'�47742&5%0&0!8�&4�!%6$6!�#0&)�8()44'�'!$1!28�$%1�&4�A080&�8()44'8�B42�E4%0&420%6�$%1�!A$'5$&04%�$(&0A0&3C�f�'4($'724B!8804%$'�1!A!'47E!%&�4BB!2�&4�857742&�8()44'�8!'BV!A$'5$&04%�)$8�2!(!0A!1�7480&0A!�B!!1@$(DC�f(&04%8�)$A!�2!85'&!1�0%�E42!�!BB!(&0A!�0E724A!E!%&�7'$%%0%6�$&�8()44'�'!A!'CP50&$@'!�(4''$@42$&04%�&4�857742&�'!$2%!2�A40(!�$%1�()40(!�)$8�2!85'&!1�0%�('!$2�B!!1@$(D�&)$&�4A!2�̀Ub�4B�748&Vah�'!$2%!28�$2!�8$&08B0!1�#0&)�&)!02�(5220(5'5E�()40(!8C�P57742&B42�8()44'8�&4�E$F0E08!�&)!02�(5220(5'5E�()40(!89�0%('510%6�A4($&04%$'�724A0804%�)$8�2!85'&!1�0%�E!$%0%6B5'�108(58804%8�&4�4BB!2�(4''$@42$&0A!�4%'0%!�1!'0A!23�B42�$�B!#�85@q!(&8&)$&�0%10A015$'�724A01!28�B0%1�10BB0(5'&�&4�1!'0A!2�4%�&)!02�4#%CH)!�0%&!62$&!1�8()44'�0E724A!E!%&�8!2A0(!�Q$2&%!20$!&)9�2!874%80@'!�B42�857742&0%6�724B!8804%$'�'!$2%0%6�B42�&!$()!28�$%1�1!A!'47E!%&�B42�'!$1!28�)$8�$%�ccb�8$&08B$(&04%�2$&!4A!2$''�#0&)�8!2A0(!�58!28�2!742&0%6�58!B5'�&2$0%0%6�2!(!%&'3C�H)!�(522!%&�1!A!'47E!%&�$%1�2!(250&E!%&�4B�8()44'�'!$1!28�0%�P#$%8!$�0%10($&!8�8&24%6�($%101$&!�B0!'18�0%�$E$q420&3�4B�8()44'8CH)!�85((!88B5'�24''45&�B42�724A0804%�4B�5%0A!28$'�B2!!�8()44'�E!$'8�)$8�2!85'&!1�0%�&)458$%18�E42!�'!$2%!28�$((!880%6�B2!!�B441�0%�8()44'C�Y4#!A!29�&)!�$A!2$6!�57&$D!�$(2488�$''8()44'8�08�(522!%&'3�hgbC�P&24%6�72462!88�1520%6�&)08�2!742&0%6�7!2041�0%10($&!8�B52&)!2�24''�45&�0%�720E$23�8()44'8�08�4%�&2$(D�B42�1!'0A!23�0%�r5$2&!2�B452Cx!&$0'!1�72!7$2$&423�#42D�B42�8!&&0%6�45&�&)!�%!F&�&!%V3!$2�7)$8!�4B�($70&$'�8()!E!8�B42�&)!�8()44'�!8&$&!�)$8�72462!88!1�#!''�0%�421!2�&4�72!8!%&�$�&)42456)�8&2$&!60(�7'$%�0%&)!�B0%$'�r5$2&!2C�f7724A$'�&4�(4%85'&�4%�&)!�$E$'6$E$&04%�0%�TUTg�$%1�@50'1�4B�$�%!#�80%6'!�80&!�87!(0$'�8()44'�@3�TUTc�#$8�8!(52!1�1520%6�&)08�2!742&0%6�7!2041C�H)!�($70&$'0%A!8&E!%&�&4�B5''3�1!'0A!2�8()!E!8�#0&)0%�y$%1�y�)$8�$'84�@!!%�45&'0%!1�($2!B5''3�$%1�8!(52!1�A0$��$@0%!&C����C ��
P

age 80

Gordon.Wright_2
FreeText
Improving Education and Skills�

Gordon.Wright�_9
Square


Gordon.Wright_3
FreeText
Director's Update�



���������	
���������������
��
��������	
���
��  !"���	
��������� 
 ���
#$%�����&���
�'
�����  
(��	���� )%01�� �����
������	2
!
��
3�  
4� ����
���
��� �����
������	2
��
�&��4
�������� ���������
'��
�44������ 
���4�5
������ ���
� ����
'��
�44������ 
���4�
��4
�
3�� ������ 
��������
��
�&������ 
��� ��
��4
��2��� �	��� 
3�  ����	6
7��
������	2
3�  ���&���
�����4����5
��� �����5
 ������
�������������
��
4�������
&�8��	
��4��4������
��
����!��!����
��  2��	
��4
������&���
��
����� �6 ���
#$
7��
1�� �����
������	2
#9#$!#9#@
3��
�������4
�2
A������
��B@
C�2
#9#$6
�����
���
��3
����	
��8��
��
4� ����
�	�����
���������
� ��
3����
��� �4�5
���
���
���
 �&���4
��5
���
����� �����4����
������
� ��5
���������	
��''������
������ ���
� ���������'��&������ 
���	��&&�5
���
�����3
�'
D�7%�
���������
��4���
�����	������	
�'
���
�4�������� 
��2��� �	2
�''��
��
���&����&������ 
��� ��
��4
3�  ����	6
"�4	����2
�����������
������  ��	��	6

0����

�� ��
E��	��	�
�8�  �
������	2
!
��
3�  
4� ����
�
������	2
����
�&��4�
���
�������1����
��
�  
����� �6
7��
������	2
3�  
������
����
�  
����� �
���
��������4
��4��� ��
 �������F
�8�  �
3�����
��4
�����4�
���
� ������&6
��
3���
 �������
������8
�� ��
3���
���'�4����
3���
���2
 ����
����� 6 ���
#$
7��
�� ��
��
D4�������
������	��
( ��
#9##!#9$#
��
��
� ���
��4�
'���!2���
4� ����2
� ��
���
����
4��� ���4
��4
���&����4
���� ��
0�����&���6
7��
4� ����2
� ��
���
����
��4���4
��
 ���3���
���	����5
��3
�������������
��4
'��4���8
'��&
�� ��0�����&���6
7��
�� ��
��
D4�������
���&
��������
��
������������ �
��
�����
�������
1����
������25
3���
�
��&���
�'
����� ���������	
"���G�5
�� ���
��4
0� 4
������
����
���4�&��
2���6 0����
E��4������
�������
������	2
!
��
3�  
4� ����
�
������	2
��
&�������
��4
��������''������
 ��4������5
��� �4��	
	���������5
������
�  
����� �6
7��
������	2
3�  ���&���
�� '!�&�����&���
��4
��  ���������6
��
3���
���
����� 
 ��4���
���&�����
�����
�3�
3�  ����	
��
��4��
��
�������
�������������
��4
 �������
3�  6 ���
#$
%
���	�
�'
&�������&�
���
��
� ���
��
�������
��3
��4�H��������4
 ��4���
��
�  
 ��� �6
7���
3��8
3��
4���� �4
��
���D4�������
I
�8�  �
A��������
P� ����2
A�&&�����
QAPAR
��
#9#$6%
��3
 ��4������
���4���8
���
����
4��� ���4
��4
�����4
3����  
����� �
��4
3��
�����S���� 2
�����4
3���
A������
��
����
�'���
APA
��&&��2
������
��
T� 26
����� 
�&�����&���
���&Q�17R
���
4��� ���4
��4
4� �����4
�
������
�'
�� '!��� ������U�&�����&���
� �����	
��������
��
�������
�''����������� 
�&�����&���6
DH��  ���
'��4���8
���
����
�������461&����
��
��
&������4
'�  �3��	
���� �����
�'
%���&�
������6

0����
7������	
�������
������	2
!
��
3�  
4� ����
�
������	2
��
�������
 ������25��&����25
��4
4�	��� 
��&�������
��
&�������5
�������
��4
���� �����
 �������F�8�  �6
7��
������	2
3�  
���&���
�H��  ����
������
�  
����� �6
��
3���
�  
����������
�S���
 �������
3���
8�2
�8�  �
��
������
�  
�����
�'
 ������	6 ���
#$
���8
���������
�	�����
���
������
� ���
4��� ���4
�	������������'� 
��4���
'��
E��	��	��5
E������2
��4
A�&&�����������4
C����&�����
��4
V�&����2
��
����� �6
%
��3
P�	��� ������	2
���
����
�������4
��
��������
���
3��8
�'
4��� ����	4�	��� 
��&�������
�'
�  
 �������6

(�����������
�����&&�������4
��
�����4�
���'������� 
 ������	
�����4
�&������	�������	
��4
 ������	
Q(������� 
����� 
1&�����&���
%4������1%
������&���� 
��
4���	�R5
3����
3��
�� ���4
��4
��!4���	��4�2
�
	����
�'
�3�����
����� �
��
������
�� ������6

0����
WX

P
age 81



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0���������0��������������&����1������2����3�����&�����&����1�����4���&����	����������&����5������67�	4&&�	4�4$�	������&�����5�	�&��&����3�2�&8�&�����3��34	�����9���2�����	
���������������2��
�	�$$4���1����&�����	
�$�����5��$���1�&����3���
�&�34	�������&���3�&����������&���4		���%4��%4�4&���%�&����&��&�9 ����!"�@�2������67���3���	����������&��������
���������3�������39�#��A�
�%�&$����&��&����	���4&��1�
��������4�3�&��8���2��
�$����&�%�	4���&�4����&�4�3������67��&�������9�#���1����
�������	�$�����3������%�&$���A�������9�#�&������%�2�&8������8������	��2��
����
�������67���&����1������%�&$�%4�4&���&�������5�4���&���&�����������3�3�������%4�4&���$���1������1��8����9'�&���&����
�������4�#��&��2��$�������	����3�&���&�����	���1��
�%4�4&���8�����&�B4�&�$������%��
���&��9
)&���

CB4��1����C34	��������&����1������2����3�����&�����&����1�����$��3��&�4$����%�&$�3�&�	��	���	&���������	
����5��	���������&�34	���
���$��	���%�����&�1�������&��&����3$�����4&�&�������������������	�&��&������&����9����2�����4&��4���&��������&��&�����		�����4���&������������	���
&�4�
�	�$$4���1�%�	4���3��	
����9 ����!"�D&�4$����%�&$�3��&�	��	��5�$������
����
���3���
�&��&�������
��������&���3�3�����	
����9�#�	��%�&��	��	���&��������&�1�2��3�����&�3��������
��3���	
�&�����E4��9�D���	����	�43�3���&��	�����������4���&��%�$������%�	��������&�15���&��3�3�����15�&�%������������&����5�	�$$4���1�%�	4��3��	
����5�4����&����%&���	
����$�������3�4��%�&$��&����9�#���2��1���$�
�������3�������3������	�43���������&�������34	�����������%�&�F��8�3#%��&�G
��3&��5�����4���&����3�$�����&��
��&��34	��������&��&���9
#$��&

@�2���3������&��	
�������&����1������2��������&���3������%%�	�������3��%%�	�����34	����������%&���&4	�4&�����$����	4&&������3�%4�4&��3�$��3��%�&��	
�������	��9���2����3�����&����&���%�&$�3��	
����H��������4������4&��	
�����4��3������3$��������	���&��&�$$����3������&�����3�����
��3������$����������4��2��
����
���	���3������$���������IF0'P�2
�������4&����	�$$4���1�����%����%&�$�	���&�	��9���2�������&�34	���4&�	�&����%����&����2��
����
���	
�������������3�$�8������������������%�&�	�$$4���1�4���2
�&����	���3�$��3��A����9 ����!"�#��
�&�������%��	
�$���%�&��
����&�����	��4������'&��&�$$��%�&�4����������G�$$4�������%�&�F��&�����
���������&�34	�3%����2����2�&8�
����2��
��%%�	�&�5�G�&��&����Q�����$����D��$IGQDP���3�G������9�G�������
������&���3��
��	�$$��	�$�����%	���4���������������&��&���2��4��3����	�����	
���9 )&���

RS
P

age 82



�������������	����
����
������������
�������� �����!"#��
��� � ����$%&�����'��
��(�!��	����)	��	��� 0&12�������3���3��	�'�
�3�
�����4������������
	�
��56 ����$%�7��������	
������((�����
����������
��������4�	8�
��'�4��	���	
�3�
��
���
����79����$@����
�'"�	�$A$%6�7��	������"�����	��'��
�
���	����3�4�
����	��
	��
�	���(�
���&33�
�����B��	�����C��3����3�D���������7��'�
������4�(�	����
	���
��3(��������E3���
������)�5������56 1	���9��
����3�
�������	
���������
�������	
����	��	��3�����������������������8����F��������4�
��
����E�)�3�����	5�����6 ����$%����������	�������	
�3�4�
������������������	����������������4�
�
����E�)6�&���'"�	��(���������������������3��4�	3�����
���	���	
�	�D��
��#��	��56�G��3��������"��������	�3�
�	����)�	
��	���
��
�������	
�
����4�	8�4�
��
4�������3�3��((���	����4�����	
������	�4�	8����
�����	��6 1	���E����	���3�
�8�������3������	
�(�	���������
�((�
����3�	
�8�����3�	����3������'��
�����	
���
���������3����H����(���
����6 ����$%�B��3�	�����3������'��
�����	
���
�����	���	�'�
�3���	�������������3�
�����'"�	���3�	
�8���������(���H����(���
�������	���	
�3�4�
����
���I)D�6�B��3�	�����3������'��
�����	
���
����	���	�'�
�3���	��������������3�
�����'"�	���3�	
�8��������(���H����(���
��������	���	
�3�4�
����
���I)D�6�7�����
�����'�33������3�	�����3������'��
��	��	�''����3������	���3�	�����3������'��
��	��	�''��������	5����3	��	����
�
����(	�'��4���������
�	�����56�&������
������	���		��
�5������(�	�$A$%P$A$Q6��D7������	
�
���3�����	5��(�
�����	��	�''��6�&�5�(�	
��	�	�H��	�'��
���	��(��
�	�3���
���D7R�"����8���((�	6
1	���

)	�'�
�3�����4��������(�	������������	������
�������	
�����������3�	����6 ����$%�9�"���
����	���3�
����
	�
��5���3�
���4�	8������
��3�����	�
���
	�
��5����S��5�$A$%6�7���&	4���45	����
(�	'�4����������(���5	����3���
�
�����	8��"5�
�����3��(�
������3�'���5��	���3�
��
	����
�����(�����	��	��'����������
��
��T4"�'������''����36)	��	����
���	�'�
�������	
�(�	�����������3�	������4���������
	���6 1	���)	�'�
�3���������3�	������������	
���
�����(��	�(������������	�����
�������	
�U������
�
����������3����	����6 ����$%�B�������3�	������������	
���
����(�	��	�(������������	������	����	�3�4�3��5�4�
����������
�	�����
����������D'�	���'��
7��'F���
4�	8����3���4���

�	6 1	���9�����
�3�4�
�����	��	��������
�VW�����������3�3�������3�����4����
�VW���3����
�������
	�
��56 ����$%�)��
�VW���3�����
�������
	�
������3�������36�)��
�VW��	���������	��5������4���'���
����3�	���	
�������"��6�7�������"��������3
����(�	'�3�����������4�
������������3���������	���	3����
��(����"���
5��(���'�������"�	�
�����	�������6 1	��� XY
P

age 83



�����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0��1&�2��1�������%�	�����������2�����&�1����&����%&����	
����$��������&�	����������3��������4��
��
������
�)���&�$�����%%�&5 ����!"�#���&�	������������1�����
����������%%�&�2�1����&����%&����	
���$����5 ��1��1�$����2�����&�����	��1�������&��&�$$��%�&��1����������	�$$1�������%�&����&����5����!"�'�������3��2����%�	��������2��&��&�������������2��������
����&�����	�1�������&��&�$$�����1�2�&4�65 )&���

78
P

age 84



���������	�
����	���������� ! "#$%&
()#(0)
1%#2%
3#
4)
567
8%
�!$9@38#%A
�B(0#CB)%3
@%!
7D@8%8%&
E��7F �GHIP����QR �)D9)%3@&)
#S
($(80
@33)%!@%9)
8%
3T)
�$(80
U)S)DD@0
V%83 WHGIIP WRG�HP����QX �)D9)%3@&)
#S
($(80
@33)%!@%9)
8%
Y()98@0
Y9T##0Y   GIIP  QGW P����QQ �)D9)%3@&)
3@1)̀$(
#S
V%8a)DY@0
bD))
c9T##0
d)@0Y��VI�e@ �)D9)%3@&)
#S
($(80
@33)%!@%9)
8%
(D8B@DC
Y9T##0Y H�GIIP H�G�fP��VI�e4 �)D9)%3@&)
#S
($(80
@33)%!@%9)
8%
Y)9#%!@DC
Y9T##0Y   GIIP  fGfHP��gII� 5$B4)D
#S
0)@D%)DY
@YY)YY)!
S#D
")@D
��
h$@08S89@38#%Y
3TD#$&T
3T)
B)!8$B
#S
g)0YT��gIIR �)D9)%3@&)
#S
0)@D%)DY
)!$9@3)!
3TD#$&T
3T)
B)!8$B
#S
g)0YT
@3
5$DY)DC
@%!
U)9)(38#%
i&)Y

pqrstuq
wqx
y pqrstuq �ru�q� ���tr� �qux�u�r��q

��
P

age 85

Gordon.Wright�_10
Square


Gordon.Wright�_11
Square


Gordon.Wright�_12
Square


Gordon.Wright�_13
Square


Gordon.Wright_4
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_5
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_6
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright�_14
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_15
Square


Gordon.Wright_7
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !�#$%&�&'�($)0!�!1'%'2)1�3!(4'(2$%1!�&'�1(!$&!�#!$5&6�$%7�!235'82!%&�'33'(&9%)&)!0�&'�)23('@!�&6!�!1'%'2)1�#!55AB!)%C�'4�D#$%0!$E0�1)&)F!%0G� !�#$%&�&'�5!@!(�$55�)%@!0&2!%&�$%7�49%7)%C�'33'(&9%)&)!0�)%�(!$5)0)%C�&6)0�'BH!1&)@!�)%1597)%C�IP�Q'@!(%2!%&�R)&8�S!$5T�U!@!55)%C�93�$%7�D6$(!7�V('03!()&8�W9%7T� !506Q'@!(%2!%&�X($%04'(2)%C�X'#%0T�Y1'%'28�$%7�R(!$&)@!� $5!0�$%7�'&6!(�2$H'(�49%7!(0G� !�#$%&�&'�!%09(!�'9(�5'1$5�!1'%'2)!0�$(!�0933'(&!7�&'�$16)!@!�(!0)5)!%1!�)%�&6!�4$1!�'4�49&9(!�C5'B$5T�%$&)'%$5T�$%7�(!C)'%$5�16$55!%C!0T�)%�3$(&)195$(�&6!�1)&8�1!%&(!�$%7�'9(02$55�)%7!3!%7!%&�B90)%!00!0�$%7�'(C$%)0$&)'%0�&6$&�$(!�&6!�4$B()1�'4�'9(�1'229%)&)!0�5$(C!�$%7�02$55G� !�#$%&�&'�3('@)7!�$%�!%$B5)%C�$33('$16�&'�0933'(&�)%7)@)79$50T�B90)%!00!0�$%7�1'229%)&)!0�&6('9C6�'9(�!235'82!%&�$%7�B90)%!00�0933'(&T�(!C!%!($&)'%�$1&)@)&)!0T�195&9($5$00!&0T�&($%03'(&�1'%%!1&)@)&8T�35$%%)%C�$%7�'&6!(�0933'(&�$%7�(!C95$&'(8�4($2!#'(̀0�)%�7!5)@!()%C�&6!0!�3($1&)1$5�2!$09(!0G� !�#$%&�&'�!%09(!�D#$%0!$�)0�$�35$1!�16$($1&!()0!7�B8�090&$)%$B5!�1'229%)&)!0�#)&6�0944)1)!%&�C''7�a9$5)&8�6'90)%C�$%7�35$1!0�4'(�#'(̀�$%7�5!)09(!G� !�#$%&�&'�1'%&)%9!�&'�4'(C!�0&('%CT�6$(7A#'(̀)%C�%!&#'(̀0�#)&6�'9(�!b&!(%$5�3$(&%!(0�#6'�$(!�1'A7!5)@!()%C�#)&6�&6!�R'9%1)5G� !�#$%&�&'�&$̀!�$7@$%&$C!�'4�9%&$33!7�C('#&6�3'&!%&)$5�&'�C!%!($&!�090&$)%$B5!�!%!(C8T�7!5)@!(�'%�%!&�F!('�1'22)&2!%&0T�3('&!1&�&6!�!%@)('%2!%&�$%7�B''0&�&6!�!1'%'28Gc��

	��	�V'0&AR'@)7�0933'(&�$%7�(!1'@!(8G��d�7)C)&$5�$%7�1'%%!1&!7�49&9(!�$%7�%!#�2'7!50�'4�#'(̀)%CG��e%C')%C�3('791&)@)&8�C$3�#)&6�(!0&�'4�IP�A�D#$%0!$E0�3('791&)@)&8�fQgd�3!(�6'9(�#'(̀!7h�0&''7�$&�ipGqr�'4�&6!�IP�$@!($C!�)%�ststG�D#$%0!$�6$0�$�6!$5&68�5!@!5�'4�%!#�B90)%!00�4'(2$&)'%0�B9&�&6!�(!5$&)@!�0)F!�'4�&6!�B90)%!00�B$0!�fpti�B90)%!00!0�3!(�utTttt�3'395$&)'%h�)0�B!5'#� $5!0�fpvqh�$%7�IP�fwuih$@!($C!0G�e%!�$%7�4)@!�8!$(�09(@)@$5�($&!0�4'(�!%&!(3()0!0�6$@!�)23('@!7�$%7�)%�stst�#!(!�)%�5)%!�#)&6�&6!�!a9)@$5!%&�($&!0�4'(� $5!0�$%7�IPT�B9&�&6!�)%1(!$0)%C�1'0&0�'4�C''70$%7�0!(@)1!0T�3$(&)195$(58�!%!(C8�1'0&0T�$%7�()0)%C�)%&!(!0&�($&!0�$(!�1(!$&)%C�@!(8�16$55!%C)%C�&($7)%C�1'%7)&)'%0�4'(�5'1$5�B90)%!00!0G��d�%!#�49&9(!�4'(�B'&6�&6!�R)&8�R!%&(!�$%7�02$55!(�7)0&()1&�$%7�5'1$5�1!%&(!0�$%7�$7$3&)%C�&'�%!#�#$80�'4�#'(̀)%C�)%1597)%C�&($%03'(&�2!&6'70�$%7�1'%%!1&)@)&8�$%7�3'0)&)@!)23$1&�'%�35$1!0G�G�e%C')%C�)009!�'4�9%!235'82!%&�$%7�)%$1&)@)&8�$%7�!%09()%C�$�093358�'4�C!%9)%!�3$&6#$80�$%7�'33'(&9%)&)!0G�Y1'%'2)1�$1&)@)&8�$%7�!235'82!%&�($&!0�)%�D#$%0!$�$(!�5'#!(&6$%� $5!0�$@!($C!0�$%7�49(&6!(�B!5'#�!a9)@$5!%&�IP�($&!0G�X6!�x'90!6'57�y%1'2!�Q$3�A�$5&6'9C6�Q('00�S)03'0$B5!�x'90!6'57�y%1'2!�('0!�)%�D#$%0!$�B8�iGpr�B!&#!!%�stu��$%7�stuqT�)&�1'%&)%9!7�&'�5$C�B!6)%7� $5!0�$%7�&6!�IP#6!(!�()0!0�#!(!�usGvr�$%7�upGir�(!03!1&)@!58�'@!(�&6!�0$2!�3!()'7G�y%�stuq�Q('00�S)03'0$B5!�x'90!6'57�y%1'2!�)%�D#$%0!$�#$0�wpGqr�'4�&6!�IP�$@!($C!G�� $C!�($&!�C$3�A�e@!(�&6!�8!$(�&'�d3()5�stsuT�$%%9$5�2!7)$%�4955A&)2!�!$(%)%C0�)%�D#$%0!$�f#'(̀35$1!�B$0!7h�('0!�B8�pGsrT�#6)16�#$0�C(!$&!(�&6$%�&6!� $5!0�f�uGsrh�$%7�IPfAtG�rh�$@!($C!0G�R'%0!a9!%&58T�$%%9$5�2!7)$%�4955�&)2!�#$C!�($&!0�)%�D#$%0!$�0&''7�$&�quG�r�'4�&6!�IP�$@!($C!�)%�d3()5�stsuG�R'%&()B9&!�&'�$�(!791&)'%�)%�7!3()@$&)'%T�&6('9C6�&6!�1(!$&)'%�'4�090&$)%$B5!�#!55�3$)7�!235'82!%&G�X6!(!�$(!�3'1̀!&0�'4�7!3()@$&)'%�$1('00�&6!�1'9%&8T�#)&6�$�%92B!(�'4�$(!$0$2'%C�&6!�6)C6!0&�5!@!50�'4�7!3()@$&)'%�)%� $5!0G�y%�&6!�stuq� !506�y%7!b�'4��95&)35!�S!3()@$&)'%�f y�ShT�D#$%0!$�6$7�$%�$B'@!�$@!($C!�3('3'(&)'%�'4�)&0�U'#!(�D93!(�e9&39&d(!$0�fUDed0h�4!$&9()%C�)%�&6!�2'0&�7!3()@!7�utr�)%� $5!0T�#)&6�uw�fuuGprh�'4�)&0�u�i�UDed0�)%�&6!�uqu�futrh�2'0&�7!3()@!7G�R6$%C!�&6!�19((!%&�B90)%!00�0!1&'($5�2)b�&'#$(70�6)C6!(�0̀)55!7T�6)C6!(�3$)7�!235'82!%&G�iwGvr�'4�!235'82!%&�)0�19((!%&58�0!(@)1!�0!1&'(�B$0!7T�$%7�&6!(!�)0�$%�9%7!(A(!3(!0!%&$&)'%�'4�B90)%!00!0�)%�3('4!00)'%$5T�01)!%&)4)1�$%7�&!16%)1$5�0!1&'(0�#6)16�&!%7�&'�6$@!�B!&&!(�0̀)55!7�$%7�6)C6!(�3$)7�('5!0G�D#$%0!$�6$0�$�6)C6!(�3('3'(&)'%�'4�(!&$)5�B90)%!00!0�&6$%�&6!� !506�$%7�IP�$@!($C!���&6!�35$%%!7�(!C!%!($&)'%�016!2!0�#)55�6!53�7)@!(0)48�&6!�1)&8�$%7�7)0&()1&�1!%&(!0G���!0)7!%&�0̀)550�A�1'%&)%9!�&'�930̀)55�3!'35!�&'�&$̀!�$7@$%&$C!�'4�'33'(&9%)&)!0�)%�%!#�$%7�!2!(C)%C�)%790&()!0G�d77(!00�0̀)550�C$30�)%�0!1&'(0�0916�$0�1$(!T�6'03)&$5)&8�$%7�1'%0&(91&)'%G��!1'C%)0)%C�$%7�#'(̀)%C�#)&6�7!!3�0!$&!7�$%&)A0'1)$5�B!6$@)'9(T�1()2!�$%7�$00'1)$&!7�)009!0�$%7�3('@)7)%C�(!$5�$5&!(%$&)@!0�$%7�0933'(&G�Y%$B5)%C�1(!$&)'%�'4�090&$)%$B5!�!%!(C8�0'9(1!0G��x!53�(!791!�1'22!(1)$5�3('3!(&8�@)$B)5)&8�C$3�#)&6�3('@)0)'%�'4�a9$5)&8�45!b)B5!�$7$3&$B5!�'44)1!�03$1!�)%�(!03'%0!�&'�)%1(!$0)%C�5!@!50�'4�)%#$(7�)%@!0&2!%&�)%&!(!0&�$%7�5'1$5)%7!3!%7!%&�B90)%!00�C('#&6�)%�B'&6�&'#%�1!%&(!0�$%7�2'7!(%�)%790&()$5�0!&&)%C0�y%1(!$0!�&6!�093358�'4�$44'(7$B5!�6'90)%C�B8�B9)57)%C�$%7�$1a9)()%C�%!#�6'2!0�$%7�5''̀)%C�4'(�)%%'@$&)@!�0'59&)'%0�&'�1'%@!(&�!b)0&)%C�B9)57)%C0�)%&'�(!0)7!%&)$5�$11'22'7$&)'%G�W'55'#)%C�1'235!&)'%�'4�&6!� x�DT�1'%&)%9!�&'�)%@!0&�&'�)23('@!�&6!�!%!(C8�!44)1)!%18�'4�!b)0&)%C�6'2!0�$%7�(!791!�&6!�)23$1&�'4�49!5�3'@!(&8�4'(�(!0)7!%&0G ��
P

age 86

Gordon.Wright_8
FreeText
Transforming our Economy and Infrastructure�



�� � ����������	
	������������������ !����"�#$��������!���� ����������	
	���%��&	����������!��������������%���'�(()��������0�!��1������1��'%�(����("�������1�2�31���4
5�����%����������1�(1�6��������������7�����%�1����'������!���(���67�6��������������%����%��8���!�(�������(����������������!�������!��1�("7���!(�6���������7����������6��6����2��%�����������!����6�!��������((�������(�������"7�'��%��%����0����"����9$���!%��1�����%���������2�3�������!�(������������%��(����������1�!�����������!�7�'%�!%��������@�����(��'%������!%���A�6�����%���(()B�(���(�1�(2�C���D!�����������%������������!�����!��������6�'��%�!�������"���������!(��������!(�6�67�'%�!%�%�1�����(�6����������%��������7��(�%���%��%�������D��!��6���������1��%����%�����%��"���2��%��!������!�������!��������������!%�((���������1�����������6������A������%��6�(�1��"���6�!���������0���!�����(���0�!��7�'��%�����������("�%��%����(������!�����������������!���%�����!������������(�7�����("�!%������6�(�������1��(���(��"2��������0�����������������6�%�������6�1�(������������6�(�"�6��'���������������������!�������6�!���(�!������7���������������������6��'�"'%����������(�2������������������2

EE
P

age 87

Gordon.Wright�_16
Square


Gordon.Wright_9
FreeText
Director's Update�



���������	
���������������
��
��������	
���
��  !"���	
��������� 
 ���
#$%�����&���
�'
�����  
(��	���� )%01����'��&
���
�����&2
�2
�������	
'��3��	
�������������
��3
���������	
����  �������
4���
���
 ��� 
��	���������
��������
��3
���4��5�
��
�&� �&���
��������&��
��	���������
� ��6
��
4�  
&�7�&���
���
����'���
�����	�
���
��������
�'�&� �2&���
��3
�������	
�������������
'��
���
 ��	!���&
���&� �2�3
��3�����&���  2
��������
���
��&&����2
����'��
� �����
��
���������6
1����
4�  
� ��
���
'����
��
! ���
#$
6 
8��3
�&� �&��������
�'
�����
����
�� ��
)�	���� 
9����&��
@� ����2
( ��
���4�����
��3
���������3
4��5
���5�	��
��3
'��3��	
�����&�
����
��
AB
�����3(��������2
C��3
��3
�� ��
0�����&���
�������6 ���
#$
)9@(
3� ����2
��3��4�26 0����D��������	
�������
��
��������
E����
�����
��
��3
�7�����	F
�����	�
���
"��������4�����
��������� ���
#$
(��������
��
� ���
��3
�������
'��
��������
������
��
��	���	6 0����(�� ��
G�� ��
1��&�
�������	
����������
���
���
�''������ 2
�2
�3�����	
��
����� �����
 �	�� �����
��
��
��
���
������� ��2
��3
�������	
������
��
���
 ������3
��7�������6 ���
#$
1�7�
 �������	
�''�����
����2
���
��	� ��
����5�
�'
 ������3
3��������3
�����
����� ��
��
������
��&� �����
��3
��5�
������
4������H����36
�����
��
�
���5
����3
���	��&&�
�'
�����������
�'
'��3����������
��
&������
��&� �����
4���
'��3
�2	����
��3
'��3����3��3�
��	� ������6
�''�����
����2
���
����5�
��
 ������3���&����
��
������
����
���2
���
4��5��	
4�����
���
���3���������
���
��
�����
 ������
4���
��'����&���
������
��5��
�'
���2
������6 %&���
G� �
������
�������3�
�'
��4
����
'��
���
���� �
�'
�4�����I
��&��	
��
�����3���	�
H�� ��2
��3
������
�&� �2&���6 ���
#$
P�4
���	�
�'
��������
	�����
������3
����	
AB
�����3(��������2
C��3I
��4
������
��3
��  ��	
���	��&&�6 0����@� ����
��
������
���	��&&�
����
2���I
'��
���
��7�
'���
2����I
4����
�7���3���3
	��4�
��
����
4���
���
��	���������
�'
���
���2
��3
	��4��	
�������
�����&2 ���
#$
1��
9����
���	��&&�
���������
��
	��4
'��&
�����	��
�������	��6
����
���
'����
H������
�'
���
2���
������	Q
%
������C��3
C������ I
D�����
�5�  �
4��5����
R
�� ���	
3��� ��
�5�  �4�����
���
������6
�4�����
(��3�I
�4�����
S�TT
C������ 6
"��2 �����	�
���	��&&�
��� �3��	
R
�4�����
1����� ��I
�4�����
G� 'U�������I
�����
)�	�2I
���3���
D���&�I
B��T2
B����I
AB)��5��
1���
%
������
�'
&����
U����
9�����Q
�� ��
%�����46V���&��
WX6$6
E9������
'��
2���
$
4�  
����
����� 2F6��� 3
(���1����� ��
D��&���������6
���	 ����
(��5
D�������
R
1�&0������I
U�3����
Y
U������2
�'
����36

0����
@� ����
�
���	�
�'
��4
��3
�7�����	
�&&������
�����������I
��&&��
��������
��3
���4
�����
�'
%����
���4�̀
������� ���3
��
�
 ��	��
����
	��4��	
���������	��&&�
E��� �3��	
���
�� '
V���
U��
�����FI
4����
��&&����3
4�����&&����2
�������
'��
( �����&
S��� ��
������6 ���
#$
a
��&&��
��������
�� 3
4�����
���	 ����
(��5
������
#4��5��3�6
���5
��
���	����
��
������
���&�����
'��
#X#b69�����
���&
��������
��
3��� ��
���
%����
3�	��� 
�5��
��3
�����
��	� ��
�������
4���
%10
���
�����
���������6
V���&��
#X#$3� �����3
�������'�  2
4���
#XXX
��&��������6
9������
��4
����'��
���
#X#b
�4�����
WX6$ 0���� cd

P
age 88

Gordon.Wright�_17
Square


Gordon.Wright�_18
Square




����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)(�������
��������0��������#�&��
�1�����1�����2��&�������������%��
�3���4���%������&������
��5��6�%�&��
������3�����������4�&����1�
�1�����4�����&6�	���������1��
��������7�&��	�&������&����8 ����!"�������#�&�
�1��3		���%3��6�4�����&�48�#��&�	��������&�!992999������&�8��3�����������6�	&�4��������3�4�&�	�����3�3�4������$���8�@�����4������$������
���6��&���	�34�4���14�����6��������A������)&�3�4���4���$���&�7���8 ��3���	3&����$� �&���1��������%�&��
��B����
�$��3��������
��C3�4&�����
������5���&�2���	3&�����
��3����%��
���3����%�&��
��%3�3&�8 ����!"�D���&��	������%%�&��		����48�#	E3��������	�$�����48�F�&G������&����������4�'&����	������������4��	3�������3�4�&1�68 )&���5�����3�����1�&G�1��
���&���&������3��4�����&������4�&���������5&�������0��1�&G����3���&���
���H������2��$�&�������4�%3�3&��%��&�	��%�	3��3&�����4�����3&���������$��44�4��	&�����
��5��6�5���&����4�B���&�	����4���	���	���&��8 ����!"�I3�4������	3&�42�4�����3��1��
���	����&���4�&����4���&���&�3�4�&1�6�%�&�	���&�	����&$�P� ������	�%�	������%�&���	��&4�����&2%3�4�4��6��'I����1��
�A(�%�&��4��&������8 )&���Q&���%�&$��
��	��6���4�	�3��6R����%&���&3	�3&������3���&������&������4�&���������	���$6��6�%�	3���������G�6�4������$�������4���
��	����G�6������� ����!"�8 ���&G����1��
��3&�&����������&���&�2��&��&������ST���������&�����&��������4�SUV9$���������&�����	���&���&�
���1��
�W&���������
�����3&���1���&�����	���&���&2�1��
�����������%�	3�����5��&���6�'
����!2��
��5���	�5���&���������4����Q
�$�������8 ����!"�'&��&�����%��
����T���4���43����&� �	���3�4�&1�6��3� �	����	�������%3�4���������������68 )&���'&��&�����
��'���	��Q
���&����4�#���&��A����4������$����������	3&���3&�
����&�	�3��4�����%�&�%3�3&������&���������4����G������������������3����������	3&���
�%3�3&���%��
��@�6��3$��3��4���8 ����!"���������1�&G��3�4�&1�6����'���	����4�#���&��A���8 )&�����&G�1��
���&���&�����4�������	�$$�&	����$���1
����3���8 ����!"�'&��&����3�4�&1�6�����(�����&�������1������'�&���&�
��8�0�1F���1
�������	��	���&�	�����������3�4�����WX��'I8 )&���'&��&����1�&G�����
����1�5�������E3�&��)�&4�����&� �	�8 ����!"��3&�&�����&�������&��&�$$��4�����&6����3�4�&1�62�3����������������������%3�4��������&�3������2���4��&��������	��&�������$���2����&�������3��$�H�4�3���&�����&�������&� �	����
���%���1��
��
�5�3�	��Y���H�����������	6�%&�$�1�&G8 )&���'&��&����1�&G�����
����1�	��6�	���&��5�$$3���6�A3���&� �	���&���4��������1
�$������
��5���&���̀��&�&68 ����!"�(D�#�������a��%�	����&������%��
��%�&$�&��A�b�
������&�	�$�����4���4������4��%%P�%3�4����%�&��&� �	����&��4����5��������4�����
�)��8�̀�D�������	��3�����Tc�
��%��	��1��
�X��&���44�$��������1�&G�����&��4���������TT�
�����8�5���&�	��4�	3$�����������&���&�4��6����������������3�4��6�Tc�
��%��	�8 )&���5�$�������
���
���4�4�$���������%�Q6�B�1���������4��
����4�$3�������&�6�	�&���&G8����!"�Q6�B�1�������4�$����
�48��)5̀�
��������&�4��4$�����&�����2���$����B�H�����������4����&����	�$����1��
�1������	�34��F�5'4�$�������8 )&���'&��&�����
���3��4��%�UT�U!�Q
��X����1�62����	&�������������������
3��1
�	
�1������
�$�������1��3�����������4�3�������H�
3�4&�4���1� ���8 ����!"�5����&3	�����3�4�&1�68 )&��� de
P

age 89

Gordon.Wright�_19
Square




����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0�����1������&��&����2������$������2�������$�����
&�1�
��
���34�������&3���&�	��������5����4�6���7 ����!"��34���������������������&����8��1��
�������&���2��
���&� �	��1� �	�����%1�2�����%%�&�7�0�������
�������&���2��&����%1�2����1���&�7�'#0�	�$�����7�'�������������	����������	�����2���	�������&����8�	�$�����27 #$��&'&��&����
������2��	1�������%�&��
��0��47 ����!"�#���&���������������������	����2�&�2�%����8����8��
2&�8����%�&�������
��������&���&7 #$��&��&3���������&���&�
���8��
�'��2�&4��9�������&4@��1���&���
�����������%�����88
��34�2�������&4����&�	��������A��2�&�7 ����!"�'&� �	��	�$�����7 ��1�'&��&�����
��2������$������2�&����������%��
��(���&�B�8��	�&&�2�&@���	�12������8��������7 ����!"�'&� �	��2�����&4�1�2�&8�47�'�������C����������������3�������	��	����&�!D!"@�����	
�21��7 )&���9�����&���8��&�$���2���$�&���$�������2�2������$����@����8���������8����
�����&�1�2��8��������47 ����!"���&3��	�$$��	�2����E��1�&4���2�
�����&��&����2�8���7�(��1��&������$���������������&��
��2�����
��	�$$1���4�	���&�7#������$�����
�����������	1&�2��
&�1�
��
���&�	3����2�F�&��&����������7�B
��	�$�����2��	
�$��8������	�12����8������&2���2%����������
����7���	��2��
�����%������&2�������������	�$$��	�27 )&���0�$$�������$�&�������1���	��������7 ����!"���&����4����3�
��2�&��&����8�2G�#	����������1�2�&�&����8G�)&����		����2����&�%1&���
�(
�������B������7 )&���'&��&����2��	1�������%�&��
����8�����&�	������H1�&�1$@���$��������%%�&����$$�&������I��&���	��%�&�������&����2���8�2�&��21	��������&���1&	�7 ����!"�9��	1�������1�2�&8�4�����P&���������
7 )&�����&��������&��&����2��	1�������&���&2��������8�%�&&4���&��	�����3����������8��
��
���1�
�������%�Q�����27 ����!"�9��	1�������1�2�&8�47 #$��&0�$$�������&��&����2��	1�������8��
���&���&��&���&2�����
��R���&������������&���	���	��S������7 ����!"�T���������4���2������������&������	�$�����2���2��1� �	�����%����&����8�8��������
�&�2�����&����4�8��
���$�������8��
�'�&���&�U�P�&��&����9�	V7��1�	�$�����3��%1�1&����������%�&�2�����&4���2����&���	�� �����4�	�$$�������2�%�&�	����2�&�������4���&���&�7F�&3��������	�$�����2@�8��
���&����&����������2���3��4	�$���������$�&3����%����2�&�2�01&&����4���&��������%�&$���I����������&��2����&������������W'����"CXD"X!Y����%�&���������	��������8���$��%�&�������������������	����2�&�27 )&���
0�$$������������$��������1&���8�����2���������7 ����!"�B&���%�&$����B�8�����2�Q(T�2�����&4�1�2�&8�47�'�1�B&���%�&$����0�1��4��&� �	��	&����2�����P5��'T����	&����	�1��4�8�2���&��������&�1�������%�&��
����
�$�7 )&��� `̀

P
age 90



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0�����&�����
��&�%1&���
$������2�1��&�2���%�&�$���������3�&����	4� ����!"�5���&�	��&���������2�%�&�5&�%�������2��&��&����������2������22�������������6�7���������	�����2������&�	����&1	�����2��������2��	��2��������&�	1&�$����3�������	�$�����2��8������$��&�!9!@��2��&� �	��2�����&8�	�$�����2������&�2�����&8���$�%&�$�������26)&���'&���2��$�&�����&�8��%%�	�����
�$�����2�$�&���%%�&2�����
�$��A��������2��$�&�������$���������	����
�1����6 ����!"�B�3��1��2��	
�$����&��&������������&��1����������%�2�����A�&�	1&�$������2������2�����&8����$�C�$��������2��%�	�������12���6�)&��������&�1�������������$�C�$���2��
&�1�
�1����%D#5'���2�E�0F�A�����22����������G)6�H�&��G�$����12����&����31�2�&3�8����	�� 1�	�����3��
�3�2�&�G(#��12����&����3���2���&$����%1�1&��&���1&	������������6�I9�8��&�2�����&8�&��&�$$�����2������$�������2�����1�	�$���%�G(#��12���&����36�(����3��%��3����������2�&2�1�2�&3�86�#����	�������1�$����2�%�&�G#'��5��8�0����F����	����7�	�������%1�2����1����$����G(#��12���6
#$��&

'1���	�G����
�D��$�����1&�����&������&����2��&���&�������2�G�$������H1�������		1��������&����%��%�&�����������2�&��1���&�2�&���&���&���	1��26 ����!"�D
��'&��������	��&�G�1�����D��$�
��2���GH�������	��������������3��
�&��1�������A�&�����2������P1�&������2�	�$�����������1�
�1���������2�&2����2�	���&�	�����1��A���4������%�&	�$���3
�&����	����&86�7����	�������&��Q2���8�2R�21�������	4���	&����2��8�5���2���2���$���2����%%�&���1&	��6�#���&��1���&�2�&���	�2������&�������������2��8��
��D&�2��������2�&2��D��$���2����&�	46�7%��1%%�	�������%�&$�������
��������������������1�2�&��4����2����&��&�������%�&	�$�����	�������4��6
#$��&

5�$�������
������
�S1����8�G�1���������2�&2�T�SG�U�I���2����������������SG��!6 ����!"�V�GS��'
����I�	�$�����2����0�	�$��&�!9!I�3��
��������������$�����%�WX@Y$6�@�̀��&��&��&�$$��%�&��GS�!9!"���&���2��8�5�1�	��6�5��������&��&�$$��%�&�!9!"a!@�W"b$���2%1&�
�&�WI@9$�������$����1����!9!ba!c����$���������
�����2�&2���2�2��������&��&�$$���%�&��GS�!9!"6��#d#��%�3�&���&�	1&�2�����������3��
��
����3����&�8����
3�8�&�P1�&�2�%�&��GS��!9!"6 #$��&

ef
P

age 91



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0�����1��������
����2���
�����%��
��3�&��4�$����1��56�7
�����$�����������&��&�������%1&�
�&�&��&�%��������%�	�1�	���
�$��8 ����!"��	
�$������5������$����51��������&��!9@!A���	�15�B�0&��7���&��5���C�1������&��5���4�1�����D"�E�����4����FG�G����!!�1����3��%�&5�#H����9I�1�����P���&�2Q8����5�&�%�&�5������$������&���&��&����5�%�&����1��R���!98��&�S���G�(��5�DTI�1�������������������	�������1�$����5���	����&1	�����5�����&G�5�����������5���4(#��15����&����78�#U1���������&��&�$$����!"@!9��15����V"$%1��G�����	���5�%�&�!W�1������������	��!"8�#55��������%1�5����%&�$�DIT�	�$$1��5��1$�������������55�5�����2���5��&��&�$$����G��&���58�9�G&�4(#�	��������&��&�$$����	�15��5�	�&��7�&S����
���2����������	S������&���%��4X��!I!"��1�������&���&$�&��&�$$�����&�DI�G��&��H�%1�5����G���������5���&$���58#55���������&����%1�5�����������5�%&�$��)�����$���5�(��&�%��'&��&�$$���%�V"$�����1���&��5�	�&�����������$���1&������4(#	��������&��&�$$�8
#$��&

'&�$������5���
��	����5���&�����5��1������������	����	���$G��
&�1�
����1&�����&��1�������	G�%&�$�7�&S ����!"�8 �'&��&�����
��(����	�$�����7������Y�	���F������$����'��������&���5�����1����5���������������5����	��$�S����%&�$�7�&S�%�&��1�5����5�	����������5������$����&������� ����!"�F�����&G�#�&��$�������&���5��G�0�1�	�����5�����
�)���&�$�����5�7�&S�1�5�&7�G8�̀�&���S�G�����������	����%�&�0��5�5�����������
���	�$$��	�5��������5���&� �	��7�&S����%�&$1�����S�G1�5�&�����������5��	�8 )&���#�&�������7��7��������G���&����G8 ����!"�'&��&�������5�����&G��&��&�$$�������
��a	���$G���5b�%&���&1	�1&���c0���5�5�5�	���5�7�&S�
���6�%�	1����S��G���������Y������5�%�&�!"�!98�#�&���&�����������5�������5�������
��&5���aHb��c0����d���$��&�!I!"8��7��������G�F�����&G�'����%�&$��������5�����$�7��
����
��0��G�(�����&������'&��&�$$�����&58 )&���c��&�$�5�����&��	��6�%�	1��������$�������������e�����5�6�7��
����
��%1�5������������ ����!"�3���&�&���&1	�1&���7��
����
��'��������#����	���������&��	����5�
��d��1&���a���&��$������&��	���&���	
�51��5�%�&�$���$������������!I!"@!9���5�!9@!A�&����	�����G8�c
���&���&1	�1&���7�����$�&����	�����%%�	���	G���5���&��	��5�����&G&�������	�8 )&���0�$$��	����&����7��%��
��5������5���&S������G�����	G8 ����!"�F&�%���&��������&������5����0���������5�0
��&��%�&�5��	1���������&�����5�����	G8�̀�&$���&���&���������&������58 )&���'&��&����c#dDA�5��	1�������7��
�����
�)���&�$�������%��5������1������
���1���&������&��&�����5������$���8 ����!"�0���1��������&���������&���5�5������%�&$��)�5&�%������%�%����5�	1$���8�0�����1������������7��
��)6���	�15�����
&�1�
��Y)#6��5��7�������%�������&������2��	��5���5��%�!I!"@��&�G�!I!98 )&���b�����$��������1&�	�$$1�����������&���5�����5�	�$$1���G���%&���&1	�1&� ����!"�8 � fg
P

age 92

Gordon.Wright�_20
Square


Gordon.Wright�_21
Square




����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)'&�$�����0����������0����%����&������	
���%�&���	������&���	�0��1 ����!"�)��2�3�&4����&��������
���3��
� 0���&���2������&�����0������3������������4�����������2�$�����0����������0����%��&������	
�����2�")�����&���2��5��0&���&���&�1���&�������4�����3��
6#����2���
�&�)�����2�������2&������3�������$���7����3������%0&�
�&�8�����������&��&����2����9!���2����������$����&��&�$$���	&����$����	���&���$������%�&3�&2�3��
����2�&�&�	����%�&�	
�������&��$�����@5�522�A�35221 )&���
8�����0�����������������&4����2����5��&���1 ����!"�'&��&�$$���%��	�����5�%�&�!"�!B�	�����0���������%&�$�3�&41C&��	
��!��3�&2�27�C&��	
��"��0��������2�&1�D�&��5�'�&4�%0�2���&������0���2���2���	�02�2����C"1 )&���'&��&����&�����0���%�%&����0���	����6�1 ����!"�8���&�	��
���������3�&2�2���2��&���������%����6�����%�0&�E���&�	�8���&����������	�����2�%�&��
���%����	����5��&1 )&���8�$$������	�$���������5��&���0��&�2��1 ����!"�'&��&�$$���%��	�����5�%�&�!"�!B�	�����0���������%&�$�3�&41C&��	
��!��3�&2�27�C&��	
��"��0��������2�&1�D�&��5�'�&4�%0�2���&������0���2���2���	�02�2����C"1 )&���8�����0���
��&����	�$�����%��0���
����&��������������1 ����!"�FG��
����&�����%�&������	
��%�H(6�%0�2��������	�$�����21�FI�
����&�������	��2����	
��&�H6(�%0�2����P���������2����2���1 )&���8�$$�������������������3��������2����&����	��2���3����������3��
���&��&�����&������1 ����!"�����&����	�$������&�	��2����3���7�3��
�$����3�&2��
�����&�	����2�%�&���&�0�2��%��&��&��5�&����	�$����1�'&�	0&�$���	�$������%�&��0&	
�����%���Q���0���5��%�����1 )&���

RS
P

age 93



�������������	����
����
������������
�������� �����!"#��
��� � ����$%&�����'��
��(�!��	����)	��	��� 0&12�����	�3�"�

�	��4�
��(�����
���5 ����$%���'"�����4�
����	4���6��������3�6�������37�(�	
��	�(����������	�3�(�	�6�3�	��
	�
��8���3��	���	�'��
�(�	�������
���8�����	
�3���(�	�������
'��
�!�
�$%5 1	���9�''����3�@AB�'�������������	��3����	�3��5 ����$%�)	��	�''��3�������3���3�6�	4��
��"��3�����	�3����	���'���'��
��5 1	���)	�'�
�3�
���(	�����3����
����"��������(����	
����
�����(�	����������	
�����"�5 ����$%�9�'���
�5  �������	�3���
����
�(�	�2�"����'�5 ����$%���	4�
����3�
������	���	�3���3�3�����������6�
���	�����
���
����
��
�4���������5 &'"�	��	4��	��	����3����
�����6�9��
����C��	��1�	3�����	�#��
5 ����$%�9��
	��
�	����
�	���6�3�D�AB�3�8��
��3��
������	��3�����#��
�E��	�35�F���"#��
������	������������	������3�
���	�(�		�3
��3�	5�)9�&�G�
����H����
	��
��"������	���	�3�(�	��������5)9�&��
����H�3��������3����
����
��	���(�	�AI�6��4�P��(
�	6�������	���	
�6����"���	����
�3�
��9�"���
�
�����(�	'����
��	��'��
�QR����	8S5���
��T����
���
�����!�
�"�	�$%�9��
	��
�	�
���
�	
������
��U�"���	���$H5 1	���
9�''����3�
��������3�3�'���
�����(�V8�2�6�����
���3�
�����3�'��
���
�	�8���	��	4 ����$%�V8�2�6�����
�3�'���
������'���
�35���9)��6��
����3�'���
���5 1	���WA�W$�V���X����6�8���'���
�35 ����$%�9���
	��
������3�	6�85 1	���)	��	����3�3������������������6�(�		8���	��������4����������6�
��
������
�����
��(Y�����3 ����$%�2�������������3�	6�85 1	���

à
P

age 94



���������	�
����	���������� � !"#$
&'
(&)0$1(02
201$0#3
4506
�#7&)3
�$5(82
9
�&$01$
@&!! )507
�#)#'50
(A1 2#2
5)
06#5$
(&)0$1(02 BC D@EEF E6#
1!& )0
&'
!&)#7
2G#)0
"7
H5250&$2
0&
06#
@507
9
@& )07
&'
I41)2#1
PQ!5AA5&)R QB�CS@T E6#
U#$(#)01V#
&'
1AA
!1W&$
1GGA5(105&)2
4506
1)
#(&)&!5(
5!G#$105H#
0610
1$#
1GG$&H#3 BCCX BCCXS@D �H#$1V#
E $)1$& )3
E5!#
'&$
Y1)3
@61$V#
I#1$(6#2
(&!GA#0#3
5)
06#
G#$5&3 BC̀CC B̀abSUTc1 E6#
G#$(#)01V#
&'
1AA
UA1))5)V
�GGA5(105&)2
3#0#$!5)#3
45065)
1V$##3
05!#2(1A#2 bC̀CCX bàBCXSIdB e1A #
&'
5)41$3
5)H#20!#)0
$#A10#3
0&
G$&G#$07f"12#3
G$&W#(02
46#$#
06#
1 06&$507
&4)2
A1)3PQCCCg2R TBhaCC

ipqrstp
vpw
x ipqrstp yqt�p� ���sq� �ptw�t�q��p

��
P

age 95

Gordon.Wright�_22
Stamp


Gordon.Wright�_23
Square


Gordon.Wright�_24
Square


Gordon.Wright_10
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_11
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �



���������������	

��	�������	����	� !"#!!$�&'&(�)$0�&'&12�"3!�456"�57�89@9$A�BC9696�)$0�5$A59$A�!B5$5D9B�B3)EE!$A!6�#9EE�B5$"9$F!�"5�9DG)B"�5$�9$09@90F)E62�7)D9E9!6�)$0�B5DDF$9"9!6�)BC566�H#)$6!)I�P5@!C"Q�96DFE"9R09D!$695$)E2�B5DGE!S2�AC5#9$A�)$0�9DG)B"9$A�D5C!�G!5GE!�9$�T)E!6I�U3!�B5F$B9E�3)6�)$�9DG5C")$"�C5E!�"5�GE)Q�9$�3!EG9$A�G!5GE!�"5�)EE!@9)"!�G5@!C"Q2�9DGC5@9$A�"3!9CG!C65$)E�GC56G!C9"Q�"3C5FA3�V!""!C�6W9EE6�)$0�X5V62�)$0�)00C!66�"3!�W!Q�966F!6�9$7EF!$B9$A�G5@!C"Q�6FB3�)6�35D!E!66$!66I��T!�)E65�6!!�)�C5E!�75C�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6�9$�6FGG5C"9$A�G!5GE!�"5�0!E9@!C�!)CEQ�9$"!C@!$"95$62�9DGC5@!�"3!�#!EEV!9$A�57�E5B)E�G!5GE!�)$0�VF9E0�B5EE)V5C)"9@!�C!E)"95$639G6�#9"3�6!C@9B!GC5@90!C6I�YFC�@9695$�75C�"396�GC95C9"Q�96�"5�BC!)"!�#!EB5D9$A2�6"C5$A2�C!69E9!$"2�B5$$!B"!0�)$0�GC56G!C5F6�B5DDF$9"9!6�)6�G)C"�57�5FC�C!6G5$6!�"5�")BWE!�)$0�)EE!@9)"!�G5@!C"Q�9$H#)$6!)I��U)BWE9$A�G5@!C"Q�)$0�!$)VE9$A�B5DDF$9"9!6�96�)�#!EEV!9$A�5VX!B"9@!�V!B)F6!�#!�$!!0�"5̀�R�B5$"9$F!�C!6G5$09$A�"5�"3!�AE5V)E�!B5$5D9B�GC!66FC!6�R�9$BEF09$A�"3!�456"�57�89@9$A�BC9696�R�"3)"�)C!�9DG)B"9$A�5$�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6I�R�")CA!"�6FGG5C"�75C�G!5GE!�9$�G5@!C"Q�5C�)"�C96W�57�G5@!C"Q�9$�5C0!C�"5�)EE!@9)"!�G5@!C"Q�)$0�")BWE!�"3!�E5$A!CR"!CD�9DG)B"6�5$�5FC�65B9!"QI�R�75BF6�5$�3!EG9$A�G!5GE!�"5�)@590�"3!�$!!0�"5�)BB!66�6!C@9B!6�VQ�GC5D5"9$A�!)CEQ�9$"!C@!$"95$6�)$0�GC!@!$")"9@!�)B"95$I�R�!DV!0�"3!�E9@!0�!SG!C9!$B!�57�G!5GE!�9$�G5@!C"Q�)BC566�5FC�6!C@9B!6�"5�!$6FC!�"3)"�#!�F$0!C6")$0�)$0�D!!"�"356!�$!!06I�R�BC!)"!�B5DDF$9"9!6�"3)"�)C!�6)7!�)$0�C!69E9!$"�#3!C!�G!5GE!a6�C9A3"6�)$0�$!!06�)C!�C!6G!B"!0I�R�9DGC5@!�"3!�G!C65$)E�GC56G!C9"Q�57�9$09@90F)E6�"3C5FA3�5GG5C"F$9"9!6�"5�0!@!E5G�6W9EE62�9DGC5@!�!DGE5Q)V9E9"Q2�)BB!66�X5V6�)$0�E55W�)7"!C�"3!9C�5#$�#!EEV!9$AIb��

	��	�8!@!E6�57�G5@!C"Q�#39B3�C!D)9$6�G!C696"!$"EQ�39A3�R�#9"3�)ED56"�)�cF)C"!C�57�G!5GE!�9$�T)E!6�E9@9$A�9$�G5@!C"Q�R�)$0�9DG)B"6�5$�E97!�!SG!B")$BQ2�3!)E"3�5F"B5D!6�)$0�)0@!C6!!77!B"6�5$�"3!�G55C!6"�)C!)6I�P!5GE!a6�!SG!C9!$B!6�57�G5@!C"Q�B5@!C9$A�)�C)$A!�57�B5DD5$�966F!6�9$BEF09$A�)BB!66�"5�!66!$"9)E�C!65FCB!6�6FB3�)6�35F69$A2�7F!E2�!$!CAQ2�BE5"39$A2�755"#!)C2�75502�)$0�#)"!C2�)6#!EE�)6�6FGG5C"�#9"3�79$)$B!62�!SBEF695$�7C5D�6!C@9B!62�)$0�!D5"95$)E�)$0�C!E)"95$639G�966F!6I��U3!�!S"C)�B56"6�"3)"�G!5GE!�5$�E5#�9$B5D!6�DF6"�G)Q�75C�!66!$"9)E6�R�6FB3�)6�"C)$6G5C"2�7F!E�)$0�7550�R�0F!�"5�"3!�G5@!C"Q�GC!D9FD2�B5DG5F$0!0�VQ�"3!�5$A59$A�456"�57�89@9$ABC9696I��U3!�C5E!�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6�GE)Q�9$�")BWE9$A�G5@!C"Q�)$0�GC!@!$"9$A�G!5GE!a6�$!!06�7C5D�!6B)E)"9$A�"5�"3!�G59$"�#3!C!�"3!Q�$!!0�6!C@9B!6�5C�9$"!C@!$"95$6I��43)$A!6�"5�G5GFE)"95$�)$0�0!D5AC)G39B6�)6�#!EE�)6�E5B)E�G5GFE)"95$�$!!06�)6�5FC�B5DDF$9"9!6�3)@!�D5C!�5E0!C�G!5GE!2�V!B5D!�D5C!�FCV)$96!0�)$0�C!cF9C!�D5C!�35D!6�"5�V!VF9E"I��YGG5C"F$9"9!6�"5�#5CW�BE56!C�#9"3�B5DDF$9"9!6�"5�")BWE!�"3!6!�9DG5C")$"�B3)EE!$A!62�VF9E09$A�5$�"3!�$!"#5CW62�6"C!$A"36�)$0�)66!"6�57�5FC�E5B)E�)C!)6IUdHU
ef

P
age 96

Gordon.Wright�_25
Square


Gordon.Wright�_26
Square


Gordon.Wright_12
FreeText
Tackling Poverty and Enabling Communities�



����������	
�����������
�������� �� �����
��!���""� !��!��!��������#� !$�	
�� ���
!�
	�
��
�!��
���������
����� �	
��!������!��"�%�#�
��� ������
���
���
�����
������ ���	 ����
�	&������ #����'�! �!������� ��!��
����&��
����#�������!� �	����	 ��
������
!�(� �����(�� �" �����	 �������
��)�#� !$��! �!��$0�(�!���� ���
!��	 #�$� ����#�
���#� �!� ����	
� ��� ����
����
���	&������
�	�!�!��
����

���"� �12'�3����#������#� ���!� ��!���� �
!���	������!���4�����$�5����5	
��6�#� �789@�����
!��
��	��� �������$�"����"� ������ �
��
��$�	
�������A'�B	 �����	
�!����"� �3� ��)�	�������$�&���!$�� �� ���������!���������!�
	�&� ��"�C�
!��(� ��D��
�3������	 �
��18'�3��"� ��E���!��F�#��� ����#���������!�� ������#� 78���
�(��"� ��&�
�"�!���� ���$�!����$�� '�3����#��	
�� !���
����

�
��� �	
����� �#�
������!����
��	���
����(���������#�����
��!�����!���
���	�����"� ��	 ��� �� �!�#��	
!�� �
�������$'4�������
���� ����
������$�������
������� ���
!�!��
���"���������
�������� ���
0�(�!��(� ��!��&	������ ���
� �$��""����
!��
���""� ��&���������� �� ����
�����
������
� ����
���	 ��!�����"���	
����� ��� !����!� �	���
�(�&	������
����G	���!��
�'������	
�����������
�������� �� �����
��!���""� !��!���
�&�������	
�!����!��&������ ������
!0���"�0�(������
���
��� ���� �	�'3��� �����

�
�������
!���"�!�������	
�!����F
��� �� �H��!��"�!������ ���) ���� �!$�5	
��!����#�������� �������� �	
���� �� �!��#��	
!�� �
�0�����	
�!$�� �(�
���
���� �#�
����I� ��	�!��
�(�!������������	
�!���'�F�
�(��
�&��
������	
�!����P �
!�6��#� �
��� �#��	��"	
���� �	
���BF��0��(�
������������
��!���4�����$�5����5	
�A�(�����	
����
�Q�#��&� '��
������
!�� �
�"� ��!��
�(� �������
��	����!�����	
����"�!���
�(������&� �!��
��!�!��
��!�!���Q�!��
���3�!� " �
!�R	��	�'�%�����F ������ ��
�!� ��� ��	  �
!�$��	��� !�
���#� ���!��	��
����������
��	 �����	
�!�����
����
!�
	��!���	��� !�����	
�!$���� �#���
!�'�3����#��	
�� !���
���!��
����

�
��� �	
������	
�!$ ������
���S����"I ����
������(�������!�����	
���D��� ���!��
��"���������
!� � ����'F� ����!����� �� �!$0� ���	 ������#��&��
�������
����!�������(�!������
���
���$�� �����������������
����� �#�
!��
��
�� ����
����
�� �
!�"	
��
��"� ���$��� #������ ������$ �����
�!� ����"��	�!��
�&���!$��
�� �� 	�!��
!'�3����
!�
	��!����
�!� ��
����!���!�� ����� ���!�
��!����#� !$��
��!������!��"�%�#�
��� ��������
��������� �!��
����
���� "� ��
�� ����'�3� ���
����� "� ��
���" ���(� ������
�
�������
!���"���#� !$��
������	
�!$�(� �������
!�
	�
���
��(�����
"� ���	 ���	
���I(������� �����!�������#�
��!����� �� �!$�#� �!����� �����"�!����� �� �!��)��
'T
��	��� $0�(��� ���
�! ����!������#� ��	 ������!��
!���
�!����� �� �!��)��
�"� �U@U2VU9��
��(��� ���W�����
��
�� �$������"��	 �X�$�)� "� ��
���T
����!� �'

Ỳ
P

age 97

Gordon.Wright�_27
Square


Gordon.Wright_13
FreeText
Director's Update�



���������	
���������������
��
��������	
���
��  !"���	
��������� 
 ���
#$%�����&���
�'
�����  
(��	���� )%0������	��
1��������
!
��
2�  
1��� ��
&����1�
�'
2��3��	
2���
���� �
2���
 ���1�4��������
��
��!���1���
��1
��� ���
���
� �	��1
������	��
�������5
�����&��
��1����������
'��
6��3 ��	
(�����7
��1
8�&&����7
9��� �&���@ ���
#$
9�	�	�&���
��1
��!���1������
�'
���
6��3 ��	
(�����7
������	7��
��	���	
�����	�
���
��&&��
&�����
�'
#A#$@
��
������������
��!���1������
2�  
'������
��
�
3�7
������� �
�'
���
'�����1� ����7
�'
���
2��3
��
���3 ��	
������7
��1
���� ��	��&&�������@ 0����8���
�'
B����	
!
��
2�  
��1���
 ��� �
�'
������7
��1
&���	���
���
�&�����
�'
����	��
������7
�7
��  ��	
���
	�����&���
	�����5
�����1��	
2� '���
��	���
�1����
��1�&� �&�����	
���	���1
����&��
��� �1��	
���
C'���
���
��1�D
����������
��1
�2�����������@ ���
#$
��
����
�������1
��1
���
�1&���������	
(����1
E�	���7
��8�&&�������
��1
E�����
F��1
�������
	�����@
%
G� �1�7
F��1F��1
2��
 ������1
��
%�	���
��
��������
��
���
2���1��2� 
�'���
F�H
G� �1�7
(�7&����@
�� '���
)�	���
%1������
���1� ������	
�������	
�������
��
1��� ��
�3�  �
��
1��	�����	
��1�� ���	
����'��
���� �&�@ 0����6��3 ��	
��1
���������	
��&� �������
!
��
2�  
�&� �&���
���
G�����	
�������(��	��&&�
������	7
��
�������
���� �
2��
���
��&� ���
��
��
���3
�'
����&��	��&� ���@ ���
#$
6����
���
����
�
3�7
'����
��
���
���1
��
1� ����
��
���
����1��������	
������	��
�������7
��1
�������	
&���
�''��1�� ���&�����7
��1
���&�����
����&&�1�����@
6%8(
'��1��	
���������1
����
�����
����������
���
����	
&��5
��2����
2���
������������	
����
�'
 ����	
������
��1
����
��
��&� ���
�������������&����
����
���3 ��	
��1
���������	
��&� ���
��
���7
���  ��	��	��
���
�������
� �&���@ %&���
H�3��	
&���
��&��
���� �� �
!
��
2�  
�''��
&���
����	7
�''������
��1
�''��1�� ���&��
��
�� �
&���&���
������� 1
�����5
��
2�  
��
���������	
���
���� ��� ��7
��1I�� ��7
�'
����� 
������	5
��
�� �
&���
���� �
������
����&&�1�����
����
�������� �
'��
�����
���1�@ ���
#$
%�
�����
PQQA5
QRRS
T�2
��� 1
����&��
���
���	������	
���������
���	��
�'
1���	�5
�������&���@
94!������ 
U��7
���3U��I��������
���	��&&�
���������@

6�
1���5
###
�11������ ������ 
����������
����
����
�11�1
��
���
������	
����3��� �1��	V
��2
��� 1W����������X
Ỳ 5
%�I���������
X
a#R@ %&���b&������	
���� �D�
���������7
!
��
2�  
1� ����
���	��&&��
�'
�&� �7��� ��75
�3�  �1��� ��&���
��1
��&&����7
�������&����
����
�� �
���� �
��
�&�����
��������������
'��
���
'�����
��1
�� ������
�����
��&�
��
����������
��
�����
 ��� ��&&�������@ ���
#$
9&� �7��� ��7
H������
�������
��1���1�� �
����
�&� �7&���
2�����
��
���
8�&&�������
'��
���3
( ��
��1
(���2�7�
��������@8F�c
����
��������1
����
dAA
����1����
2���
����
#RA
�������	�&� �7&���@
)���1����
���
��������1
��
���
�����
�''����5
 ��� ��&&����7
����
��1
���
������ 
I��1����
���@
E�	��� 
"�����������	
��1
�������
P'�  �2��	
��
'��&
���
0��
�2�����
�� ������	��&&�S
��
1� �����1
��
����
�'
���
B�'� ��	
B������	
�������@6��
BB�
�������
'��
���
��2
���1�&��
7���
������1
��
���
�����1I������@

0����
ef

P
age 98



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0$��1�&����	�$$2������������1�����$��3��
���&��	�������%�
2$���&��
����	&����2&�1�&4�1��
�	�$$2������5��$��1�&������	�����������������$�&���������3�����
�	���&�32	������%���&��	��5�	�$$2���6�	�
��������3���	�������2�7 ����!"�0�����$����8&���%�&$������9��3��%%�	�&����&��3���������@���A2�6!B!"5�8
��3������$������3���2�	
��%��
����1�	�$$2��6������$�������	��8
��C������&�������������������!B!"7D��������E�&	����FC����	�����8��$��1�����F����	2&&����6��2�%�&����%%����	�$�����7�8
��3������$�����%��
����1��&��
��G3���C�$����������&������������	&�����
������������
�&�����
�&��3���5���%�&$�	�$$2���6��&� �	�����3�����������7 )&���
H�������	�$$2���������%�������1������	4����������	������
����2&��
&�2�
���&����3��������������3��2���&��%�&��������1
���&���2���&������&����&��4��6��$�&�������
��&����	���%���%�&	�$������3�2������������I���	
�������������&���	����	�����������3��&���&�67 ����!"�#������	������
����2&��������%�&��1������'�&���&�
����&��&��67�	&2���6�C����%�&�0��3��	��
���$���1��
�$��6�����2��&6���3��������2��&6��&��������������3���&��	��5���3�1����
������&���&�����
��#2�2$��!B!"�1��
�&�	�$$��3�������%�&�C����������	����3�&7 )&����2��3����	�$$2���6�������������1����	�����2������&�1��
����������%�����	�$$2�������	&�����1�������6�2���������&����
������3����&��	
������	&�����&��������	�$$2���6���3�������������P�2	
������	��������&�&����Q���3���������
������&���3	�$$2���6�
2���������3�1��
��2&�9�	���9��&�&6�'���7 ����!"�C�#�8��&��&�$$��1����$���$����3���3�3�����&�37����&�	����3���&�@RB������	�������1
�	
��������3����&�STBB5BBB���3�����	���3%2�3�������@U@��&� �	���1
�	
��������3�SVTB5BBB7�C�#�8�����
���3�6��&��������3�����&������&������%��	�����������	�23�������&�51��������5��&��I	&�%��5�����&��$��������3���	���7�8
�&��1�����&�E�$����6�!B5BBB������3��	����2��1��
��������	�$�����3�
������2������	���������6��7 )&���

WX
P

age 99



�������������	����
����
������������
�������� �����!"#��
��� � ����$%&�����'��
��(�!��	����)	��	��� 0&1)�"�����2���	�	�(	����2�3��4�����)���	
5��
	�
��56�7�	4��������	�2��
����5�7�
���	���	
��	����2��������7�
������2��8��	�������(�����	
59 ����$%�0�(	�����(�
���3��4�����)���	
5��
	�
��5������	��	����2�2�	���@$������	����
��(�
���������'��
��������(��
	�
��52������'��
9�1��2�������'��
�7�
����	
��	�6���
7�	4�6(�	�'����2�
�������	�����"����
�	�������	���	��5�7�����7�������2�	����&����
���2����
�'"�	9 1	���A�������2���3��4�����)���	
5�)�	(�	'�����B	�'�7�	4�
��
���������"#��
����6��
��'�����2���	(�	'�����'����	���	���
�2�
��
��4���������	
59 ����$%���	4������	��	����2�7�
��
���2	�(
���	(�	'�����(	�'�7�	4����	����
��4���������	
5���2����"�������''���
�����	���9������'��
���2������'��
��(�	���2�
��(	�'�7�	4���2���C����
5(	�'�7�	4�����������"����2	�(
�29�B�	
��	�	����7���2������'��
�������2�(�	�@%9 1	��� �������	����7��(�
���D������E��F�������&�����
�����)����5�
������	��(��������	���2�������
�"�����'���(�	������	�"���������6�����
��
������5���'��������2�������7���'�5�"���
	��������7�
������	
59 ����$%�0����7��(�
���F�������&�����
�����)����5�������''����2���2���������	���
��"����'���
�2�"5�$G$H9 1	���&�	��2����
	�
��5�
�������	
���'��������2���2��������
���D!IPA�QR���
��������2�6�7����
����
�������7�
����	�S��7�5����"�2E����2��9 ����$%�����	�����
�������
���	���2��
�'��	�	5�����''�2�
����
����5��	����
��
�	�C��	����
���2�	�
����������
���9�A���
��
������	���������'�������	����
�
�������2�
������4��(�'����������''�2�
���6�7���	������������������������(���������2����
�'��	�	5�����''�2�
������2�
�������'"�	���	�����
�������
�	���9 0�2�����	
�2�
�����
�"����'��
��(�
����7���������
����"���B��2�)�	
��	����9 ����$%�F��
�2�"5�
���T���	��'��
�D��
	�6� 752�&"�	
�7������7�����U����
����"���B��2�)�	
��	����9�������1���	�'��
�(��2������$G$%V$H���������	
����
�����������7�	4��(�
�����	
��	����9���	���(�	'�
�������������"����
7779����	��'��
���
	�9�	�9�4V"752�"�	
�7� 1	���)�"�����2���	�D�	��	�
��I����
��	����)����5�
��2���������2�'�����������
�	5��
����7�
����
����	������
���9 ����$%�I����
��	����)����5�(�	�
������
�����(������
��	��7�
�������������	������������
���������������7�
��
���2������'��
��(���������	�3���4�
���2�I����
��	��F��2"��49����	�2�)	����	�
5�B��2��	�#��
���"�����������2�
��2�������
����������
�����(�
���D������U������59 1	���
WX

P
age 100



���������	�
����	���������� ! "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
6$7
48!)05
9�2@5)6&
�$6$1)(A BCD��  CDCE����� F "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
62()1)4!()265
21
4G!6&$
)6
4)%4@05(!64$5
�2@5)6&
�$6$1)(A HD�� IDEC�����B! "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
6$7
48!)05
9�2@64)8
�!PA Q D�� BRD�I�����BF "#$%!&$
()0$
12%
3%24$55)6&
62()1)4!()265
21
4G!6&$
)6
4)%4@05(!64$5
9�2@64)8
�!PA SD�� QDQR�TU H! V@0F$%
21
!112%W!F8$
G20$5
42038$($W
FX
Y" BH CC�TU HF V@0F$%
21
!112%W!F8$
G20$5
42038$($W
FX
̀TY  IH B ��TU H4 V@0F$%
21
!112%W!F8$
G20$5
42038$($W
@6W$%
T �H
2%
2(G$% BE BCabc�S "02@6(
21
7$81!%$
F$6$1)(5
%!)5$W
(G%2@&G
5$4@%)6&
%)&G(5
d
$6()(8$0$6(5
FX
(G$
e$81!%$
̀)&G(5
�$!0 f ISg��� fI�Bg�EEabc � V@0F$%
21
3$238$
&!)6)6&
$0382X0$6(
(G%2@&G
h0382X!F)8)(X
T@332%(  QE  IQabc  V@0F$%
21
!44%$W)($W
i@!8)1)4!()265
!6W
5$4(2%
53$41)4
(%!)6)6&
!4G)$#$W
FX
!W@8(5
7)(G
Yp"
5@332%(  Q BS abc B c!8@$
21
&%!6(5
%$4$)#$W
FX
(G$
�!4q8)6&
a2#$%(X
r$#$8230$6(
�$!0
(2
5@332%(
2%&!6)5!()265
!6W
5$%# f ��g��� f EQgRC�

stuvwxt
�t�
� stuvwxt �ux�t� ���wu� �tx��x�u��t

��
P

age 101



P
age 102

Gordon.Wright�_28
Stamp




���������������	

��	�������	����	� !""!#$%&�()"01�2!3)4%5)%6�7)8"9496$!%0�@!4�(9")0A�61)�B!C%8$"�190�7)8"94)7�D!61�9�B"$596)�E5)4&)%8F�$%�GC%)�HIPQ�9%7�9�R96C4)�E5)4&)%8F�$%�R!3)5D)4�HIHPS��T0$%&�61)�()"01�2!3)4%5)%6�U!C6)�59V�6!�%)6�W)4!A�X#9%0)9�B!C%8$"�#$""�9"$&%�#$61�$60�V4$%8$V")0A�Y%!#$%&�#196�%))70�6!�D)�7!%)�%!#A�DF�HIHH̀Ha�b!#�B94D!%�D)8!5$%&�61)%!45�9%7�DF�HIcI�#1)4)�81!!0$%&�894D!%�W)4!�$0�4!C6$%)S��X!C%7�&!3)4%9%8)�190�D))%�)069D"$01)7�#$61$%�61)�8!C%8$"�6!�986�!%�0C81�819"")%&)0�9%7�9""�986$3$6F�#$""�D)�74$3)%�#$61$%�61)�V9495)6)40�!@�61)�()""̀D)$%&�!@� C6C4)�2)%)496$!%0d86�e(9")0f�HIPgA�61)�E%3$4!%5)%6�d86�e(9")0f�HIPaA�61)�X6496)&$8�EhC9"$6F�i"9%�9%7�61)�B!4V!496)�i"9%�9%7�61)�X#9%0)9�eiXpf�()""̀D)$%&�i"9%S��q!�)%0C4)�6196�$%�977$6$!%�6!�981$)3$%&�%)6�W)4!�HIcI�@!4�X#9%0)9�B!C%8$"A�#)�#$""�#!4Y�#$61�V946%)40A�!4&9%$096$!%0A�081!!"0A�DC0$%)00)0�6!�0CVV!46�X#9%0)9�90�9�#1!")�8!C%6F9%7�8$6$W)%0�$%�$60�)@@!460�6!�D)8!5)�%)6�W)4!�DF�HIgIA�9"$&%$%&�#$61�61)�R)6�r)4!�(9")0�B94D!%�pC7&)6�eHf�HIHHsHIHgS�E069D"$01$%&�D!61�B"$596)�9%7�R96C4)�B1946)40�9%7�9i")7&)�(9""�6!�)%8!C49&)�986$3)�V946$8$V96$!%�9%7�1)"V�DC$"7�9�1)9"61$)4A�5!4)�V4!0V)4!C0�9%7�D$!7$3)40)s�)8!"!&$89""F�4)0$"$)%6�X#9%0)9S��X#9%0)9�$0�!%)�!@�61)�5!06�)8!"!&$89""F�4$81�9%7�7$3)40)�8!C%6$)0�$%�61)�TtS�u60�C%$hC)�394$)6F�!@�19D$6960�9%7�0V)8$)0�9%7�#!%7)4@C"�49%&)�!@�V94Y0A�&4))%0V98)0A�%96C4)4)0)43)0A�D)981)0�9%7�"9%7089V)0�%))70�6!�D)�59$%69$%)7A�)%19%8)7�9%7�0C069$%9D"F�59%9&)7�@!4�61)�D)%)@$6�!@�)3)4F!%)�%!#�9%7�$%6!�61)�@C6C4)S��vC4�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6�9%7�D$!7$3)40$6F�$0�C%7)4�614)96�9%7�$%�7)8"$%)�7C)�6!�C%0C069$%9D")�1C59%�986$3$6$)0S�w9D$6960�9%7�0V)8$)0�94)�D)$%&�"!06�96�9%�9"945$%&�9%7C%0C069$%9D")�496)S�()�%))7�6!�49$0)�9#94)%)00�!@�61)�$5V9860�!@�D$!7$3)40$6F�"!00�9%7�8"$596)�819%&)�96�61)�"!89"�")3)"�9%7�V4!3$7)�$%@!4596$!%A�973$8)A�9%7�V4986$89"�0CVV!469%7�$%8)%6$3)0�6!�)%8!C49&)�!61)40�6!�69Y)�986$!%�9%7�8!""9D!496)�6!�7)"$3)4�V!0$6$3)�0!"C6$!%0�6!�61)0)�819"")%&)0S��()�#9%6�)3)4F!%)�6!�193)�988)00�6!A�C%7)4069%7A�9VV4)8$96)�9%7�D)%)@$6�@4!5�X#9%0)9x0�!C6069%7$%&�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6�9%7�6!�V"9F�61)$4�V946�$%�"!!Y$%&�9@6)4�9%7�)%19%8$%&$6A�4)0C"6$%&�$%�9�1)9"61$)4A�&4))%)4�9%7�5!4)�V4!0V)4!C0�X#9%0)9S��vC4�@C6C4)�0C43$39"�9%7�hC9"$6F�!@�"$@)�$0�7)V)%7)%6�!%�1)9"61F�4)0$"$)%6�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6A�61)�5C"6$V")�D)%)@$60�$6�V4!3$7)0�6!�0!8$)6F�9%7�!%�4)7C8$%&�!C4�894D!%�)5$00$!%0�6!%)6�W)4!S��()�193)�9�5!49"�4)0V!%0$D$"$6F�6!�"!!Y�9@6)4�D$!7$3)40$6F�@!4�$60�!#%�$%64$%0$8�39"C)Sy��

	��	�d�VCD"$8�0)86!4�694&)6�!@�HIcIA�91)97�!@�61)�()"01�2!3)4%5)%6x0�694&)6�!@�HIgI�@!4�61)�#1!")�!@�(9")0A�#$""�&$3)�C0�!C4�D)06�819%8)�!@�Y))V$%&�&"!D9"�#945$%&�D)"!#�PSg�BS�q1$0$0�61)�6$VV$%&�V!$%6�96�#1$81�61)�8"$596)�$5V9860�#)x4)�9"4)97F�)�V)4$)%8$%&�#$""�&!�@4!5�D97�6!�V!6)%6$9""F�8969064!V1$8S�()x""�0))�%96C49"�0F06)50�84!00�79%&)4�V!$%60A�64$&&)4$%&"906$%&�819%&)0�0C81�90�)�64)5)�06!450A�1)96#93)0A�5900�"!00�!@�%96C49"�19D$6960�9%7�0V)8$)0S��()�94)�96�9�84$6$89"�V!$%6�$%�6$5)�@!4�%96C4)�4)8!3)4F�9%7�#$61!C6�C4&)%6�649%0@!4596$3)�819%&)A�59%F�!@�!C4�0V)8$)0�9%7�19D$6960�#$""�8!%6$%C)�6!�7)8"$%)�!4�D)8!5)�)�6$%86S��w9"6$%&�9%7�4)3)40$%&�61)�"!00�!@�D$!7$3)40$6F�614!C&1�4)7C8$%&�1945�9%7�C%0C069$%9D")�C0)�9%7�5!3$%&�6!�9�0$6C96$!%�#1)4)�#)�94)�#!4Y$%&�#$61�%96C4)�6!�59$%69$%�1)9"61F4)0$"$)%6�)8!0F06)50�6196�#$""�8!%6$%C)�6!�V4!3$7)�"!%&̀6)45�hC9"$6F�!@�"$@)�e!4�)8!0F06)5�0)43$8)0f�D)%)@$60�CV!%�#1$81�#)�9""�7)V)%7S��q98Y"$%&�8"$596)�819%&)A�#1$81�$0�!%)�!@�61)�&4)96)06�819"")%&)0�@98$%&�C0�9""�9%7�#)�%))7�6!�4)7C8)�!C4�894D!%�@!!6V4$%6�9%7�6!�5$6$&96)�@!4�9%7�979V6�6!�61)�"$Y)"F�4$0Y0�9%7$5V9860S��B4)96$%&�1$&1�hC9"$6F�)%3$4!%5)%69""F�9%7�"!#�894D!%�4)0V!%0$D")�9%7�0C069$%9D")�&4))%��!D0�6196�59Y)�61)�5!06�!@�!C4�C%$hC)�%96C49"�4)0!C48)0�)S&S�614!C&1�)%3$4!%5)%69"6!C4$05A�0C069$%9D")�"9%7�9%7�8!9069"�59%9&)5)%6A�"!89"�@!!7�V4!7C86$!%A�0C069$%9D")�#906)�59%9&)5)%6A�)%)4&F�)@@$8$)%8FA�4)%)#9D")�)%)4&F�9%7�894D!%�89V6C4)S�d0�0C81�#)#$""�)�V"!4)�9%7�0CVV!46�V4!�)860�0C81�90�!%�9%7�!@@�01!4)�4)%)#9D")0�#1$81�9"$&%�6!�61)0)�95D$6$!%0S��U)7C8$%&�$%)hC9"$6$)0�$%�1)9"61�9%7�#)""̀D)$%&�DF�59$%69$%$%&�9%7�)%19%8$%&�9�1$&1�hC9"$6F�9%7�988)00$D")�%96C49"�)%3$4!%5)%6�V"C0�)%0C4$%&�@9$4�988)00�6!�"!#�894D!%�)%)4&FA1!5)0A�6493)"�!V6$!%0A�0C069$%9D"F�0!C48)7�@!!7�9%7�&4))%)4��!D�!VV!46C%$6$)0S��XC069$%9D"F�59%9&$%&�9%7�)%19%8$%&�61)�hC9"$6F�!@�!C4�%96C49"�4)0!C48)0�$%8"C7$%&�9$4A�#96)4A�0!$"0�9%7�D$!7$3)40$6F�#$""�1)"V�$%84)90)�X#9%0)9x0�)8!"!&$89"�4)0$"$)%8)�9%7�61)#)""̀D)$%&�!@�$60�$%19D$69%60S qEXq
��

P
age 103

Gordon.Wright�_29
Square


Gordon.Wright�_30
Square


Gordon.Wright_14
FreeText
Delivering on Nature Recovery and Climate Change�



����������	
����
������������	���
��	���
�� 
!����"#	�!
�$
�� 
!%�#������&#	
���#�'
(���
�����)���
&���������#	#�0#������
��1���%���2&�		
��	��3
����4� 
!�&
�	5����0��'�#��� 
!#��!
���	�����������
�6�7���
&�������(��8���	
��9��
����&#	
���'�#	�!�
��'!�������
�	#2����
��#����#����
��1����!�@
�	��#���'�
��	��	�
&(���
�
�������
�0�!A��'�#���'���
�	�
�B�C�	���
�� 
!����	�
����&#	
���#�'
�
�
&
�	���1	�
��
0�3
���C
��'�D�	����B�#�(��0���!�@
�	��#!
�2
��'��!� 
��2%�	�
�'!���9E���
��
 
���&
�	��1�#��0#��
#�D�#�	#	����7�F�	�'#	����B�#�(E�D�G4����B!#�	��
H�&#����'�
I
!���
5��
��2%�"$3"#	�!
�$
�� 
!%��	
��9��
�"#	�!
�����
! #	����	
#&��#��2

��0�!A��'�0�	��#�0��
�!#�'
��1��#!	�
!��!'#���#	�����0�	�����0#��
#�#���4�0
!�	���
 
����	�
�P��#��"#	�!
�$
�� 
!%�D�	����B�#�QP"$DBR(���
���#���#���#2��
	�#��!� #��#����
	����	�A
%��2@
�	� 
��#���#�	�����	�#	�#��!
�������
���#����'��
����
�����2���� 
!��	%�����0#��
#(�S	�1
#	�!
���8�A
%�#�	�����	�'���
��#!	�
!�'!�����0�	����	�
��0#��
#�P��#��"#	�!
�B#!	�
!����(���
�#�&2%�����5����	��
���!
�	�#	�#	��
#�	�����
!�
�	��1��0#��
#�����!�	
�	
��#���
11
�	� 
�%�&#�#'
��1�!�#	�!
(��)�T�&
#��!
�9D���
 
&
�	��������
�	�
���&��
	�����1�	�
��U���#!'��'�����	����	#��#	�����#	�	�
�V
���%�4�!���
��	(���
�W�

	�F#�#'
!���!!
�	�%�0�!A��'����#��XP�U��	!#	
'%����#	
(��
�P#'�����!�@
�	����	���
��	���!�'!
��5�0�	��#�!
�
�	�1�����'�#�����#	����&#�
�	�����
1���%���&&
��
�	��	�
��
I	���#�
��1�1
#��2���	%����#�Y��	!��	�V
#	��'�"
	0�!A(��
���
!'%��
#&��# 
��#����
��#�B!
&��
�F#�#'
!���
!'%�����A�	5�
����!#'��'��11��
!��	��#���	�	�
�!�2������'��#���&#A
���&��
���#�'
��	���
�����	����%�!
���
�
&��������2�	#����	���# 
�&��
%����
�
!'%�2����(�D�����	�#	�4�!�
�����P�2!#!%�#���V�����'��
! ��
��2������'��
�� 
!
��'����!
���	�(�����������!	��#�!
�
�	�!
��!	�2%���
��1���!�
� �!��&
�	#��#!	�
!���	��%��'�2������'�
&�������5���''
�	��'�0
��#��&#A
�#��!�I(�6�̀ �!
���	��������
�
!'%��# ��'��	�!��'��2
�# ���!���#�'
(��)�T�aBSH�9�����!#'��'��	#11�	����&��
	
�	�
��
0�	0�����&#	
���#�'
�#���"#	�!
�$
�� 
!%�	!#����'�&����
���#���#����&
�����
���#���	�
��	!#	
'������&#	
���#�'
�B!�@
�	�F#�#'
!�#��C���� 
!��	%�"#	�!#���� �!��&
�	�b11��
!��# 
�2

������	��'���&
�1#�
)	�)1#�
��
������(�S	����#�	����#	
��	�#	�	����	#!'
	
��#��!�#���0����1�!&��#!	��1�	�
��	!#	
'%�	���
���2�����	#11�A��0�
�'
(��
�	!

���#�	��'��
#�������@��	���&&
����'�1�!�����)�T($��A��#�����#��
�'
�9��
���#��
�'
��0
�#!
�1#���'�������
����	�����'�0�	����&�	
��1��#���#��#�����&#��!
���!�
��	���
�� 
!�#���������#!�
!�	�0#!���	�
�"c�����#&2�	���(�S��	�
�&#���0
�#!
�!
�%��'���
I	
!�#��1�����'�#���0�	���	��#!'
��� 
�	&
�	�d��#!	����#!�%������!�2������'��#���1�

	5�	�
�
&��������1�'�!
�0����������2	�2
'���	����#	
#�(�3
�0�������A�#	�����!	���	�
��	��
��!
�1�����'5�2�	�	���������#��
�'��'�'� 
��	�
��!
���!
�����	�
��������H��F�WB(��
!
����#���'��1��#�	�!��A�	�#	��0#��
#���������0��H	�#���
 
��
	�e
!�������0�	���	���'��1��#�	�#���	���#���� 
�	&
�	���������'������!	��#	���#��%�0�	��!
���!���'(�3�	��!
'#!�	��1�

	�d�	�
!
����#��������
!�����	�
�XP�U������%���#�����		��'���!��
0�aBS���"$8�#	�!��A(���
�� 
!#���!��A��1���	�#���
 ��'��
	�e
!�������#��#��������������'���'�	
��#��$�Y���	�
���!��!#	
�!��A�!
'��	
!(
fg

P
age 104

Gordon.Wright�_31
Square


Gordon.Wright_15
FreeText
Director's Update�



���������	
���������������
��
��������	
���
��  !"���	
��������� 
 ���
#$%�����&���
�'
�����  
(��	���� )%0%������
���
1���
������
�&�������
�2
#3$34
'�  �5��	
���
�������6
�5�����7����� 
8��
9���
#3$3
@� ����2
( ��A ���
#$
##!#$
�&�������
6���
���&����6
��
�0
����
#$4
6�5�
����������
2���4
������ 
�������
'��
�&�����&����
����	��	
��&���
��
 ���
5���
��&� ��
������ �A )�6)�6���
���
������ B�
�&����
��
���
�������&���4
&��������	
���
���
�� ��0�����&���
��������	
�������
��
���
C
��	���������� 
����	�����A ���
#$
@� ����2
� ��
��
� ���
&��������	
�  
C
����	�����
��
��
#3$34
������D
 ��D
�'
'��6�
��
6� ����
'�  
� ��A
7������
������
@���&���#$
��
�����6�
'�  
���'��&����
��6���A )�6)�� ���
'��
������
 �	����	
5���
EF@A ���
#$
#G4HI3P#Q43#C
������
 �	���
��5
EF@
RIISTA
U4H$I
'����6
6����	#3##P#$A
U$S
�����	
��
���� 
7�#
�&�������
�'
 �	����	
����D��&����6
��
#3#UP## %&���@��� ��
�
��5
7����2!5�6�
����
� �����	
&��
�  �5��	
��
��
� ���
�������6�
�'��5
�����A ���
#$
V���
�����2
������	�
��6
� �����	
����������2
&��
���
������&� ���6 0����7�������
��
�����5
���
������ 
���������
' ���
��
&�W�&���
�������������
'��
���
�'�
	����
' ���
��
 ���
5���
���
	����
' ���
������	2A ���
#$
%����W
U33
XEFY
����� ��
��6
���������	
����	������������6���6A
% ���������
'�� 
���� 
����	
�����6
R̀Y�T
��6
' ������ �������
�����5
��&&�����	
��
��6������6
' ���
6�&��6P���6'��
�������� 
�''���������A
8�W�
�����
�'
����	������
�����  ����������	
� ����6
��
���� �
����5��	
��W�
�������
�'
����� ��R�������
��
����	
'�������  2
���� �T 0����7�  ������ 2
�������
���
5�6��
�5�����
�&������4
5��D��	
� ��	��6�
7 �&���7������
��	��������4
(�"4
����1���4
����� �4
����������4
��&&����2
	�����
��6�������&���� 
��������
��
�� �
6� ����
���
�� ��
0�����&���
�&������
�'
8��
9����� ��
�2
#3G3A ���
#$
%  
����� �
&����	
��
��	&�
�2
A
@� ����2
�'
I
��������
�����	����
F������&���� 
(������
a��&�5��D
��
�������
��������
��6��&&����2
��������
������
�5�����4
'��6
���
���
���������������
��	��6��	
'��6
��6
'��6
���6������
��
���
�����2
��6������
6��������������
�'
��&�
�'
���
����� �P ������
�������A 0����@��� ��
�
�5�����
%6��������
��6
b���	�����
( ��A ���
#$
�(a
��6
�������6 0�����������
6� ����2
�'
���
'����
�����
�'
���
" ��
F6��
E�	���
�������A ���
#$
(������
0���������
��6��
������������4
�������
������
�������6b�2
#$ 0����(��	����
���
6��� ��&���
�'
�
������ !�������6
�� ��
����	2
'��&
��
���
7��2B�
V��c���
����A ���
#$
8�5
 ��D�6
��
5���
" ��
F6��
P
R�5�����
F���	2
��6
V���������̀�
��6
(���
)�6��� ��&���
(������T 0���� dd
P

age 105



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)#�$����$�0������
��1&
��2��&��������$�&���$����3 ����!"����2�#��1��4�1&���&2��&�����������&�1��������2����%��2������$�5�&2�6��5��������$���$���������%����5����	��%�&$�������%��&�����23�����&�1���4�$�������5����	�����1��������&����2��1���	&���5�&2��1��������������7�&	
�!8!93 )&����1���&����2���������
����	&�������2������������4��%����	�&�	���
�	���@ABC�	
�&�������������2�2���������5�2�&�AB�	
�&�������&����43 ����!"�D��������&����%1�2������	1&�2�%�&��
��2�����&4��%�E%���E���2�E&���2E�1���	�4�����������AB�	
�&������������!8!"F!G6�%&�$��
������
)���&�$���E��H��&��I�5�A$�������B�
�	���P&���%�&$������Q1�23R��%1�2������4��2�7�&	
�!8!G���	1&�2����2���3 )&���'&��&����2��	1�����������
��2������$�����%���
42&�����%1�������
1�3 ����!"�#	�����2��	1�������������	��5��
���&��1����&���� )&�����&0���5�&2������1�	������5�#	�����P&�����&�1���6�5
�	
�2��������
���1������2���1&�������&��$������2���	�1&�����
��
�&���������%��
4��	����	�����43 ����!"�D��������&����%1�2������	1&�2�%�&��
��2�����&46�5
�����&������&�6%�&�S��	������&�����&�1�������!8!"F!G�%&�$��
������
)���&�$���E��#	�����P&�����Q1�23�Q1&�
�&�%1�2�����5�&2�2�%�&	�����1�2�2������$�����%����1$��&��%�%1�1&���	
�$�����2$���&�5�&0�3�R��%1�2������4��2�7�&	
�!8!G���	1&�2����2���3 )&���T���������2�$�����&��
��2�����&4��%��
����	�����S�D�&��&�������2���&���4�'������2�
��(���������������������
&�1�
����1����1������������������2�&���&����$�	
����$��1�����!8!U3����5����&���&���������
�)���&�$�������&4�"�4��&���������5��
��1&����2���&���4�T1�43 ����!"���	��2���	�����S�T1�4�$�����&����&���&���������
�)���&�$���V���!8!"3'&���&�������%��
���	����������!8!"����!8!9����1�2�&�&���&�����6� )&���D���&��1�������
��&����56�2�����&4���2�$�����&�����%��
��I�	���R��1&��(�	���&4#	�����'������2���D�1��4���2��)&����W�%&���&1	�1&����&����43 ����!"�IR(#'�2&�%��2�21��%�&��2������������!8!"3�D�1��4�5�2��)W��&����4�������&�21	�2� �����4�5��
�R(��������
��2�������4��	�1�����!8!GF!9 )&���W$�&�����5�&��������2�1�2�&����2�����%�	��$����	
�������2��1&����1&������&��$�����
&�1�
��&���������%���%�&$�����6��&������6���2�������3 ����!"�P5���&�������$�21��������������%�&����%%���2�"�������X����0�3D�$$1��	��������&�1�����$��������	����&3���������2������$�������������3�Q�	�����%�	���&�������%�&���$����&��	���&����2�����&�2��2��������%%�&�2��1��%1&�
�&3 )&�����&0�����$�&�����
���	��4���$�&�������	���%�D�1�	����5��2��������%����	����	�����%�	�W���&����@���WC6�I�	���R��1&��(���&����@IR(C6��������%�W$��&���	��%�&R��1&��D����&�������@�WRD�C���2��&������	��3 ����!"�P
�����������5�&0�	�����1���������	�&&��2��1���	&����$��4	�1�	����5��2��&���	��2������6����1&��&���&������2��WRD���1����2����2����1�����&����%1�2��� )&���D�����1�����2�����&����&��&�$$���%�5��2%��5�&������������2�$�����$������2���0��	�������
���
�������	���&��������������������������	���3 ����!"�Y9��������&����	���&�������&�X�$����4�Y93!�
�	��&����%���&0�6�$����4��&������2����2�&��2���&����������$�����2�������	���&�	
�5��2%��5�&�$��2�5�3�Q����̀	1����2�	����	�a�$�	
�����1&	
���2������������
���5�&03�������&�4������������1�	�$��3�������&�������������������2�1��5��
����������	����&������	�5��2%��5�&�3�WRR���&��������$����2���2��1� �	����������������&��&�$$���%��&���$����%�	1�����������1&��&���&������2D�1�	������26��1� �	�����%1�2���
)&��� bc

P
age 106



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0������1��
���	���	�$$2������������	�2&�������2����&������3�����2���&���
�$��4�����	����������
��	����3�$���������
��&���	����&������	�����3�1��3��%�������5 ����!"�6��2����&�������$������3��	���������	�����2���%����1���	��%�&$�������%�7�	���'��	���%�&�8��2&���&����%2�3��� )&���9�4���	��������$����������3��$�&�����
��@2����A��%��2&���&B�1���&���3������5 ����!"�#�&�C2����A�#��2���'&��&����(���&���
����������2�$����3���3���&���3��A�����
�)���&�$���5�8�D��&���&���������2�$����3!E�
������!E!"5����
��������&�F�3���	�����2�������&�3�	��
�2&�A	��	���&�����������1��������A�G�'5��%%�	�&��������$����1��
	����$�����3����3���3���������������	�������	�����2��5 )&���

HI
P

age 107



�������������	����
����
������������
�������� �����!"#��
��� � ����$%&�����'��
��(�!��	����)	��	��� 0&10���	
�2�
��������1���	�'��
�����3������4�������$5$$�$%��'�������6 ����$%�7�8
�	���	
����
�'���
��2���(�	���"'�������(�	�
�3��9��(����
�$% 1	���)	��	����2�������$��(�
�����"����"���2�����	�
	�(�
��	��	�''�6 ����$%�4�	"���0�2��
����0�
	�(�
���	�����)	���2�	��������'���
�2�@���A�����&�����'��
��B@A&�C���	��������'"�	��(���	��	�
�"���2�������2��������6 1	���D�����	�2��������2�E��	��(��	�#��
��3�
����	�����	��'��
�����	
��	6 ����$%�$�"	��(��"�������2�	
�9������(�	����$%�$F�3�
���
��	��"����3�	9�2����(�	�2�����	E�"E���2��(���	���$F6 1	���&�	��2���2������'��
�'�2�����2��	��	����2�3�
��
���G�	�H��������	�(�	'2������'��
6 ����$%��3������4�������)��������4�''�

������	���2�����������	'�������BI
��H���$%C 1	���&�	�����2�����������	��	�������
��� ����P2����	�#��
�3�
����	�2������'��
��	
��	6 ����$%�4�"���
�	���	
����	���2���E�$% 1	��� ���
��
	���������"�	�
����3�	9����	���
���������3�
�����'�
�����	
�	������
�	������
���$5Q5��3����������2�6 ����$%�4��'�
�������
�	��������3�	9�����	�������
�"�����2�
��2�����	&R����2��������������	��2�3�
��)� 6���	9�"�������'���
�2����	2����
������2���S(��2��� 1	��� �����
���'���'��
���	�TAPU�G	����
�����
	�
��E�$5$V�$5%5W�3�
�����	�VQ5�TAPU�����������2�(���
����	�������
�6 ����$%�!��	�VV5�����������	����3�(����"�

�	E�����
	����	��E"	�2�3�
������	
�������	�������
������
�2���	����V$�2�((�	��
�4�������3��2���
��6�X�
�	��������2�	���3�������2����(������������"���
E6 1	���4��
�����3�
��
���APD��
	��
�����
�������
����
�����	��	�''�6 ����$%�Y��	�������(�$555�APD���	��	�''�2�
��"��(�

�2�2�	����$5$%S$F6X�	
��	�4!$��'��������	�2��
�������	�������(�V5̀ ��8���
�2�"E��2��(�$5$%S$F 1	���&�	��2������2�
�2�
	�������
������2�'�����'��
��
	�
��E6 ����$%�4�		��
�����	
���
E�'�������3����"������	��	�
�2���
��
��4������a��G	����
	�
��E &'"�	)���
�2����2	�2���(���3�
	���6 ����$%�Y
�����8���
�2��	���2�%55�
	����3����"������
�2�2�	����$%S$F�B	����	���������
EC 1	���)	�2���2�����	�����(����2�&"��
�E��	���	2������
�������	
���''���
�������2��
�(E��������	
���
����(�	������������������	������������2�3��2��(����
�����2���������
��'���������
��	������
���
���6 ����$%�&��	�86�F�'�	��'����
��"���	�2���2 1	���D	�(
�2�������'��
�)�����(�	�4��������3��2�A�����7�
�	��0���	���6 ����$%�������'��
�)�����(�	�
�����
����	����'���
�2 1	���G�	��
�2�
	��
'��
���2S�	�	�'������(�Y��������7���7�
�����������������
�	���
��6 ����$%�G�	��
�2�
	��
'��
��(�Y77�����7�
�	����
���������� 1	��� bc
P

age 108



�����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)'&�01	�0�����&�����%�2��$����2
�������0�3��1&��(�	���&4����&�������$�01���5 ����!"�!�$�01����	�$�����0���0����61����5�7!7����%%�
����	�$�����0�
���&�����������%�"8798!" )&���2�����1�0��$����4��&������0���0�&��0���&���$�����$�����&����������������
������	����&�	
�@��0%��@�&�$��0�@�5 ����!"�A&�����	�����1��������&����0��1� )&���'&���&�0���B�	���3��1&��(�	���&4�#	�����'������0���2�1��4���0��)C���&����45 ����!"�B3(#'�
���������&���&�05�'&���&�������%��
��)C���&����4�
��������1�����
��0 #$��&

DE
P

age 109



���������	�
����	���������� �� !"#$
&'
(#""$
)012("3
3�#425
(6"
7"1#
18#&$$
(6"
8&�2840����9 @6"
428#"1$"
42
2� !"#
&'
8&�2840
0&81(4&2$
A4(6
#"2"A1!0"
"2"#57
$&�#8"$����B �� !"#
&'
C" !"#$
123
&''48"#$
(61(
61D"
8& )0"("3
�04 1("
�6125"
123
�1(�#"
�"8&D"#7
@#142425����E �� !"#
&'
)#&F"8($
3"04D"#"3
(6#&�56
(6"
G2D4#&2 "2(10
H1#(2"#$
I#1 "A&#P
Q122�10R����S H"#8"2(15"
&'
(6"
�&�2840
'0""(
A6486
1#"
T0(#1
U&A
G 4$$4&2
V"6480"$
WTUGV$RXC@YỲ! H"#8"2(15"
&'
C�2484)10
X1$("
8&00"8("3
123
)#")1#"3
'&#
#"�$"
123a&#
#"8780"3
Q122�10R bEcYYd e�cfbd

ghipqrh
thu
v ghipqrh wirxhy ��yqi� �hru�r�i��h

��
P

age 110

Gordon.Wright�_32
Square


Gordon.Wright�_33
Square


Gordon.Wright�_34
Square


Gordon.Wright�_35
Square


Gordon.Wright�_36
Square


Gordon.Wright�_37
Square


Gordon.Wright�_38
Square


Gordon.Wright�_39
Square


Gordon.Wright_16
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_17
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_18
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_19
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_20
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright_21
FreeText
Annual PI - data to be reported at end of year �

Gordon.Wright�_40
Stamp




���������������	

��	�������	����	� !"#!!$�&'&(�)$0�&'&1�"2!3!�#455�6!�!7"3)8304$)39�@2)55!$A!B�C)@4$A�4$04D40E)5BF�@8GGE$4"4!BF�)$0�HE654@�6804!B�4$�I#)$B!)F�!BH!@4)559�)B�)�3!BE5"�8C�"2!�8$A84$A�3!@!BB48$P�Q")�"4G!�#2!$�8E3�H8HE5)"48$�$!!0B�HE654@�B!3D4@!B�G8B"F�"2!9�)3!�E$0!3�"23!)"�)B�8E3�@8B"B�34B!�6E"�8E3�CE$04$A�4B�C)554$A�4$�3!)5�"!3GBP��QA)4$B"�"2)"�6)@RA38E$0F�4C�"2!�@8E$@45�4B�"8�G!!"�4"B�B")"E"839�8654A)"48$B�)$0�0!54D!3�"2!�@8GG4"G!$"B�4"�2)B�G)0!F�#!�#455�$!!0�"8�4$$8D)"!�)$0�"3)$BC83G�28#�#!�8H!3)"!F#83R4$A�@58B!3�"2)$�!D!3�#4"2�8"2!3BF�#245!�@8$"4$E4$A�"8�!$BE3!�"2)"�!D!39"24$A�#!�08�4B�C8@EB!0�8$�G!!"4$A�"2!�$!!0B�8C�8E3�H8HE5)"48$P��SE3�D4B48$�C83�"24B�H34834"9�4B�"8�0!54D!3F�"238EA2�"3)$BC83G)"48$F�)"�5!)B"�"2!�B)G!�4C�$8"�6!""!3�8E"@8G!B�C83�8E3�H8HE5)"48$�)$0�"8�4GH38D!�8E3�!CC4@4!$@9�69�G)R4$A�B4A$4C4@)$"@2)$A!B�"8�"2!�#)9�#!�#83R�)$0�28#�8E3�B!3D4@!B�)3!�0!B4A$!0�)$0�0!54D!3!0P��T3)$BC83G)"48$�)$0�U4$)$@4)5�V!B454!$@!�4B�)�#!556!4$A�86W!@"4D!�6!@)EB!�#!�$!!0�"8X�Y�G)$)A!�"2!�HE654@�C4$)$@!B�BEB")4$)6454"9F�3!@8A$4B4$A�"2!�2EA!�@8$B"3)4$"B�"2)"�#!�R$8#�#!�#455�C)@!�8D!3�"2!�"!3G�8C�"2!�H5)$̀�Y�!$BE3!�"2!�@8E$@45�4B�)0!aE)"!59�H38"!@"!0�C38G�G)W83�!7"!3$)5�34BRB�BE@2�)B�@96!3�)$0�0)")�B!@E34"9�63!)@2!B�)$0�3!@3E4"G!$"�)$0�3!"!$"48$�@2)55!$A!B�#!�2)D!�)@38BB�"2!@8E$@45�)$0�4$�B8G!�B!3D4@!B�4$�H)3"4@E5)3̀�Y�3!0!B4A$�)$0�3!G80!5�)BH!@"B�8C�"2!�83A)$4B)"48$�)$0�4"B�B!3D4@!B�"8�G!!"�"2!�@2)$A4$A�$!!0B�)$0�!7H!@")"48$B�8C�@4"4b!$B�#4"24$�"2!�3!B8E3@!B�#!�2)D!�)D)45)65!̀�Y�4GH38D!�8E3�@EB"8G!3�B!3D4@!�"8�!$BE3!�8E3�@4"4b!$B�@)$�)@@!BB�@8E$@45�)0D4@!F�AE40)$@!F�4$C83G)"48$F�)$0�B!3D4@!B�28#�)$0�#2!$�"2!9�$!!0�"2!G �̀Y�4GH38D!�28#�#!�@8$BE5"F�!$A)A!F�)$0�4$D85D!�8E3�H8HE5)"48$�"8�2!5H�EB�0!B4A$�!CC!@"4D!�)$0�!CC4@4!$"�B!3D4@!B̀�Y�3!0E@!�"2!�@8E$@45cB�@)368$�C88"H34$"̀�Y�@3!)"!�)�@E5"E3!�"2)"�D)5E!B�24A2�H!3C83G)$@!F�5!)3$4$A�)$0�@8$"4$E8EB�4GH38D!G!$"Pd��

	��	�T2!�58$AY"!3G�HE654@�C4$)$@!�8E"588R�4B�54R!59�"8�3!G)4$�@2)55!$A4$AP��e!G8A3)H24@�@2)$A!B�#24@2�#455�@8$"4$E!�"8�034D!�4$@3!)B4$A�0!G)$0�C83�@8E$@45�B!3D4@!B�)$0�4$@3!)B4$A59�@8GH5!7�$!!0BP��e!G8A3)H24@�@2)$A!B�4GH)@"4$A�8$�"2!�58@)5�5)68E3�G)3R!"�)$0�@8GH8B4"48$�8C�"2!�@8E$@45�#83RC83@!P��T!@2$858A4@)5�)0D)$@!B�)3!�!7H!@"!0�"8�@8$"4$E!�"8�H)D!�"2!�#)9�4$�0!C4$4$A�28#�G80!3$�B8@4!"4!B�)$0�!@8$8G4!B�#455�4$"!3)@"�)$0�0!D!58H�4$"8�"2!�CE"E3!F�$8"�5!)B"�8E3)HH38)@2�"8�B8@4)5�4$"!3)@"48$BF�#2!3!�#!�#83RF�)$0�28#�#!�)@@!BB�R!9�B!3D4@!B�54R!�!0E@)"48$F�2!)5"2F�)$0�B8@4)5�@)3!P��V!@8A$4"48$�"2)"�B85D4$A�@8GH5!7�@2)55!$A!BF�BE@2�)B�BE6B")$@!�G4BEB!F�B"3)"!A4@�H5)$$4$A�)$0�G!!"4$A�"2!�$!!0B�8C�"2!�850!3�H8HE5)"48$�@)$$8"�6!�G!"�69�"2!�@8E$@45�)58$!)$0�#455�4$@3!)B4$A59�3!aE43!�#285!�B9B"!G�3!BH8$B!B�"238EA2�A3!)"!3�@855)683)"48$�#4"2�H)3"$!3B�)$0�"2!�H8HE5)"48$�#!�B!3D!PTfITT2!3!�2)B�6!!$�@8$B40!3)65!�H38A3!BB�G)0!�E$0!3�"2!�T3)$BC83G)"48$�)$0�U4$)$@4)5�V!B454!$@!�S6W!@"4D!�0E34$A�"2!�C43B"�B47�G8$"2B�8C�&'&(Y&gP�h$�"!3GB�8C�"2!�B"!HB�E$0!3�"24B86W!@"4D!F�i�8C�pp�)3!�B28#4$A�)�q3!!$�VQq�I")"EB�)"�"2!�!$0�8C�aE)3"!3�&F�#245!�"#8�)3!�B28#4$A�)$�Qr fV�B")"EBP�Q54A$!0�"8�"24B�1�8C�pp�BE@@!BB�G!)BE3!B�)3!�A3!!$F�#245!�(3!G)4$�Qr fVPTE3$4$A�C43B"�"8�"3)$BC83G)"48$F�"2!�$!#�IE@@!BBCE5�)$0�IEB")4$)65!�I#)$B!)�s83H83)"!�T3)$BC83G)"48$�t5)$�#)B�)HH38D!0�69�s)64$!"�4$�QH345�&'&(P�T2!�H5)$�@8$")4$B�p&04B"4$@"�"3)$BC83G)"48$�H38A3)GG!B�u�B!D!$�#24@2�)3!�B!3D4@!�C8@EB!0�)$0�C4D!�#24@2�)3!�@38BB�@E""4$A�)$0�#455�"3)$BC83G�#)9B�8C�#83R4$A�)@38BB�"2!�@8E$@45�)B�)�#285!P�eE34$A"2!�C43B"�B47�G8$"2B�"2!�C8@EB�2)B�6!!$�"8�A!"�H38A3)GG!B�EH�)$0�3E$$4$AF�!B")654B2�"2!43�A8D!3$)$@!�)$0�B!"�0!")45!0�G45!B"8$!B�)$0�BE@@!BB�G!)BE3!BP�QB�BE@2�H38A3!BB�4B3)"!0�)B�QG6!3F�3!C5!@"4$A�"2)"�B8G!�H38A3)GG!B�)3!�B"455�4$�"2!�!)359�B")A!B�#245!�8"2!3B�v!PAPF�w!"�x!38y�C)@!�B4A$4C4@)$"�CE$04$A�@2)55!$A!BPh$�"!3GB�8C�C4$)$@4)5�3!B454!$@!F�&'&(Y&g�4B�H38D4$A�"8�6!�)�@2)55!$A4$A�9!)3�#4"2�)�C83!@)B"�8D!3BH!$0�69�9!)3�!$0�8$�B!3D4@!�6E0A!"B�8C��p(Pg��G45548$�)B�)"�"2!�!$0�8C��E59&'&(F�)5"28EA2�"24B�#455�E5"4G)"!59�6!�2!)D459�4$C5E!$@!0�69�"2!�C4$)5�H)9�)#)30�8$@!�3!B85D!0P�h$�)004"48$F��gP1�G45548$�8C�"2!��p(Fg��G45548$�4B�)""346E")65!�"8�4$@3!)B!B�4$!$!3A9�@8B"B�#24@2�4B�6!4$A�G!"�@83H83)"!59P�SCC4@!3B�)3!�#83R4$A�2)30�"8�3!0E@!�"2!�C83!@)B"�8D!3BH!$0�)$0�)B�)"�(p��E59��'��8C�"2!�6E0A!"�B)D4$AB�40!$"4C4!0�C83�&'&(Y&g#!3!�8$�")3A!"�"8�6!�0!54D!3!0PeE34$A�"2!�B!@8$0�aE)3"!3�#83R�6!A)$�8$�H5)$$4$A�C83�"2!�&'&gY&��6E0A!"�)$0�"2!�&'&gY&1�r!04EG�T!3G�U4$)$@4)5�t5)$P�U4$)$@4)5�BEB")4$)6454"9�8D!3�"2!�G!04EG�"!3G�4B�)$8$A84$A�@2)55!$A!�4$�"2!�C)@!�8C�)�H883�HE654@�C4$)$@!�8E"588RF�@8G64$!0�#4"2�8$A84$A�H)9�)$0�H34@!�4$C5)"48$)39�H3!BBE3!BP�V4BRB�)3!�A38#4$A�C83�"2!�#285!�8C�58@)5�A8D!3$G!$")$0�#245B"�"2!�s8E$@45�2)B�24A2�!)3G)3R!0�3!B!3D!BF�4"�2)B�)$�)G64"48EB�B!"�8C�BH!$04$A�H5)$B�)$0�58#�q!$!3)5�V!B!3D!BP�QA)4$B"�"2)"�6)@RA38E$0F�"8EA2�0!@4B48$B�)3!�54R!59�"86!�$!!0!0�5)"!3�4$�"2!�9!)3F�6E"�"2!�)@"E)5�5!D!5�8C�B)D4$AB�3!aE43!0�#455�$8"�6!�R$8#$�E$"45�"2!�58@)5�A8D!3$G!$"�C4$)$@!�B!""5!G!$"�4B�HE654B2!0�4$�e!@!G6!3�&'&(P�h$�"2!G!)$"4G!F�#83R�4B�8$A84$A�"8�!$BE3!�"2!�@8E$@45�@)$�H3!B!$"�)�6)5)$@!0�B!"�8C�6E0A!"�H38H8B)5B�4$�"2!�BH34$A�8C�&'&gF�#2)"!D!3�"2!�B!""5!G!$"�8E"@8G!P ��
P

age 111

Gordon.Wright�_41
Square


Gordon.Wright_22
FreeText
Director's Update�

Gordon.Wright_23
FreeText
Transformation and Financial Resilience�



���������	
���������������
��
��������	
���
��  !"���	
��������� 
 ���
#$%�����&���
�'
�����  
(��	���� )%01������� 
���������� ��23
��
4�  
&�������
�
��������� �
5�6��&
7��&
1������� ������	2
4����
�������
���
������ 8�
�������
��6
������ 
���������
���
� �	��6
�����
�������&���
�'
���
������ 8�
4�  ����	
����������
��6
6� ����2
�'
���
��������2�� �	������
����
����
���
���&
�'
���
� ��9
��
4�  
������
��@����6
�����	�
���6� �����6A
��6
��&&����� 
�������������
���
��B��A
4����
����������� ���
#$
C���� ����6
�������
4����
��
�������  2
��	��'����� 2
4�  
��6��4�2
'��
#D!#E
������	9
0����
�������������
����
'��6��	
'��&
FG��6
�0
��6
��� ��B9
H��B
�'
� ����2
����
�������
2���
'������� ��������
��&����6�
&������9
1��6��	
 �B� 2
��
��
������ 2����������6
��
4�� ��
�������
��
4�  
����� ����6
��6
� 4�2��������� 2
6� �����6
4�� 6
�����'���
��6����� 2
��
�������60����
���B�
&���
�������
���� '
��
6�4�	��6�6
��
%&���
��6������� 2
����
��
���B
��	�����
��
&�I�&�&
���B
��6
��6
&�I�&�&�����
�&����
��69
%&���

7����'��&��	
���
��������3
��
4�  A
6� ����
���
������ 8�
�����'��&�����
������
��6	�� �A
�����	�
���
6��� ��&���
��6
�&� �&��������
�'
�
���������
�����'��&������ ��A
������������	
���
B�2
�����'��&������ 
����	�
��������
��6
���	��&&��'��&
������
���
������ ���
#$
7����'��&�����
P� ����2
"���6
�������6
��
��6���
��
���	����
�������&���9
�'
���
Q#
���	��&&��
E
4���
0����A
D
4���
%&�����6
$
4���
)CP
R��
S�&&����2
T��
5�6� 
���6�6
'������
� ����2�'
�����A
U��
V���
���6�
�66������ 
'��6��	
'��&
�0W
��6%6� ��
����� 
S���
�����	�
6� ����2
��
��
���B
6��
��
���������	6�&��6
��6
�����9
%������
����	
��B��
��
����
)CP�
��
%5"C)��6
%5"C)�
��
0)CCU9
��
'��
��
#X#$!#DA
Ỳ Q#AXX
6� �����6
�������	�9
�����  
%5"C)
)%0
������
%&���

P�	��� 
7����'��&�����3
��
4�  
�&� �&���
���
������ 8�
6�	��� 
������	2A
����	6�	��� 
������ �	2
��
�&�����
���� �8�
 ����A
��
���� �
6�	��� 
������
��
��������
#D�����
�
6�2A
��6
��
�&�����
���������� 
�''������2 ���
#$
(�������
����
������6
��6
��	� �	��
�������
��
���	����
���
����	��������6
��
���
P�	��� 
7����'��&�����
"���6A
4����
��
����'��6�
����
���
S��������
7����'��&�����
(��	��&&�
"���69 0�������B'����
P��� ��&���3
��
4�  
�&� �&���
���
������ 8�
4��B'����
������	2
��6������2
6��� ��
�
&�������6
��6
��&&����6
4��B'����
����
��
����������A��������6A
�B�  �6
��6
�����&��
'�����69 ���
#$
7��
���B'����
��6
�P
7����'��&�����
(��	��&&�
"���6
����&��
@������ 2
�����
P���&���
#X##
��6
����
���'��&�6
���
'���������
�'
��������
��
��
6� �����6
�2
&�6!#X#D9
���B
�����������	
��
����
�'
�����
��������
�����	�
�����
��6���6�� 4��B
���	��&&�
�����6�9 0������	���������� 
P��� ��&���3
��
4�  
������
���
��	���������8�
4��B��	
&�6� ��' ����
���
���6�
�'
���
���� �����
��6
���
������ 8�
�	� �
4��B��	
��������9
��4�  
�����4
������
&���	�&���
���������A
��2
��6
	��6��	
��
������
���2
��������������
��6
��
 ���
4���
���
4�6��
4��B'����
��2
��6
	��6��	
����&�9
��
4�  6��� ��
��� �
��
�� �
��������
�&� �&���
����	�A
��� �6��	
�������	A
	��6����A
��6�������9 ���
#$
7��
��4
��������
�������
&�6� 
���
����
����� ����6
��
���T)a�P
���������
��6
�������&���
��
�����
4��
��&� ���6
��%�	���
#X#$9
7������	
��6
���B�  ��	
���
����
�����6�6
���
H0%��
4��B'����
� �����	
��6
��������
��������
4�  
��
��&&�����	6����������
4���
T��6�
�'
�������
��
�����
��	���������� 
6���	���@����&����9
b�
�66�����A
�2���6
��������	
&�6� �
4����&� �&����6
��
cQ
�'
#X#$
4���
�  
T��6�
�'
�������
���'��&��	�����
��������	
&�6� �
��
���
����
���6�&��
�2���6
�������&���4���
�
�����4
6��
��
U���&���
#X#$9
0����

de
P

age 112



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)'�&%�&$��	��0�����$������1�)���&���	�2����3����	�����4������$��1����%�������$����������
��	�4�	��5����&%�&$��	��$�����$�����&&����$�������11���������	4��4&���%�
��
���&%�&$��	�6����&�������1�	�����4�4���$�&���$���7���3�������4&���
��	�&��&��������6�0�1�4$�8�&$�9����	������&����@���1�8&���%�&$�����'�����&��������1���1��4���&���
���������&$����1���%��
�����4������7����3��������A�����
��	�4�	��5��	������4�����4�1�&�&����36���	�41�������4&�������&��&����1�����������&&����$�����%�&�$�$��&����1��%%�	�&���&��������	�7 ����!"�8
��	�4�	�������%�&�%��	����������������������&��&����$��������
���&%�&$��	��14�@����&�14	�1��@�'�&��B��%��
��C�	���)���&�$�����1�D��	������E�����F�!G!H�#	����1��
��3����������14�@���&�14	�1��@��
��������������%�94�4&��)���&�������#	��E�����F!GHI�3�&��	�$�����1�����
����1��%�!G!!P!"���1�3�&��&����3�1��1�	
�������1����QH�E0�@�!G!"F�����
����&�����	�)���&���	�)&�4�R��&����%�&�	�����4�1��$�&���$����3�&���1����%��1�%�&%4&�
�&��	����7
)&���

'&�	4&�$���2����3����	�����4�����1��������
���&�	4&�$�����4���@�	
������	���@6&��������@���1�����������������4&���4&��&�	4&�$�����	�����@�&�$�������
�	��6����A�����$��1�&�����������3��������&��������	&�����
���4���@�	
������1�3���
�����&$�&��
�����@�����
����	�������4���%��&�	4&�$���6���������3��
��
���4���������1������$�����&��	�����7 ����!"�S�������&���&�����&���1�������&��	
7���	�������4����$������������	����1�������&����3�1��@���&��	��7�T�3�������������14������!G!"���3��
�����	����1�&���&�����������1�������1��@�����
)���&�$������3�����$��	���
�������	@��&��6�����4���	�������%����4��&@��4�1��	���3����1���1������U��	&���	�������7���&��	�S���&��P�94������4���&������	�����1����Q"�%�&�1������$�����%����1��&�	A�����@���$������	�&�������	����$��	�7 )&���
���&��������������2����3����	�����4�����&������������
��	�4�	��5�����&�����������������$�U�$�����%%�	���	@���1�&�14	���4&�	�&����%����&���7 ����!"�8
��1�	�&������������&��&�$$�����������1�3��
�1��������&��&�$$�6����4&�����%%�	���	�����&��$�U�$���17 )&���'�&���&�
���3�&A���2����3����	�����4�����	������&����3��
��4&�&����������&���&�����&��&�����4&�3����������� �	�����6����	�%�	���@����&������������
����&�����	1������$������������6�&���������&�����&����������6��&�$�������
���	���$�	�3������������1�1�����&������&�����������&�@���&����@�E�
&�4�
��
��S�&��&����V����S�$$�����F6�
����
���1���	����	�&��E�
&�4�
��
�������)��$�&������&���&�
��F���1�14	�������$�&���$����E�
&�4�
�'�&���&����
F7��4&�	������&������3���������	�����4�3��
���	�����&���&�����1���������1��$���$�������4����������
��	
���������%�	�����4&���4���������1��&��&�����4&�!GWG�����������'����E�
&�4�
��
��'4���	���&��	�����&1F7 ����!"�#�&���&������
��3�&A�1�����@��
��S�4�	������&�����	���&���&�
���3�������1�������1���1��&������1����)���&���	��X�#41��S�$$���������Q"�E�	����&�!G!"F7 )&���
Y���&�	�����3��
��4&����4������2����3����	�����4��������4&���
���3
�&�����&��&����3��	���4��6�������6���1����������4&����4�����������
��1��������1��
��1�����&@��%�4&�����	������1���&��	��6���
��	�����4&�	���&�14	�����	���	��@���1�	��������@�
&�4�
��������&� �	�����1��&�	��	�7 ����!"��4&�4�1���1�S���4����������1�D�����$������&����@�3�����&���1��@�S�4�	������0�@7����	�$$�������1�S��&�14	�������������3�&A�3��
�4������$�&�����4&�A��3��1�����1�	���	��@%�&�4�1�&��A����$�&��	���&�14	������	�����@��	&�����
��S�4�	��7��S��&�14	�����	
�$���������3�&A�
����������������
�1���1&��4��&��&�����������&�4�������
�����&���1�1����	�4�	������%%7�'�����&� �	���
�������������	��1�����4��	���&�14	�����������&�	��	�6��&A�
������4������&�14	������S��&�14	�����'���	@�%�&��
�S�4�	��7

)&���
à

P
age 113



����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)012����34�5���&���3���6�72$���(��
��8����9����	�����2������$��6��12����346���&���34���6�
2$���&��
����
&�2�
������
���9��6�������	�2�	��4��$���$��������2&����
�@���2�����&�������
��12����3��%��2&������&���6��$��	��������$�������69�&A����9��
���&���&�����$�A���9��������72$���(��
���B��3C ����!"��2&�DD#��&�	�������2&����
���012����3���6�5���&���3���6�72$��(��
����$���	��������66&����6�������&3�6�	������9��$�A������B�2�	�����6��&���$��66�6�����	3�6������$���C��9�����6�	��&�6������%���72$���(��
���B��3����5�	�$��&�!E!!C���&A�
�������2�6�&��A���9��
���&���&������������9��
�	�$$2��������2&72$���(��
���#	�����'���C�D��F2���9��
��6����2		���%2�������$���������C�#&�2�6�GEE�������������6�6�%&�$��	&����9�����C�H
���2�	�$����%��
���������9����6�&�	��3���%�&$��
�#	�����������C
)&���

IP
P

age 114



�������������	����
����
������������
�������� �����!"#��
��� � ����$%&�����'��
��(�!��	����)	��	��� 0&1&�"������2���2��'�3�	'�4���������)���5 ����$%�6��7��2�	��
�8�
���"���5�9���
��"��2�����	�2������@��	��AAB	����
�5���'��	��7��C�@������
�"�����2��	������@�����������@�8�@�	7�2�������
���	��7�������������
�2���������������	�'��
'�
�	����85 &'"�	D�����	�2�����
������������	�����������	���2����
���$E$%�$E$B�4����� �2��
5 ����$%�3	��7�	���
�"�����2���2������2�	�2�"8�2�	��
�	�
����������2�	��
�����('��	�����5�4�	�
�(�	'���	���	
�@��������'���8���	�"�2��
�'���
�	����
��F�"���
����!�
�"�	5�)	����������	���G��7������2��(�AEEH�2�����	8����2�(���
����8���
�����	�2�IPEHQ'�	����7��8�	�����
��R�������	����	�'������������2�&'"�	5 &'"�	&���	��	�
��
	���(�	'�
���������@��������2�����	����'�#�	�����������	����
���������5 ����$%�3���F�	��	�
��3	���(�	'�
����)�����������
��(�	�
�8��	���2���
�����A$��	��	�''���@�����@����2�����	�'�#�	�����������	���
����������5����(�	��
�����2�����	�2�STA$GEEE��(��������5�3���0&1�
�
������&� U0�	�(���
����
��
�
����	��	�''����	������
�	
�����������2�
��	�(�	��
���'�#�	����������	��������2�(�	���
�	8��	���(�
����	��	�''� &'"�	U'"�22�2�����@�U�
�	�	����0����	���)���������8�
�'5 ����$%�!	�����4������@��
���������&�	���$E$%5�)��
������������������2�����	
����
�����5�3@��(������������@����"��	������2���	8����	
�8��2�
����
����	�#��
�@������������2�
	����
������
��
�����@�!	�������	�
����'�2��5�!����(�
������
�����"#��
�����@���
��
	���(�	�
�
�����@�����2����
(�	'����
���(�	�
����
����5�!����
�������'"�22�2�������
������2��	�������'�	���'��
��@����(����@���
���F�����������'�V�'��������
�����@�(���
������
8����
����8�
�'51	���W��	����2�
�����'"�	��(��@������&�����
����	����2��'�	���2��
��(���
������
85 ����$%�3����(�	'����	
��(�����@��	�#��
������2�XW'�	������F��
�'�	&�����Y���2���������2�2����
���D���
���3	���(�	'�
����)	��	�''�5&������2��
����	�#��
G�
���F������������'����
���	�'�
��
���@������&�����
�
��	���2��
�������@���	������"���'��������"��53��������
�	'���'����
�������'��
�	�̀���
��(�	���	����������2
�	�����
����@������&�����
����	���2��
������
	��7��	��	���@�
����������	������	��'��
5�3����	�#��
������2�	@�8 1	���
ab

P
age 115



�����������	
��������
��������������� �	���� � ����!"#�����$�����%����&����'&��&��� (#)0��&�12	�1���3����1�&�
�����
����2&����1���$�����$�������&�������11������$�����%%�&4 ����!"�5
��3�&6����&�������
��7�2�	��8�����2�����1���
����2&�9��	�21�������1�&�
�����
����2&�@�
��������	�$�����1���1����12�%�&����&������
�&��A�9���1�����&��
�	�1������3�&6@4�5
���
����	�21�1���3�1��&������%����6�
��1�&�������$������	�21����&�1��2�����B��$���A���������$�����&�2����1�C��1�&�
��D7E5&��&���������������&�%&��
��
�����2�����1���
����2&�4���&6��������2�1�&3�A�����������
�������2�����1���
����2&������2&&�3�&1���1�&�	�����������&����A���1���&%�&$��	��$�����$���4
)&���

(����3�1��
�������&�$�����$������&2	�2&����1���A���1��&�1�����	
�$�4 ����!"�5
��7
��%��%%�	�&� �������2�������F�&	�������2�1�&3�A4�G�	
�����
��1�&�
����2�$����1��� �������2������H2���������&��%�&�����A����A�C)#�	���2���������1��
��&��6��&1�&��&�	���������3������2�1�&��6��4�(��2�����&������	�����1�����	����&4 )&�����&����
���1��
��	�2�	��8��'�&%�&$��	��E�����$������1�I2����A�#��2&��	�P&�$�3�&64 ����!"�Q�3�#��2&��	��P&�$�3�&6�������	�4�5
��	�2�	�������%�&�%��	���������������������&��&����$��������
����&%�&$��	��12�A���&�12	�1��A�'�&��R��%��
��C�	���)���&�$������1�G��	�����9�����@�!S!T�#	����1��
��3����������12�A����&�12	�1��A��
�������������%�P2�2&��)���&�������#	��9�����@�!STU�3�&�	�$�����1�����
����1��%�!S!!D!"���1�3�&��&����3�1���1	
�������1����IT�9E�A�!S!"@�����
����&�����	�)���&���	�)&�2�V��&����%�&�	�����2�1��$�&���$����3�&���1����%��1�%�&%2&�
�&��	����4
)&���

P2&�
�&�1��������2&���	����2���A�	
������1���������2&��	�$$�&	��������&�2�������&��1�������1�3
�&�����&��&����4 ����!"�5
���3�&6������������1�������� �	�����D�0W�X"S�9������������
��%2��2�1������F��%�&��
����&��@�3�&6����3��
��
��W�&�	��&��%�P����	���1�&�����������7�������E�$��&4�Y�A��2		����$���2&������
������&���&������%��
���	���$�	��$��	���%��2&�	�$$�&	���&��������
��������P2�����9&���2&	���������&���1�1�������&��	�7���&�����I"@B�%&�$�3
�	
���&�����	����
���������4 )&���(�12	�1�	�&�����$��������%&�$��2&����&��������������4 ����!"���&6�	�����2������&�12	�����$��������%&�$��2&��2���	��2��1����3��
��
�����3���%��2&�&�̀�%����&��&�$$��	2&&����A�2�1�&3�A4 )&���(����1��2��	���&�12	������&���������1�����6�����	&�����
��	�2�	��4 ����!"��2&�2�1���1�7���2����������1�G�����$������&����A�3�����&���1��A�7�2�	������E�A4����	�$$�������1�7��&�12	�������������3�&6�3��
�2������$�&�����2&�6��3��1�����1�	���	��A%�&�2�1�&��6����$�&��	���&�12	������	�����A��	&�����
��7�2�	��4��7��&�12	�����	
�$���������3�&6�
����������������
�1���1&��2��&��&�����������&�2�������
�����&���1�1����	�2�	������%%4�'�����&� �	���
�������������	��1�����2��	���&�12	�����������&�	��	�B��&6�
������2������&�12	������7��&�12	�����'���	A�%�&��
�7�2�	��4
)&���

ab
P

age 116



���������	�
����	�����������  !"
$%&'"(
)0
1)(23$4
567898!30@8
A"(
0%BB
@3&"
"C%3D6B"$@
B)8@
5%"
@)
83E2$"88
6'8"$E" �FG� �FHI�PQ R� S"(E"$@64"
)0
E)(A)(6@"
8@64"
R
E)&AB63$@8
EB)8"5
3$
R�
1)(23$4
5678
)(
B"88 THFRU�PQ RV W%&'"(
)0
Q16$8"6
XEE)%$@
!)B5"(8
6E@3D"
5%(3$4
@!"
A"(3)5 VVV�PQ �6 W%&'"(
)0
)$B3$"
A67&"$@8
("E"3D"5
D36
�3@7
Y
�)%$@7
)0
Q16$8"6
1"'83@"8 V�̀G�� VÌaGG�PQ �E W%&'"(
)0
0)(&8
E)&AB"@"5
)$B3$"
0)(
0%BB7
6%@)&6@"5
A()E"88"8
F RaàGHHbcWXRI S"(E"$@64"
)0
3$D)3E"8
6$5
A67&"$@
5)E%&"$@8
A635
13@!3$
V�
5678FS�d�R� W%&'"(
)0
56@6
'("6E!"8
1!3E!
!6D"
("8%B@"5
3$
6
A"$6B@7
$)@3E"
'"3$4
388%"5
'7
@!"
c�d � �

efghipf
rfs
t efghipf ugpvfw xywig� �fps�p�g�yf

��
P

age 117

Gordon.Wright�_42
Square


Gordon.Wright�_43
Square


Gordon.Wright�_44
Square


Gordon.Wright�_45
Square


Gordon.Wright_24
FreeText
No quarterly performance
target set�

Gordon.Wright_25
FreeText
No quarterly performance
target set�

Gordon.Wright_26
FreeText
No quarterly performance
target set�

Gordon.Wright_27
FreeText
No data -
Data will be
available in Q3�

Gordon.Wright_28
FreeText
Note from Corporate Performance Team - Data quality under review�

Gordon.Wright�_46
Stamp




Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: SDU 
Directorate: Corporate Services 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 
 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
Q2 2023/24 Performance Monitoring Report – This report is on performance during Q2 2023/24 
in delivering the Council’s key priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan.  
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 
     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           
Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           Page 118



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

2 
 

 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 
 
This report is on performance during Q2 2023/24 in delivering the Council’s key priorities as set 
out in the Corporate Plan, so there is no direct impact on people or communities and no 
consultation or engagement is required. 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   
 

a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 
together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         
 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
Q8  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   
 

Page 119



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form – Appendix B 
 

3 
 

Outcome of Screening – This report is on performance during Q2 2023/24 in delivering 
the Council’s key priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan, so there is no direct impact 
on people or communities. 

 
Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

 Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 
 Summary of involvement (Q3) 
 WFG considerations (Q4) 
 Any risks identified (Q5) 
 Cumulative impact (Q7) 

 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 
Screening completed by: 
Name: R Rowlands 
Job title: Strategic Delivery & Performance Manager 
Date: 17/11/23 

 

Approval by Head of Service: 
Name: Lee Wenham 
Position: Head of Communications & marketing 
Date: 17/11/23 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 120



 

 
 

Report of the Local Authority Governor Appointment Group 
 

Cabinet – 21 December 2023 
 

Local Authority Governor Appointments 

 
Purpose: To approve the nominations submitted to fill Local 

Authority Governor vacancies in School 
Governing Bodies 
 

Policy Framework: Local Authority (LA) Governor Appointments 
Procedure (Adopted by Council on 26 October 
2017) 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that:  

 
1)  The nominations recommended by the Director of Education in 

conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Education & Learning be 
approved. 

 
Report Author: Agnes Majewska 

 
Finance Officer: Aimee Dyer 

 
Legal Officers: Stephanie Williams 

 
Access to Services Officer: Catherine Window 

 

 
1.0 The nominations referred for approval 
 
1.1 The nominations are recommended for approval as follows:  

1. Blaenymaes Primary  Mrs Sam Etheridge 
Mr Phatsimo Mabophiwa 

2. Christchurch Primary Ms Donnie Yuen 

3. Crwys Primary Ms Linda Place 

4. Cwmrhydyceirw Primary Ms Helen McLaughlin 

Page 121

Agenda Item 10.



 

5. Glyncollen Primary Cllr Ceri Evans 

6. Gowerton School Mr Richard Casey 

7. Penclawdd Primary Mr Howard Evans 

8. Townhill Primary Mrs Janet Chaplin 

9. YG Bryntawe Mrs Margaret Greenaway 

 
2.0 Financial Implications 
 
2.1 There are no financial implications for the appointments; all costs will be 

met from existing budgets. 
 
3.0 Legal Implications 
 
3.1 There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 
4.0 Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
4.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
4.1.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
4.1.2 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 

Page 122



 

priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, 
carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC) and Welsh language. 

 
4.2 Following the completion of the IIA process it has been identified there are 

no negative impacts and a full IIA is not required. 
 
4.3 There is no need for mitigation as impacts that have been identified are 

not negative impacts. The panel choose Governors, no public consultation 
is required. In order for schools to run effectively they need to have 
effective Governing Bodies, this appointment supports this. 

 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Integrated Impact Assessment Form  
 

Page 123



Appendix A - Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form  
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: Achievement and Partnership 
Directorate: Education 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 

 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
 

Appointing Local Authority governors to schools in Swansea 

 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  
     investigation 

     +    -     +    -               +    -    

Children/young people (0-18)          
OIder people (50+)         
Any other age group           
Future Generations (yet to be born)          
Disability          
Race (including refugees)          
Asylum seekers          
Gypsies & travellers          
Religion or (non-)belief         
Sex         
Sexual Orientation         
Gender reassignment          
Welsh Language         
Poverty/social exclusion         
Carers (inc. young carers)         
Community cohesion         
Marriage & civil partnership         
Pregnancy and maternity         
 

Page 124



Appendix A - Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form  
 

2 
 

 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 

 
This activity does not require consultation. 

 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   

 
a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 

together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          
 

 
 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  

 
 
Q7  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   

 
In order for schools to run effectively they need to have effective Governing Bodies. 
 
 
 

Page 125



Appendix A - Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form  
 

3 
 

Outcome of Screening 
 

Q8 Please describe the outcome of your screening below: 

 Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 

 Summary of involvement (Q3) 

 WFG considerations (Q4) 

 Any risks identified (Q5) 

 Cumulative impact (Q7) 
 
We have identified high impact on children and young people because it is in school 
environment and Governors are appointed to those school. Race, Religion and Welsh language 
have been also identified as high impact because we have some religious and welsh language 
schools. There is no need for mitigation as impacts that have been identified are positive. The 
panel choose governors and no public consultation is required. In order for schools to run 
effectively they need to have effective governing bodies, this appointment process supports this. 
 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the relevant section of corporate report)  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome 

    
 

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Gemma Wynne 

Job title: Governor Support Officer 

Date: 08/09/23 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Rhodri Jones  

Position:  Head of Achievement and Partnership  

Date: 08/09/23 

 
Please return the completed form to accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk 

Page 126

mailto:accesstoservices@swansea.gov.uk


 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Education & Learning 

 
Cabinet – 21 December 2023 

 

  Regional Education Consortium - Amendment to Legal 
Agreement on Voting within Joint Committee 

 

Purpose: To seek approval to amend the Partneriaeth Joint 
Committee Agreement to allow each constituent 
Local Authority to choose whether to nominate 
their Leader or Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for the Education portfolio to be the 
voting member on the Joint Committee. 
 

Policy Framework: Partneriaeth Joint Committee Agreement dated 
20 April 2022. 
 

Consultation: Finance, Legal and Access to Services. 
 

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

1) Approves the draft Deed of Variation attached at Appendix A which 
allows each individual Constituent Authority to decide who should 
be the voting member on Partneriaeth’s Joint Committee. 
 

2) Appoints the Cabinet Member for Education and Learning as the 
voting member for Swansea Council and the non-voting member 
shall be the Leader of Swansea Council. 
 

3) 
 

Delegates authority to the Chief Legal Officer to approve the final 
terms of the Deed of Variation and to enter into the Deed on behalf 
of the Council. 

 
Report Author: Debbie Smith 

 
Finance Officer: Ben Smith 

 
Legal Officer: Debbie Smith 

 
Access to Services Officer: Rhian Millar 

 
1. Background and Introduction 

 
1.1   On the 20th April 2022 Swansea Council entered into an Agreement with    

Pembrokeshire County Council and Carmarthenshire County Council for the 
establishment of a Joint Committee to support the delivery of educational 

Page 127

Agenda Item 11.



improvements through Partneriaeth Addysg De Orllewin Cymru / South West 
Wales Education Partnership (“Partneriaeth”) 
 

1.2   The Terms of Reference of Partneriaeth (Schedule 3 of the Joint Committee 
Agreement) provide that governance shall be via 3 voting members who shall be 
the Leaders of the 3 Councils. Leaders are inevitably involved in many meetings 
relating to their own individual Council business, partnerships, joint committees 
and regional working structures, which can lead to many conflicting commitments. 

 
1.3   Consequently, at its meeting on the 6th October 2023, Partneriaeth agreed that it 

would be preferable to have some flexibility for the 3 Constituent Authorities to 
nominate their Cabinet Member with the Education Portfolio as their voting 
member instead of their Leader, should they so wish. 

 
1.4   This proposal would comply with the Guidance on Education Consortia issued by 

the Welsh Government when they were established – “National Model for 
Regional Working” (2014), which advised that “the membership of a joint 
committee will comprise of the Leader of each constituent local authority or 
education portfolio holder – they will be the decision-making body and the elected 
members will have full voting rights”. 

 
2. Proposed amendment 

 
2.1 The Deed of Variation attached at Appendix A provides for amendments to 

Schedule 3 of the Joint Committee Agreement dealing specifically with membership 
and voting rights. Paragraph 3 states that where the Leader is nominated as the 
voting member, the Cabinet Member with the Education Portfolio shall be 
nominated as the non-voting member. Where the Cabinet Member with the 
Education Portfolio is nominated as the voting member of Partneriaeth each 
Constituent Authority shall appoint a non-voting member (who may be the Leader, 
or another member). 

 
2.2 Pursuant to clause 4.4 of the Joint Committee Agreement any amendment to the 

Joint Committee Agreement is a matter reserved to each individual Council. 
Cabinet is therefore asked to approve this amendment to Schedule 3 of the Joint 
Committee Agreement – “Terms of Reference” - and to nominate the Cabinet 
Member for Education and Learning as its voting member, and the Leader as its 
non-voting member. 
 

2.3 The draft Deed of Variation to give effect to these amendments is attached at 
Appendix A and the amendments to Schedule 3 shown in red. 
 

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1 The amendment to the Joint Committee Agreement proposed in this report is a 
matter reserved to the Constituent Councils and is therefore a matter to be 
considered and decided by Cabinet. 
 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1      There are no financial implications associated with this proposed amendment to the 
Partneriaeth Joint Committee Agreement. 
 
 

Page 128



 
5. Integrated Assessment Implications 

 
5.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty and the 

socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and 
the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must in the exercise of their functions, 
have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-economic 
disadvantage. 

  Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language. 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. Ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 

5.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that public 
bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. Sustainable development 
means the process of improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales by taking action, in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle, aimed at achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 
 

5.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid due regard 
to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and priorities, such as 
poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, carers, the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and Welsh language. 
 

5.4 This report is proposing an amendment to the existing Partneriath Joint Committee 
Agreement to add flexibility to the voting arrangements. An IIA screening form has 
been completed which has confirmed that a full IIA is not required. 

 
 
Background papers: - None 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix A - Draft Deed of Variation  
Appendix B - IIA 

Page 129



1 

Appendix A 

DATED                            2023 

------------ 

DEED OF VARIATION OF AGREEMENT DATED XXXXX TO CONSTITUTE A JOINT 

COMMITTEE TO SUPPORT THE DELIVERY OF EDUCATIONAL IMPROVEMENTS 

THROUGH PARTNERIAETH ADDYSG DE ORLLEWIN CYMRU 

between 

 

(1) CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
AND 

(2) PEMBROKESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
                        AND 

(3) THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA  

 

This deed is dated                        2023 

Parties 

(1) CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, Castle Hill, Carmarthen,   
SA31 1JP ("Carmarthenshire") 
 
(2) PEMBROKESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, Haverfordwest, Pembrokeshire, SA61 1TP 
("Pembrokeshire") 
 
(3) THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA of Civic Centre, Oystermouth Road, 
Swansea SA 1 3SN ("Swansea") 

together referred to as the Parties or individually, the Party, howsoever the context requires. 

Background 

(A) On the 20th April 2022 the Parties entered into an Agreement (“the Agreement”) to 

constitute a Joint Committee to support the delivery of educational improvements 

through Partneriaeth Addysg De Orllewin Cymru / South West Wales Education 

Partnership (“the Joint Committee”)  

 

Page 130



2 

(B) The Terms of Reference of the Joint Committee are set out in Schedule 3 of the 

Agreement, and more particularly para 3.1 provides that the voting members of the 

Joint Committee shall be the Leaders of the Parties. 

 

(C) Due to frequent conflicting demands on the Leaders’ time the Parties wish to amend 

the Agreement as set out in this deed with effect from xxxxx (Variation Date) to the 

intent and purpose that the Parties may nominate either their Leader or the Cabinet 

Member with the Education portfolio as the voting member of the Joint Committee, and 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxx. 

 

Agreed terms 

Terms defined in the Agreement 

In this deed, expressions defined in the Agreement and used in this deed have the 

meaning set out in the Agreement. The rules of interpretation set out in the Agreement 

apply to this deed. 

1. Variation 

1.1 With effect from the Variation Date the Parties agree that Schedule 3 of the Agreement 

shall be replaced by the Schedule 3 set out in the Appendix to this Deed of Variation  

 

1.2 Except as set out herein, the Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. 

 

2. Governing law 

This deed and any dispute or claim (including non-contractual disputes or claims) 

arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed 

by and construed in accordance with the law of England and Wales. 

3. Jurisdiction 

3.1 Each Party irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales shall have 

exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim (including non-contractual disputes 

or claims) arising out of or in connection with this deed or its subject matter or 

formation. 

 

 

 

Page 131



3 

                                                                 APPENDIX  

                                                               SCHEDULE 3  

                                                    Terms of Reference of the Joint Committee  

1 Governance  

1.1 The Leaders or the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Education as nominated by 

each of the three Councils are the nominated voting members of the Joint Committee 

 

2 Purpose  

2.1 The Joint Committee has ultimate responsibility and accountability for decisions taken in 

relation to the operation of the PARTNERIAETH.  

2.2 The Joint Committee’s functions shall include:  

(a) Implementing appropriate governance structures for the PARTNERIAETH. 

(b) Developing and implementing the strategic planning for the PARTNERIAETH to include 

approval and adoption of the Business Plan.  

(c) Overall responsibility for the performance monitoring.  

(d) Approving the Annual Budget and the statement of accounts, agreeing the basis on which 

the Annual Budget will be funded and any change to the basis for calculation of each Council’s 

Contribution to the Annual Budget. The approval of the first Annual Budget shall be a matter 

reserved to the Councils in accordance with Schedule 8. All subsequent Annual Budgets will 

be approved by the Joint Committee taking recognition of the current economic climate and 

pressure on the public sector in the applicable year, and on the proviso that the approval shall 

not result in any Annual Budget exceeding the previous years Annual Budget by more than 5 

%.  

(e) Approving the internal audit plan, internal audit charter and receiving the Head of Internal 

Audit annual assurance option.  

(f) Receiving external audit reports, including the audit of accounts report (ISA 260)  

(g) Approving the annual governance statement  

(h) Appointing the Lead Council for each of the Functions  

(i) Responsibility for resource allocation and ensuring optimal staffing levels to achieve the 

Objects.  

(j) Appointing the Lead Officers as required by clause 10.11.   

(k) Appointing (in consultation with the Strategic Group) the PARTNERIAETH Lead Officer.  

(l) To receive and consider reports and recommendations from the PARTNERIAETH Lead 

Officer, the Strategic Group or the Joint Scrutiny Councillor Group.  

(m) Strategic communications.  

(n) Subject to the prior approval of the Councils, receiving and considering Withdrawal Notices 

and approving the Liabilities Schedule for a withdrawing Council.  

Page 132



4 

3 Membership  

3.1 Each of the Councils shall appoint its Leader or Cabinet Member with responsibility for 

Education as a member of the Joint Committee and all such members shall have full voting 

rights.  

3.2 Each of the Councils shall also appoint a non voting member of the Joint Committee, who 

shall - if they have not been nominated as the voting member of the Joint Committee under 

para 3.1 above - be the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Education.  

3.3 In the event that the voting member is unable to attend all or part of a meeting of the Joint 

Committee the relevant non voting member will automatically substitute for the voting member 

and shall be able to vote in their place. In the event that the non voting member is unable to 

attend the meeting as the voting member then the nominated voting member can appoint an 

alternative substitute with full voting rights for the period that they are substituting for the voting 

member.  

3.4 In the event that that the non voting member is either substituting for the voting member 

in accordance with paragraph 3.3 or is otherwise unable to attend the meeting of the Joint 

Committee then that non voting member may appoint a substitute to attend meetings of the 

Joint Committee in a non-voting capacity.  

3.5 The Joint Committee shall be entitled to co-opt such additional persons to the Joint 

Committee as non-voting members as the Joint Committee sees fit and on terms to be 

determined by the Committee.  

3.6 The co-option of any person as a non-voting member shall be subject to that person 

confirming in writing to the monitoring officer that he or she agrees to comply with the Co-

opted Member Protocol in Schedule 7. No co-option shall take effect until such confirmation 

has been given.  

3.7 The following officers shall attend the meetings of the Joint Committee and shall not have 

a vote:  

(i) The Chief Executive of each of the Councils with the Lead Chief Executive to support the 

Chair and advise members.  

(ii) The Director of Education of each of the Councils with the Lead Director to provide technical 

advice to the members.  

(iii) The PARTNERIAETH Lead Officer who shall provide a report dealing with the progress in 

attaining the Objects including an update on the Business Plan.  

(iv) The Chair of the Joint Scrutiny Councillor Group with observer status only.  

(v) The Lead Council with responsibility for Finance will arrange for its S.151 officer (or a 

deputy) to attend to report on the Annual Budget, Statement of Accounts and any other 

financial matters.  

(vi) The Chair of the Strategic Group to present and advise on reports from the Strategic 

Group.  

Page 133



5 

(vii) The monitoring officer and section 151 officer of each of the Councils shall be entitled to 

attend meetings of the Joint Committee as an advisor dependant on the subject matter of 

agenda items.  

3.8 The Joint Committee may invite officers of the Councils or from outside bodies to attend 

committee meetings to present reports or to participate in Joint Committee business or to 

observe proceedings. These officers will not be members of the Joint Committee, will not form 

part of the quorum and will not be entitled to vote.  

 

4 Chair  

4.1 The Chair of the Joint Committee shall be one of the voting members appointed to the 

Joint Committee.  

4.2 The Chair of the Joint Committee shall be elected for a two year term in the first instance, 

reviewed annually thereafter.  

4.3 The two voting members of the remaining local authorities shall be appointed as Deputy 

Chairs.  

 

5 Voting  

5.1 Each member of the Joint Committee shall have one vote. Decisions of the Joint 

Committee shall be made by simple majority vote. In the event of an equality of votes, the 

Chair of the Joint Committee shall have a casting vote. In the absence of the Chair or in the 

event of the Chair withdrawing from the meeting for a particular agenda item, then the Joint 

Committee shall determine which of the Deputy Chairs shall sit as chair pro tem and that 

Deputy Chair shall have the casting vote for such period as the Chair is absent from the 

meeting.  

 

6 Proceedings of Meetings  

6.1 The rules of procedure in the constitution of the Lead Council responsible for 

administration of the Joint Committee shall apply to meetings of the Joint Committee.  

6.2 The voting and non voting members of the Councils shall be subject to the codes of 

conduct of their respective Councils.  

6.3 Co-opted members of the Joint Committee who are not members of the Councils shall be 

subject to the rules of conduct in Schedule 7 and shall sign an undertaking in the form set out 

at Schedule 7 to confirm that they shall abide by those rules of conduct.  

 

7 Quorum  

7.1 The quorum for a meeting of the Joint Committee shall be one representative with voting 

rights from each of the three Councils.  

 

Page 134



6 

8 Frequency  

8.1 The Joint Committee shall meet on a regular basis at a frequency to be determined by the 

Joint Committee. Additional meetings may be called by the Chair on at least seven clear days’ 

notice issued through the Central Team.  

 

9 Allowances  

9.1 No allowances shall be paid.  

 

10 Servicing  

10.1 The Lead Council with responsibility for administration of the Joint Committee shall 

organise appropriate servicing for the meetings.  

 

11 Sub groups  

11.1 The Joint Committee by agreement can introduce sub-groups or task & finish groups for 

any matters which they feel would be better dealt with in this way. These subgroups shall 

report to the Joint Committee with any recommendations or draft papers or reports.  

 

12 Review  

12.1 The terms of reference of the Joint Committee shall be reviewed annually and any 

recommendations for variation shall be referred to the Councils for determination 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135



7 

This document has been executed as a deed and is delivered and takes effect on the date 

stated at the beginning of it. 

 

Executed as a Deed by affixing    ) 

the COMMON SEAL of      ) 

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL   ) 

In the presence of  

 

 

Executed as a Deed by affixing    ) 

the COMMON SEAL of      ) 

PEMBROKESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL   ) 

In the presence of  

  

 

Executed as a Deed by affixing    ) 

the COMMON SEAL of      ) 

THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY  

AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA               ) 

In the presence of  

 

Page 136



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form              Appendix B 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: 
Directorate: Education 
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 

 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 

 Other  

 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
This report seeks approval to amend the Partneriaeth Joint Committee Agreement to allow each 
constituent Local Authority to choose whether to nominate their Leader or Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for the Education portfolio to be the voting member on the Joint Committee. 
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  No  
     Investigation  Impact 

     +    -     +    -               +    -    
Children/young people (0-18)           
OIder people (50+)           
Any other age group              
Future Generations (yet to be born)            
Disability            
Race (including refugees)            
Asylum seekers           
Gypsies & travellers            
Religion or (non-)belief           
Sex           
Sexual Orientation           
Gender reassignment            
Welsh Language           
Poverty/social exclusion           
Carers (inc. young carers)           
Community cohesion           
Marriage & civil partnership           

Page 137



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form              Appendix B 
 

2 
 

Pregnancy and maternity           
Human Rights           
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 

 
No public engagement is necessary. This is a proposed change to the terms of 
reference of the Joint Committee and has no impact on the public or any protected 
groups 
 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   

 
a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 

together?  

 Yes  No        

 
b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  

 Yes  No        

 
c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 

 Yes  No         

 
d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 

generations to meet their own needs?  

 Yes  No                

 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 

                                      

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes         No  If yes, please provide details below  
 

 
 

Q7 Will this initiative result in any changes needed to the external or internal website? 
 

 Yes         No  If yes, please provide details below  

 
Q8 Does the initiative involve changes to the way you process the personal data of 
 Council staff or service users, for example the purchase of new customer 
 management software?  
 

  Yes         No   

 
If your answer is yes, you should also screen the initiative for any implications regarding privacy 
and other GDPR rights and consider whether you need to amend your entry in the Council’s Page 138



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form              Appendix B 
 

3 
 

Information Asset Register. Please use the following link to the online screening form for a Data 
Protection Impact Assessment https://staffnet.swansea.gov.uk/dpiascreening  
For more about the Information Asset Register, please see 
https://staffnet.swansea.gov.uk/informationassetregister  
 
Q9  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 
whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   

This is a proposed change to the terms of reference of the Joint Committee and 
has no impact on the public or any protected groups 
 

 
Outcome of Screening 

 

Q9 Please describe the outcome of your screening using the headings below: 

 Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 

 Summary of involvement (Q3) 

 WFG considerations (Q4) 

 Any risks identified (Q5) 

 Cumulative impact (Q9 
 
This report seeks approval to amend the Partneriaeth Joint Committee Agreement to allow each 
constituent Local Authority to chose whether to nominate their Leader or Cabinet Member with 
responsibility for the Education portfolio to be the voting member on the Joint Committee. 
Further the report appoints the Cabinet member for Education and Learning as the voting 
member and the Leader as the non-voting member. 
This is simply a change to the governance arrangements of a regional collaboration and has no 
impact on the public or on any protected groups. 
  (NB: This summary paragraph should be used in the  ‘Integrated Assessment Implications’ 

section of corporate report)  
   

    Full IIA to be completed  

 

   Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 

 outcome 
    

NB: Please email this completed form to the Access to Services Team for agreement before 
obtaining approval from your Head of Service.  Head of Service approval is only required via 
email. 

Screening completed by: 

Name: Debbie Smith 

Job title: Deputy Chief Legal Officer 

Date: 24.11.23 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Debbie Smith 

Position: Deputy Chief Legal Officer 

Date: 24.11.23 

 
Page 139

https://staffnet.swansea.gov.uk/dpiascreening
https://staffnet.swansea.gov.uk/informationassetregister


 

 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment & Infrastructure  
 

Cabinet – 21 December 2023 
 

Financial Procedure Rule 7 – Local Transport Fund 
SBWW and Regional Bus Core Allocation 

2023/24 and 2024/25 

 

Purpose: To approve the additional funding for Local 
Transport Fund (LTF) and seek approval to add 
the capital expenditure to the delivery programme 
for Local Transport Fund projects in 2023/24 and 
2024/25. 
 
To comply with Financial Procedure Rule No.7 
(Capital Programming and Appraisals): to commit 
and authorise schemes in the Capital 
Programme. 
 

Policy Framework: Joint Transport Plan for South West Wales (2015 
– 2020) 
 

Consultation: Access to Services, Finance, Legal. 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 
1)  Approves receipt of the grant funding. 

 
2) That delegated approval be assigned to the Cabinet Member and 

Director of Place for the Local Transport Fund schemes set out in 
paragraph 2, and they be added to the Capital programme in line with 
FPR7. 

 
Report Author:  Matthew Bowyer 

  
Finance Officer:  Ben Smith  

  
Legal Officer:  Debbie Smith  

  
Access to Services Officer:  Rhian Millar 

  

 
 

Page 140

Agenda Item 12.



 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Funding bids for the Local Transport Fund (LTF) were originally submitted 

to the Welsh Government on 7th February 2023 in accordance with 
guidance from the Welsh Government.  
 

1.2 The funding was available to all Welsh Local Authorities. The Welsh 
Government elected not to set a maximum value for each scheme, but 
rather elected to set banded scoring criteria, with higher values attracting 
a lower point allocation. Whilst match funding was not a requirement of the 
funding bids, schemes offering match funding would attract higher scoring, 
thus increasing the likelihood of receiving an allocation for a scheme 
offering match funding.   
 

1.3 An FPR7 report was submitted for Cabinet to approve the LTF, ULEVTF 
and ATF 2023/24 grant applications on 15th of June 2023. Approval from 
the Cabinet Member for Environment and Infrastructure was sought and 
granted prior to the drafting and submission of the bids.  

 
1.4 Upon receipt of the grant award letter on 24th May 2023, Welsh 

Government elected to award additional funding for the Regional Bus Core 
Allocation in 2023/24 and an additional value for the project continuation 
of the Swansea Bay and West Wales Metro into 2024/25. Although these 
schemes are led by four local authorities (Swansea Council, Neath Port 
Talbot Council, Carmarthenshire County Council, Pembrokeshire County 
Council), Swansea will act as the host authority for the South West Wales 
region.  
 

1.5 This report seeks the retrospective approval of Cabinet for the award of 
LTF grant funding, specifically for the South-West regional Bus Core 
Allocation in FY2023/24 and Swansea Bay & West Wales Metro in 
FY2023/24, and seeks delegated approval be assigned to Cabinet 
Member and Director of Place for the LTF schemes, so that they, together 
with their financial implications are approved.  

 
2. Details of schemes 
 
2.1 The projects granted additional funding for Local Transport Fund 2023/24 

and 2024/25 are summarised below. 
 
2.2 Swansea Bay & West Wales Metro – This project will continue the 

development work for the Swansea Bay and West Wales Metro (SBWW) 
in FY2024-25, which commenced in 2017/18. This is a partnership project, 
developed collaboratively by the four South West Wales local authorities - 
Swansea, Neath Port Talbot, Carmarthenshire and Pembrokeshire - 
working alongside Welsh Government, Transport for Wales, and the 
Swansea Bay City Region and taking account of the work of the evolving 
South-West Wales Corporate Joint Committee. The overarching vision for 
the Swansea Bay & West Wales Metro is to create a modern, sustainable, 
and integrated transport network - including rail, bus and active travel 

Page 141



 

(walking and cycling) - that will enable everyone access to reliable, 
convenient and affordable travel, and support growth across region. 

 
2.3 This project has received consistent funding from LTF since 2017/18, 

which has enabled development work on the Swansea Bay & West Wales 
Metro. The continuation of the project in 2024/25 will further develop and 
substantiate the Metro to determine its feasibility, phasing and cost-benefit 
measures.  

 
2.4 It is envisaged that a new Programme Manager will be appointed using 

this funding in 2023/24, which will continue into 2024/25 to oversee and 
coordinate the Swansea Bay and West Wales Metro project elements. 
This resource will bring together the various project elements into a single 
joined up Metro Programme, supporting the development of linkages and 
partnership working with the Welsh Government and TfW to expedite the 
delivery of the programme.   

 
2.5 South-West Wales regional Bus Core Allocation – The Welsh 

Government awarded a ‘Regional Bus Core Allocation’ to the South West 
Wales region in FY2023/24. This will enable local authorities in the region 
to work collaboratively to identify bus corridors and to develop a pipeline 
of regional bus priority infrastructure enhancements. Swansea Council will 
act as the host authority for the region to develop and progress the 
scheme.  

 
3. Funding Awarded 
 
3.1 In total, the City and County of Swansea has been awarded £250,000 from 

the Welsh Government for South West Wales regional Bus Core 
Allocation, and £2,000,000 for the continuation of the Swansea Bay & 
West Wales Metro in FY2024-25. 

 

Scheme  Grant Awarded   

LTF 2023-24 – South-West Wales regional Bus 
Core Allocation  

£250,000  

LTF 2024-25 – Swansea Bay and West Wales 
Metro 

£2,000,000  

 
4. Integrated Assessment Implications 
 
4.1 The Council is subject to the Equality Act (Public Sector Equality Duty 

and the socio-economic duty), the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 and the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure, and must 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Acts. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. 

Page 142



 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 Deliver better outcomes for those people who experience socio-
economic disadvantage 

 Consider opportunities for people to use the Welsh language 

 Treat the Welsh language no less favourably than English. 

 Ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising 
the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. 

 
4.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 mandates that 

public bodies in Wales must carry out sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means the process of improving the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales by taking action, in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle, aimed at 
achieving the ‘well-being goals’. 

 
4.3 Our Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA) process ensures we have paid 

due regard to the above. It also takes into account other key issues and 
priorities, such as poverty and social exclusion, community cohesion, 
carers, the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 
(UNCRC) and Welsh language. Each scheme will be subject to its own 
IIA process.  

 
4.4 These transport infrastructure schemes will serve to improve public 

amenity, connectivity and access for all, particularly for people with 
disabilities, and will be the subject of consultation as appropriate 

 
4.5 Close consultation with local disability and access groups will be 

undertaken to ensure accessibility for all. For some schemes proposed to 
be delivered, this process has already taken place, alongside engagement 
with a range of other stakeholders and the public. For schemes which are 
proposed to be developed, this will be undertaken if they are approved by 
Welsh Government, and individual projects will consider their equality 
impacts more fully at the appropriate design stages when they will be 
screened in their own right. 

 
4.6 The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 has been 

considered in the development of these schemes. These initiatives that 
support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives will contribute towards 
the seven national wellbeing goals, applying the five ways of working and 
meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs.  

 
4.7 These schemes will be highly visible to the public and are considered to 

pose a medium risk to the Council. The cumulative impact of these 
schemes should be a positive one for people living along or near the 
proposed schemes. They will improve public transport and active travel for 
communities and make more sustainable forms of travel more attractive, 
safe, and accessible. 

 

Page 143



 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 
5.1 The schemes described in this report, rely upon the Local Transport Fund 

to provide 100% grant funding to secure their delivery.  
 
5.2 Summary 
 

Table Two – Financial Summary of LTF Grant 2023/24 and 2024/25 
 

Scheme  Total LTF (£k)  
Match 

Funding 
(£k)  

Total Project 
Costs (£k)  

LTF 2023-24 – South-West Wales 
regional Bus Core Allocation  

£250,000  £0  £250,000  

LTF 2024-25 – Swansea Bay and 
West Wales Metro 

£2,000,000  
£0  

£2,000,000  

Total  £2,250,000  £0  £2,250,000 

 
6. Legal Implications 
 
6.1 The Welsh Government’s transport capital infrastructure grants will require 

that all spend is compliant with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. 
Applicable spend must also comply with the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015.  

  
6.2 When delivering Transport Schemes, compliance will be required with the 

relevant Highways and Transport Act measure and guidelines.  
  
6.3 It will be necessary to ensure that all terms and conditions attached to 

external grant funding are complied with and that the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules Regarding Grant Applications and Acceptances are 
followed.  

  
6.4 Where the Council wishes to acquire land, the relevant Responsible Officer 

must instruct the Head of Property Services to negotiate, settle or confirm 
the terms of such acquisition after taking into account any relevant 
statutory provisions or guidance and any advice from the Chief Legal 
Officer.  Any acquisitions must comply with the Council’s Land Transaction 
Procedure Rules and generally the terms of any acquisition must be in 
accordance with the market value of the interest to be acquired and be 
approved in writing by the Head of Property Services.    

  
6.5 Section 120(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 authorises Local 

Authorities to acquire any land for their functions, and for the ‘benefit, 
improvement or development of their area’.   The Council has to consider 
the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, the 7 well-being 
goals and how the scheme may improve the social, economic, 
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales.  

Page 144



 

  
6.6 Land agreements whether by purchase or lease should be in place prior 

to the commencement of scheme construction and delivery.  
   
6.7 Separate legal advice will need to be sought regarding any contract and 

procurement issues relevant to the schemes.  
  

 

Background Papers: None 

 
Appendices: 

Appendix A: Integrated Impact Assessment 

 

Page 145



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form          Appendix A 
 

1 
 

Please ensure that you refer to the Screening Form Guidance while completing this form.  
 

Which service area and directorate are you from? 
Service Area: Highways & Transportation    
Directorate: Place  
 
Q1 (a) What are you screening for relevance? 
 

 

 New and revised policies, practices or procedures  
      Service review, re-organisation or service changes/reductions, which affect the wider community, service 

 users and/or staff  
     Efficiency or saving proposals 
     Setting budget allocations for new financial year and strategic financial planning 
    New project proposals affecting staff, communities or accessibility to the built environment, e.g., new 

 construction work or adaptations to existing buildings, moving to on-line services, changing location 
 Large Scale Public Events 
 Local implementation of National Strategy/Plans/Legislation 
 Strategic directive and intent, including those developed at Regional Partnership Boards and Public Services 

 Board, which impact on a public bodies functions 
 Medium to long term plans (for example, corporate plans, development plans, service delivery and 

 improvement plans) 
 Setting objectives (for example, well-being objectives, equality objectives, Welsh language  strategy) 
 Major procurement and commissioning decisions 
 Decisions that affect the ability (including external partners) to offer Welsh  language opportunities and 

 services 
 
(b) Please name and fully describe initiative here:  
 
Funding bids for the Local Transport Fund (LTF) were originally submitted to the Welsh 
Government on 7th February 2023 in accordance with guidance from the Welsh Government.   
 
This report seeks the retrospective approval of Cabinet for the award of LTF grant funding, 
specifically for the South-West regional Bus Core Allocation in FY2023/24 and Swansea Bay & 
West Wales Metro in FY2023/24, and seeks delegated approval be assigned to Cabinet 
Member and Director for the LTF schemes, so that they, together with their financial implications 
are approved.   
 

 
 

Q2 What is the potential impact on the following: the impacts below could be positive 
(+) or negative (-)  

        High Impact Medium Impact Low Impact Needs further  
     investigation 

     +    -     +    -               +    -    

Children/young people (0-18)          
OIder people (50+)         
Any other age group           
Future Generations (yet to be born)          
Disability          
Race (including refugees)          
Asylum seekers          
Gypsies & travellers          
Religion or (non-)belief         
Sex         
Sexual Orientation         
Gender reassignment          
Welsh Language         
Poverty/social exclusion         Page 146



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form          Appendix A 
 

2 
 

Carers (inc. young carers)         
Community cohesion         
Marriage & civil partnership         
Pregnancy and maternity         
 
 
Q3 What involvement has taken place/will you undertake e.g. 

engagement/consultation/co-productive approaches?   
 Please provide details below – either of your activities or your reasons for not 

undertaking involvement 

 
The design and development of the schemes will be subject to stakeholder engagement and 
public consultation, with particular attention afforded to disability and access groups to ensure 
that the needs of those represented by these groups are accounted for and accommodated. 
 
For some schemes proposed to be delivered, this process has already taken place, alongside 
engagement with a range of other stakeholders and the general public. This will be undertaken 
following approval for schemes which are proposed to be developed. Each scheme will be 
subject to its own IIA process.  

 
Q4 Have you considered the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 in the 
 development of this initiative:   

 
a) Overall does the initiative support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being Objectives when considered 

together?  
 Yes                  No          
 

b) Does the initiative consider maximising contribution to each of the seven national well-being goals?  
 Yes                  No          
 

c) Does the initiative apply each of the five ways of working? 
 Yes                  No          
 

d) Does the initiative meet the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs?  
 Yes                  No          

 
Q5 What is the potential risk of the initiative? (Consider the following impacts – equality, 

socio-economic, environmental, cultural, legal, financial, political, media, public 
perception etc…)  

 

 High risk  Medium risk Low risk 
                         

 
 

Q6 Will this initiative have an impact (however minor) on any other Council service?  
 

  Yes        No  If yes, please provide details below  
  
Q7  What is the cumulative impact of this proposal on people and/or communities 
when considering all the impacts identified within the screening and any other key 
decisions affecting similar groups/ service users made by the organisation?   
 
(You may need to discuss this with your Service Head or Cabinet Member to consider more widely if this 
proposal will affect certain groups/ communities more adversely because of other decisions the 
organisation is making. For example, financial impact/poverty, withdrawal of multiple services and 

Page 147



Integrated Impact Assessment Screening Form          Appendix A 
 

3 
 

whether this is disadvantaging the same groups, e.g., disabled people, older people, single parents (who 
are mainly women), etc.)   

 
The cumulative impact of these schemes will be a positive one for people living along or near 
the proposed schemes. They will improve public transport accessibility for communities and 
make sustainable forms of travel more attractive and safe. 
Each scheme will be subject to its own IIA process.  
 
Outcome of Screening 

 

Q8 Please describe the outcome of your screening below: 

 Summary of impacts identified and mitigation needed (Q2) 

 Summary of involvement (Q3) 

 WFG considerations (Q4) 

 Any risks identified (Q5) 

 Cumulative impact (Q7) 
 
These transport infrastructure schemes will serve to improve public amenity, connectivity and 
access for all, particularly for people with disabilities, and will be the subject of consultation as 
appropriate.  
 
Close consultation with local disability and access groups will be undertaken to ensure 
accessibility for all. For some schemes proposed to be delivered, this process has already taken 
place, alongside engagement with a range of other stakeholders and the public. For schemes 
which are proposed to be developed, this will be undertaken if they are approved by Welsh 
Government, and individual projects will consider their equality impacts more fully at the 
appropriate design stages when they will be screened in their own right. 
 
The Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 has been considered in the 
development of these schemes. These initiatives support our Corporate Plan’s Well-being 
Objectives, will contribute towards the seven national wellbeing goals, applying the five ways of 
working and meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs. 
 
These schemes will be highly visible to the public and are considered to pose a low risk to the 
Council. The cumulative impact of these schemes should be a positive one for people living 
along or near the proposed schemes. They will improve public transport for communities and 
make more sustainable forms of travel more attractive, safe and accessible. 
 
Each scheme will be subject to its own IIA process.  
   

 Full IIA to be completed  
 

 Do not complete IIA – please ensure you have provided the relevant information above to support this 
 outcome   

Screening completed by: 

Name: Katie Watkins  

Job title: Transport Officer  

Date: 16 November 2023 
 

Approval by Head of Service: 

Name: Stuart Davies  

Position: Head of Service, Highways & Transportation 

Date: …………. 

 
Page 148


	Agenda
	3. Cofnodion.
	7. Ymchwiliad Craffu Ymddygiad Gwrthgymdeithasol.
	07 - ASB Scrutiny Inquiry Append

	8. Monitro Refeniw a'r Gyllideb Gyfalaf - Chwarter 2il 2023/24.
	9. Adroddiad Monitro Perfformiad ar gyfer Chwarter 2 2023/24.
	09 Q2 2023-24 - Appendix A
	09 Appendix B - IIA screening form

	10. Penodiadau Llywodraethwyr yr Awdurdod  Lleol.
	10 - Appendix A

	11. Diwygiad y Consortiwm Addysg Rhanbarthol i'r Cytundeb Cyfreithiol ar bleidleisio o fewn y Cyd-bwyllgor.
	11 Appendix A
	11 Appendix B

	12. Rheol 7 y Weithdrefn Ariannol - y Gronfa Trafnidiaeth Leol BAGC a Dyraniad Craidd Bysus Rhanbarthol 2023/24 a 2024/25.
	12 SBWW Append A


